Iranian Immigrant Women's Experiences of Domestic Violence: An Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis

Nahid Karamali

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the University of the West of England, Bristol, for the degree of Professional Doctorate in Counselling Psychology

Faculty of Health and Social Sciences,

University of the West of England, Bristol

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my gratitude to Dr Johanna Spiers, who has supported me on this long journey and who has generously shared her expertise and wisdom; this research would not have been completed without her support. I would also like to thank my supervisors, Dr Victoria Clarke and Dr Zoe Thomas, as well as my examiner Dr Toni Dicaccavo, for their valuable input and emotional support. I am extremely grateful to the participants who openly talked about their experiences and made it possible for me to complete this study. Finally, I would like to thank my family, especially my daughter Ellie, for their encouragement and support throughout this research.

Abstract

Domestic violence is a major social health problem. Intimate partner violence is one of the most common forms of violence against women worldwide. Domestic violence against groups of immigrant women in heterosexual relationships has been explored; however, there is limited research about female Iranian immigrant survivors of domestic violence or their experiences of counselling services in the UK. This qualitative study was conducted to gain an in-depth understanding of Iranian immigrant women's experiences of domestic violence within their heterosexual relationships. These women's perceptions, as well as their experiences of counselling and support services in the UK, were explored. A purposeful sample of six Iranian immigrant women was selected and data was gathered via semistructured face-to-face interviews. Interviews were analysed using interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA). Five themes were extracted from the data: You can be abused in different ways; Impact of violence on women: hopeless and helpless; Impact of domestic violence on women's relationships: judged and guilty; the Cultural experience of being a female victim of domestic violence; and Using the legal system and counselling services before and after immigration. It was found that the women experienced physical, psychological, emotional, sexual and financial violence. They detailed a growing sense of confidence in their ability to make important life decisions as well as a change in their perspectives on gender roles. Participants also perceived stigma around counselling due to their culture. Therapy was helpful on some levels, but deeply unhelpful on others, as participants felt they were being blamed or pathologised for cultural reasons. Group therapy was found to be more helpful as it was based on psychoeducation and exploring healthy relationships, which made participants feel believed and accepted. Participants recommended group therapy with appropriate Iranian cultural knowledge as potentially helpful for this population of women.

CONTENTS

Acknowledgements	2
Abstract	3
Introduction	5
Part 1: Literature Review	7
Part 2: Overview of the method	34
Part 3: Results	57
Part4:Discussion.	119
References	148
Appendices	206
Appendix A: Summary of thesis	207
Appendix B: Interview schedule	230
Appendix C: Participant information sheet	232
Appendix D: Consent form	237
Appendix E: Demographic information sheet	238
Appendix F: Master table of themes	240
Appendix G: Example of theme development	241

Iranian Immigrant Women's Experiences of Domestic Violence: An Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis

Introduction

In this thesis, the findings of a qualitative phenomenological analysis of the domestic violence experiences of Iranian immigrant women living in the UK are reported. Domestic violence against women is a major social issue and violation of women's human rights (Kaur & Garg, 2008; World Health Organization [WHO], 2013). It is also a major risk factor for mental health problems, with potentially far-reaching consequences for women's psychological and emotional well-being (Krantaz & Garcia-Moreno, 2005; WHO, 2013). Levendosky and Graham-Bermann (2001) argued that "battered women experience increased levels of depression, lower self-esteem, and higher levels of psychological distress when compared with nonbattered women" (pp. 171-172). Likewise, Sagar and Hans (2018) acknowledge that domestic violence is associated with depression and suicidal thoughts. Domestic violence can affect women of all ages, ethnic backgrounds, and socioeconomic statuses (WHO, 2010). However, women with lower socioeconomic statuses and poor educational backgrounds are more likely to become victims of domestic violence (Rasoulian et al., 2014).

According to Lehmer and Allen (2009), "Research on domestic violence emerged in the United States during the early 1970s in the context of the civil rights, anti-war, Black liberation, and feminist movements" (p. 1). Proponents of the feminist movement considered violence against women as a personal, social, and political phenomenon (Bograd, 1988; Schechter, 1982), positioning it within the context of a gender hierarchy which privileges men's interests over women's (Schneider, 2008). As with much early feminist work, domestic violence researchers have often failed to consider intersections of race and gender

(Sokoloff & Dupont, 2005). Hall (2014, 2015) argued that the "Feminist movement advocacy for battered women in the 1970s and 1980s was dominated by white middle and upper-class women and tended to focus on patriarchy as the root and often the sole cause of violence against women" (p. 1). However, feminists of colour, including Black feminists, have argued that global structures of economic and social inequality are also important factors in domestic violence against women (Hall, 2014, 2015).

Until recently, domestic violence researchers have not focused on immigrant women. This is an important omission as it has been found immigrant women are particularly vulnerable to domestic violence (Raj & Silverman, 2002). Indeed, there is limited research concerning the health of immigrant women in general (Delara, 2016; Diaz et al., 2017; Dobash, Dobash, Wilson, & Daly, 1992; Raj & Silverman, 2002) and of Iranian immigrant women in particular (Dastigerdi, Oslan, & Ogilvie, 2012; Shisheghar, Gholizadeh, DiGiacomo, & Davidson, 2015). Considering that immigrant women are particularly vulnerable to domestic violence, there is a need to focus on selected populations (Aroian, 2001). Developing culturally appropriate, effective interventions requires a detailed understanding of the dynamics of cultural norms and immigration status, as well as the phenomenon of domestic violence (Alvarez, Lameiras-Fernandez, Holliday, Sabri, & Campbell, 2018). The present study is important as it can determine specific health issues related to domestic violence against Iranian immigrant women in the UK. Additionally, Iranian immigrant women's experiences of interventions can help determine effective Iranian-specific-interventions to meet the unique needs of this population.

Part 1: Literature Review

In the following literature review, I will start by defining domestic violence. I will then provide a general overview of the prevalence and effects of domestic violence against women. A specific discussion of the literature on immigrant women will be followed by a discussion of the literature on Iranian immigrant women's experiences of domestic violence. Finally, I will outline the aims of the study and consider the relevance of this research to counselling psychology.

1.1. Defining domestic violence

There is no shared definition of domestic violence within feminism, amongst practitioners and policymakers, or in research (Burzawa & Buzawa, 2003; Harne & Radford, 2008). However, the use of a standard, consistent definition is a crucial factor in ensuring that data is collected systematically; this improves the compatibility of health-related events reported from different sources of data, such as comparison between geographic areas or over time (Karakurt, Whiting, Van Esch, Bolen, & Calabrese, 2016). A clear and widely used definition of domestic violence would also shape our responses to this phenomenon (Barnish, 2004). In other words, a community response to domestic violence against women would be shaped by an understanding of whether it is conceptualised as an intra-family confliction or a criminal violation of rights (Visaria, Mitra, Poonacha, & Punday, 1999). Despite these advantages, finding a commonly accepted definition for domestic violence has proven challenging (Hinton, 2020; Plichta, 2004). Therefore, the precise definition of domestic violence remains elusive, since some cultural and social norms accept violence, whilst others condemn it (Oxtoby, 2012). Subsequently, explanations for causes and reliable estimates of national prevalences of domestic violence against women are difficult to confirm (Krohn, Lizotte, & Hall, 2009). The lack of a generally accepted definition of domestic violence has affected this review of the international (including Iranian) and national (UK) literature (Ely

& Wodarksi, 2004). According to Ely and Wodarksi, "most national and international researchers rely on a composite drawn from a variety of sources including clinical samples and official statistics generated from private and government agencies" (2004, p. 85).

Consequently, no single source of information documenting the true prevalence of domestic violence, or types of violence, can be found when reviewing literature conducted in different culture and countries (Rada, 2014). According to Ruiz-Pérez, Plazaola-Castaño, and Vives-Cases (2007), "from a research point of view, attempts have been made to solve this problem by focusing on measuring behaviour and specific acts, and their effects on women's physical, sexual and emotional wellbeing" (p. 27). In the current research, an attempt was made to address the elusive, varying definition of domestic violence by obtaining rich and comprehensive data about Iranian immigrant women's narratives, without defining the phenomenon.

The British Home Office (2013) stated that: "domestic violence is any incident or pattern of incidents of controlling, coercive or threatening behaviour, violence or abuse between those aged 16 or above, who are, or have been, intimate partners or family members, regardless of gender and sexuality" (p. 2). This can be considered an inclusive definition, as it includes physical violence and also "highlight[s] the importance of recognising coercive control as a complex pattern of overlapping and repeated abuse perpetrated within a context of power and control" (Home Office, 2013, p. 2). According to the Home Office (2013), "Coercive behaviour is an act or a pattern of acts of assault, threats, humiliation and intimidation or other abuse that is used to harm, punish, or frighten their victims" (p. 2). Additionally, "The definition of coercive control recognises that patterns of behaviour and separate instances of control can add up to violence – including instances of intimidation, isolation, depriving victims of their financial independence and regulating their everyday behaviour" (Home Office, 2012, p. 1).

The government definition of domestic violence includes acts in both private and public life (Jamal, 2017). Moreover, multiple possibilities are acknowledged (such as an abused woman being in a relationship with a husband or boyfriend) and all acts which constitute violence are included (Hogan, 2016). Hence, this definition includes Female Genital Mutilation (FGM), forced marriage, and 'honour-based' violence (Home Office, 2013). Such behaviours are recognised as criminal offences as they violate an individual's human rights (Home Office, 2015). Importantly, the government definition illustrates that this legislation is not specific to men or women, and also recognises domestic violence in same-sex relationships (Home Office, 2015).

The terms 'domestic violence' and 'intimate partner violence' are used interchangeably to describe abusive behaviour from one person towards another within a relationship (LIoyd, 2018). However, the term domestic violence is used in many countries since it not only refers to partner violence but also includes violence from another member of a household (WHO, 2012). Given that there is a governmental definition of domestic violence, I adopt this term predominately in this literature review.

1.2. Prevalence of domestic violence against women

Since the 1970s, feminists have successfully changed the perception of domestic violence from something private or a family issue to a widespread public concern (Harne & Radford, 2008). Domestic violence against women is now globally recognised as a serious public health problem (Dobash & Dobash, 2004; Hame & Rodford, 2008; Kaur & Garg, 2008; Kishor & Johnson, 2004; Klugman, 2017; WHO, 2002).

Since 1970, feminists activists, researchers, policymakers, and practitioners have attempted to determine the prevalence of domestic violence against women (Harne & Radford, 2008). One complicating factor is the different perceptions of what constitutes domestic violence, with cultural norms playing a role in individual understandings (WHO,

2005). Some women may not be aware that what is happening to them is domestic violence (Rakovec-Felser, 2014; Wally & Allen, 2004). Cultural and social norms have a direct impact on individual behaviour, including tolerating violence as a normal method of resolving conflicts (WHO, 2009).

Scholars have attempted to determine the prevalence of domestic violence against women. George et al. (2016) conducted a cross-sectional study on the prevalence of domestic violence among 310 married women in India. They found that 60% of participants reported some form of domestic violence, 51.3% reported psychological violence, 40% reported physical violence, and 13.5% reported sexual violence. Alangea et al. (2018) examined the prevalence of domestic violence among 2000 participants in Ghana, utilising a populationbased survey. They found that 34% of participants had experienced domestic violence in the past year, while 21% reported physical or sexual violence. Some 7.4% reported economic abuse (such as being denied access to financial resources) and 24.6% reported emotional abuse in the past year. Yohannes et al. (2019) surveyed 299 pregnant women in Ethiopia. They found that physical violence was the most common form of abuse (44%), followed by psychological (39.1%) and sexual (23.7%) violence. Additionally, LaBore, Ahmed, Rizwan-Ur-Rashid, and Ahmed (2019) examined the prevalence of domestic violence against women in Pakistan. They examined data from the 2012-2013 Demographic and Health Survey, which included a large sample of Pakistani women. Some 20% of women reported physical violence and 28% emotional violence from their male partner.

Authors of a WHO (2012) multi-country study collected data on domestic violence from more than 24,000 women in Bangladesh, Brazil, Ethiopia, Japan, Peru, Namibia, Samoa, Serbia and Montenegro, Thailand and Tanzania. Between four and 75% of women reported experiencing some kind of domestic violence from their male partners, while between six and 59% of women experienced sexual violence from a male partner. Such

cross-sectional variability suggests that cultural norms may influence how women understand domestic violence. For example, in patriarchal societies such as Pakistan (Chauhan, 2014), traditional beliefs place men in control and women in submissive, vulnerable positions (Haj-Yahia, 2005; Sultana, 2011). A central component of patriarchal societies is that men have a right to exercise their power to 'discipline' women (WHO, 2009). Such a perspective has been linked to the legitimisation of violence against women (Do, Weiss, & Pollack, 2013; Sultana, 2011). Additionally, women's beliefs that they are responsible for keeping the family together, that divorce is shameful, and that reporting domestic violence is disrespectful as it brings shame to their communities (WHO, 2009) may result in less acknowledgement of domestic violence from male partners. Therefore, cultural and social norms have a direct effect on findings about the prevalence of domestic violence against women (Brown, 2004; Heise & Fulu, 2014).

Additionally, according to authors of population-based studies conducted in the USA and Canada (e.g. Daoud et al., 2012; Peek-Asa et al., 2005; Stockman, Hayashi, & Campbell, 2015), the lifetime prevalence of domestic violence against women is between 25-30%. In a systematic review, WHO (2013) reported that "intimate partner violence [...] is a global public health problem of epidemic proportion" (p. 5). Despite this, there is a consistent agreement that domestic violence against women is under-reported (WHO, 2005), yet no country can claim to be free of it (Berry, 2000; Daoud et al., 2012; Khan, 2000).

1.2.1. The prevalence of domestic violence in the UK

Domestic violence against women remains one of the most serious criminal justice problems in the UK (Skinner, Hester, & Malos, 2013). Despite advanced awareness, domestic violence is a key factor that prevents women from engaging as full and equal citizens in UK society (Fahmy & Williamson, 2018; Sen & Kelly, 2007). Domestic violence may have adverse physical and psychological effects (which will be discussed in more detail

at the later stage) on abused women and may decrease their ability to work; they may take more sick leave, or even leave employment (Trade Union Congress [TUC], 2014).

Osborne, Lau, and Britton (2012) have argued that previous and current self-reporting figures from the Crime Survey for England and Wales (previously called the British Crime Survey) demonstrate that domestic violence is one of the most common crimes in the UK. The Crime Survey for England and Wales (CSEW), which is conducted by Kantar Public on behalf of the Office for National Statistics (ONS, 2015), has been used to measure crime since 1982. Participants are invited to complete a computerised self-report about the crimes they have experienced in the previous year (Povey, Coleman, Kaiza, Hoare, & Jansson, 2008). According to the latest CSEW survey, 26.3% of women aged 16-59 have experienced domestic violence, including partner abuse, family abuse, stalking, and sexual assault (ONS, 2018). Additionally, 20% of women had experienced some type of sexual assault since the age of 16, which is equivalent to an estimated 3.4 million victims (ONS, 2017).

Walby (2005) argued that there is a disadvantage to population surveys. She stated that CSEW data can never be representative of all women who have experienced domestic violence as they only include those individuals who are permanent residents in a household (Walby, 2005). Therefore, CSEW is unlikely to include hard-to-reach populations such as refugees or homeless people (Walby et al., 2016). Thus, CSEW findings tend to underrepresent the prevalence of domestic violence against women in the UK.

Additionally, several scholars have attempted to examine the frequency of domestic violence against women within health care services in the UK. For example, Richardson et al. (2002) used a cross-sectional design to explore the prevalence of domestic violence among women attending general practice surgeries in Hackney. They found that 41% of women had experienced physical violence from a male partner. Boyle and Todd (2003) investigated the rate of domestic violence against women in a UK emergency department. The lifetime

prevalence of domestic violence against women from a male partner was 22.4%. In a more recent study, Dhariawan, Tariq, Scourse, and Coyne (2013) examined the rate of domestic violence in women living with HIV who were attending an inner-city UK clinic. Some 52% of participants reported having experienced domestic violence, including physical, sexual and emotional violence, at some point in their lifetime.

1.2.2. The prevalence of domestic violence in Iran

There is no reliable data about domestic violence against women in Iran as Iranian women tend not to go to legal authorities for many reasons, including fear of being deserted by their family or separated from their children (Hajinsari, Gheshlagh, Syehmiri, Moafi, & Farajzadeh, 2016). Women's unwillingness to report incidents of violence is reinforced by the fact that domestic violence against women is considered a private issue which is shameful to discuss in public. Therefore, abused Iranian women are encouraged by relatives (Pournaghash-Tehrani, 2010) to manage incidents of violence within the family (Ahmadi, Soleimani, Jalali, & Yousefnezhad, 2016).

Crucially, in Iran, the prevalence of physical and psychological violence against women by their male partner is estimated to be high (Rasoulian et al., 2017). Zarei, Rasolabadi, Gharibi, and Seidi (2017) examined the prevalence of domestic violence against married women, using data gathered in 2015 from health centres in Sanandaj. The study included 700 married women who had been referred to five different health centres. The authors found that all the women in the study had been subjected to violence at least once. A total of 9.6% had been subjected to physical violence, 42.2% to verbal and psychological violence, 52.4% to sexual violence and 53.4% to economic violence. Similarly, substantial studies carried out in Iran indicate a high level of domestic violence against women by their male partners (Jahromi, Jamali, Koshkaki, & Javadpour, 2016; Rasoulian et al., 2014; Vameghi, Feizzadeh, Mirabzadeh, & Feizzadeh, 2010).

In Iran, most research conducted on women's experiences of domestic violence is limited to data from counselling centres and forensic evidence (Nasrabadi, Abbasi, & Mehrdad, 2015). For example, Sasani, Taherkhani, Naji, and Salehi (2015) examined Iranian women's experience of domestic violence by interviewing 23 Iranian women aged between 17 and 58. They found that emotional violence – mostly being humiliated by their male partner – was more prominent than physical violence. Additionally, Taherkhani, Negharandeh, Simbr, and Ahmadi (2014) revealed that emotional violence was the most common type of violence towards abused women in Iran. This study included 11 married women selected from two health centres in Tehran who were between 22 and 72 years old. The authors acknowledged that further research would be beneficial to health care professionals, helping them to recognise, address, and uncover emotional abuse against women (Sasani et al., 2015).

Recently, Afkhamzadeh, Azadi, Ziaeei, and Mohamadi (2019) also examined the prevalence of domestic violence against women and its related factors in Sanandaj, west of Iran. In this cross-sectional study from 2016, the sample consisted of 360 women who had self-referred to two educational hospitals in Sanandaj. The prevalence of "any type of violence" in the past year was 71%, while the prevalence of emotional, sexual, and physical violence was 62.2%, 48.7%, and 49.9% respectively. This prevalence is both high and alarming. Moazen, Salehi, Soroush, Vardanjani, and Zarrinhaghighi (2019) carried out a population-based survey from February 1st to May 30th, 2018 in Shiraz, Iran. In this study, recently separated or divorced as well as currently married women who had visited healthcare centres were interviewed. The authors used the World Health Organization (WHO) standard domestic violence questionnaire to measure domestic violence. The overall prevalence of mental, physical, and sexual domestic violence was 54.5%, 52%, 18.2%, and 14% respectively. It was found that more than half of the married women in southwestern Iran

were experiencing domestic violence, with mental and psychological violence as the most common types.

A comparison of Afkhamzadeh et al. (2019) and Moazen et al.'s (2019) studies illustrates that both emotional and psychological violence have been found to be the most prevalent types of domestic violence. Other researchers have also reported that emotional and psychological violence were the most common among Iranian women (e.g. Nagizadeh, Mirghafourvand, & Mohammadirad, 2021; Nasrabadi et al., 2015; Taherkhani et al., 2014). When asking why more cases of emotional violence are reported by Iranian women in these studies, it is important to consider Iranian culture. Iranian women are expected to follow the norm; keeping their family's honour and not disclosing any problems to outsiders (Naghavi, Amani, Bagheri, & De Mol, 2019). This can become more complicated when the problem is relevant to sexual issues, as talking about sex is taboo within Iranian culture (Amini & McCormack, 2020; Naghavi et al., 2019). Hence, as Afkhamzadeh et al. (2019) and Moazen et al. (2019) indicate, it could be that Iranian women find it easier to report emotional violence than sexual violence. This may explain why the prevalence of emotional violence is higher than sexual violence in both studies.

Consistent with the above studies, Naghizadeh, Mirghfourvand, and Mohammadirad (2021) examined the prevalence of domestic violence against pregnant women during the Covid-19 pandemic. Some 250 pregnant women who had attended an obstetrics clinic of 29-Bahman Hospital, Tabriz city completed the WHO standard questionnaire about domestic violence. The authors found that 35.2% of women had experienced domestic violence. The most common violence reported was emotional (32.8%), followed by sexual (12.4%), and physical (4.8%). This demonstrates that pregnancy does not prevent domestic violence against women. Further, it seems that pregnant women experienced less physical violence than sexual violence, which is inconsistent with the findings mentioned above (Afkhamzadeh

et al., 2019; Moazen et al., 2019). This suggests that women are less likely to experience physical violence during pregnancy. However, there is conflicting evidence regarding whether physical violence increases or decreases during pregnancy (WHO, 2011).

Naghizadeh et al. (2021) also highlighted the women's low quality of life during the Covid-19 pandemic. Similarly, Malathesh, Das, and Chatterjee (2020) reported that acts of violence against women have increased globally during the lockdown to prevent the transmission of the virus. This implies that incidences of violence against women in Iran may also have increased during this period (Pirnia, Pirnia, & Pitnia, 2020), emphasising the importance of further research to highlight the prevalence of violence against women in the country.

1.2.3. Prevalence of domestic violence in immigrant communities in the West

There is no evidence to confirm that the prevalence of domestic violence against immigrant women is higher than for non-immigrant women in a host country (Goncalves & Matos, 2016; Menjivar & Salcido, 2002). However, it is likely that incidences of domestic violence amongst immigrant women are under-reported (Amudo-Doruntes & Arenas-Arroyo, 2019). Immigrant women might perceive stigma around talking about violence or may be afraid of bringing shame to the family and community by going against societal norms (Daoud et al., 2012). Femi-Ajao, Kendal, and Lovell (2018) examined Nigerian women's experiences of domestic violence by interviewing 16 such women resident in the UK. These women preferred to seek help by sharing their experiences with their ethnic community, including leaders and faith-based organisations. Similarly, Zakar, Zakar, Faist, and Kraemer (2012) demonstrated that abused immigrant women seek support from their ethnic community or family members but avoid obtaining support from formal care-providing organisations. Given that cultural norms contribute to abused immigrant women's decisions to avoid using legal care-providing organisations, immigrant women are considered

particularly vulnerable to domestic violence (Goncalves & Matos, 2016; Kwong, 2002; Menjivar & Salido, 2012; Zakar et al., 2012).

Interest in studying domestic violence among immigrant women has increased (Goncalves & Matos, 2016; Hurwitz, Gupta, Liu, Silverman, & Raj, 2006). However, current information on the prevalence of domestic violence against immigrant women is far from conclusive (Alvarez, Larmeiras-Frenandez, Holiday, Sabri, & Campbell, 2018; Menjivar & Salcid, 2002). In practice, few scholars have examined the prevalence of domestic violence against immigrant women (Lacey & Mouzon, 2016). The most recent study was conducted by Chang, Shen, and Takeuchi (2009). They found that Asian American women living in the US experienced less domestic violence than women from the general US population. There are limited population-based studies on the prevalence of domestic violence against women from other immigrant communities (Sabri, Simonet, & Campbell, 2018), including Iranian immigrant women in the UK. The present study is an attempt to fill this gap by exploring Iranian immigrant women's experiences and sense-making about domestic violence in the UK.

I will now consider the literature on the physical and psychological effects of domestic violence.

1.3. Effects of domestic violence on women

Domestic violence has a profound impact on the physical, psychological, and emotional well-being of women (Campbell, 2002). Plichta (2004) noted that "The relationship of domestic violence to physical health is complex" (p. 1300). The health consequences of physical violence can be immediate and acute (such as bruises, burns and bites), long term and more serious (such as disability) or fatal (WHO, 2012). The adverse effects of domestic violence on women's physical health can persist long after the violence has stopped (Dillon, Hussain, Loxton, & Rahman, 2013; WHO, 2012). Such ailments are

difficult to diagnose as they have no medical cause (Coronel & Silva, 2018; WHO, 2012). These are recognised as 'functional disorders' or 'stress-related conditions' (WHO, 2012, p. 5) and include various chronic pain syndromes, exacerbation of asthma, irritable bowel syndrome, and gastrointestinal symptoms (Alandor, Heimer, Svardsudd, Agreus, 2008; Dilon et al., 2012; Plichta, 2004, WHO, 2012). Additionally, there is the possibility of traumatic brain injuries. The level of risk for such injury is related to the severity of the violence as well as the length of time women are exposed to it (Jackson, Philip, Nuttall, & Diller, 2002; Monahan & O'Leary, 1999). Ruiz-Perez, Plazaola-Castano, and Río-Lozano (2007) reported that women who have experienced domestic violence might use health services more frequently than nonbattered women as they may develop a chronic disease, such as digestion problems. Additionally, these women are likely to spend more days in bed as a result of violence (Ruiz-Perez, Plazaola-Castano, & Río-Lozano, 2007).

Women who experience physical abuse are also likely to experience psychological abuse (O'Leary, 1999; Parcerelli, West, Binienda, & Cogan, 2005). These women are also more likely to suffer from fear and anxiety, depression, psychosis, mood disorders, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), substance misuse, sleep disturbances, social dysfunctional behaviour, suicidal thoughts, and low self-esteem (Brewer, Roy, & Smith, 2010; Campbell, 2002; Cascardi, Langhinrichsen, & Vivian, 1992; Follingstad, Wright, Lloyd, & Sebastian, 1991; Karakurt, Smith, & Whiting, 2014). According to Campbell (2002), women with PTSD might use drugs or alcohol to calm or cope with their symptoms, which include intrusion, avoidance, and hyperarousal. Additionally, domestic violence can also have medium- to long-term negative psychological impacts on abused women (Flury, Ngbery, & Riecher-Rosslers, 2010). Indeed, the adverse psychological impact on abused women may make them prone to repeat an abusive relationship and, therefore, repeat victimisation, which can further put them

at risk of serious psychological health problems such as suicidal behaviour (Howard, Trevillion, & Agnew-Davies, 2010).

Feelings of shame (Hutchins & Sinah, 2013) combined with low self-esteem and a sense of inadequacy and degradation (Orzek, Rokach, & Chin, 2009) may leave abused women at risk of devaluating their identity (Hague, Mullender, & Aris, 2003). Women who experience domestic violence are likely to experience self-doubt (Madhani et al., 2015). These women are also prone to feeling confused, numb, and passive, as well as experiencing a loss of dignity and identity and a loss of trust in others (Campbell, & Halstead, 1997). Women's sense of self can be diminished or destroyed within an abusive relationship (Farrel, 1996; Landenburger, 1989; Loring, 1994; Moss, Pitula & Rakovec-Feler, 2014). Thus, abused women might view themselves as unintelligent individuals who are unworthy of love, potentially leading them to live in isolation and have difficulty trusting other men (Ansara & Hindin, 2011).

I will now review existing studies to explore the specific experiences of immigrant women experiencing domestic violence.

1.4. Immigrant women's experiences of domestic violence

Domestic violence against immigrant women has become a key research concern over the past decade (Gennari, Giuliani, & Accordin, 2017; Raj & Silverman, 2002, 2007; Reina, Maldonado, & Loham, 2014). Many researchers have focused on the difficulties in addressing domestic violence against women in various racial and ethnic groups, rather than researching the experiences of these women directly (Ahmed, Abdelrahman, Adeh, AI-Omer, & Mohamed, 2016; Chang et al., 2010; Chaze & Medhekar, 2017; Menjivar & Salcido, 2002). Despite this, some phenomenological scholars have explored the direct experiences of abused immigrant women. Souto et al. (2016) examined experiences of domestic violence among 10 immigrant Portuguese-speaking women living in Greater

Toronto. They found that participants suffered physical injuries, sexual abuse, verbal abuse, and emotional abuse, including blaming and humiliation. Most of these participants had suffered in silence in the hope of keeping the family together and meeting cultural expectations.

Similarly, Somasekhar (2016) used thematic analysis to examine Indian immigrant women's experiences of domestic violence in New Zealand. Data were collected in two phases. The first involved interviews with key informants (such as health professionals) in India and New Zealand. The second involved four case studies of Indian Immigrant women who were originally from Punjab and who had experienced domestic violence. Findings were consistent with Souto et al. (2016), with patriarchal beliefs and male partners' sense of entitlement positioned as the main reasons why Indian immigrant women experienced physical, emotional, and economic violence. Participants felt lonely; their partners isolated them to control them. Overall, it was concluded that Indian immigrant women experience different challenges to women from their host country due to cultural pressures on them to act as a 'good wife' (that is, following gender-role norms and family expectations) and keep the family together. Thus, Indian immigrant women tolerate violence to avoid the feeling of bringing shame to their family and being rejected by their community. This study provided an intense, specific example of a phenomenon within a particular context (Krusenvik, 2016). Additionally, other phenomenological authors have indicated that immigrant women experience physical, sexual, economic, and psychological violence (Ahmadzai, 2014; Alvarez & Fedock, 2018; Kyriakakis, Dawson, & Edmond, 2012).

Migration may empower women (Ghosh, 2009; Rohwerder, 2016), allowing them to become members of a new society (Delara, 2016), and develop new selves (Eraz, Adelman & Gregory, 2009; Paloma, Garcia, Ramirez, & de la Mata, 2010). Ahmad, Raj, Detrovic, Erickson, and Stewart (2013) examined potential changes in sense of self for 11 abused South

Asian immigrant women following a move to Canada. All participants discussed positive changes in their psychological state; they talked about developing self-actualisation, self-esteem, and confidence as well as a positive future outlook. In particular, women stated that being in Canada helped them increase awareness of their potential abilities, autonomy and freedom. Some developed a sense of belonging to Canadian society.

Similarly, Alvarez, Lameiras-Fernandez, Holiday, Sabri, and Campbell (2018) explored 30 Latina and Caribbean immigrant women's experiences of domestic violence in the United States. They found that some participants experienced more violence from their male partners after migration. However, participants also developed self-esteem and confidence after being exposed to opportunities in the US.

I will now review Iranian immigrant women's experiences of domestic violence.

1.5. Iranian context

Iran is a non-Arabic country in the Middle East (Shirpak, Rafaie, Maticka-Tyndale, & Chinichian, 2007) which is also known as Persia or the Islamic Republic of Iran (Hovespian-Bearce, 2015). In 1979, the Islamic Revolution replaced the Shah's regime (Talattof, 2004), leading to considerable social and political changes (Winn, 2016). The constitution in Iran acknowledges equality for men and women (Tizro, 2011). However, the UK Home Office (2018) has acknowledged that the Iranian government does not enforce this. Instead, Iran's law is based on Islamic Sharia law, which treats men and women differently (p. 5). Hence, Iran can be considered a male-dominant society (Mohammadi, 2007) in which the laws do not represent or protect women (Shojaei, Samsu, & Asayeseh, 2010).

Iranian laws give women subordinate status to men (Home Office, 2018), thus privileging men (Tucker, 2008). Such laws restrict and control women in many aspects of their lives, including educational choices and professional opportunities (Afshar, 2005; Beck, 1998; Esfandiari, 1997; Moghissi, 2016), as well as reinforcing male control over women in

their family (Moghissi, 2016). These laws require women to wear dark, concealing uniforms known as the hijab (Hamzehei, 2014) and to control many of their social activities in areas such as sport (Mohammadi, 2007). These restrictions are reinforced by adding discriminatory features to criminal codes and failing to plan supportive laws to protect women, including domestic violence victims (Rahmdel, 2018; Rahpaymalizehee, Fallahi, & Kojouri, 2015).

According to Sadeghi and Isari (2013), there are prevailing cultural beliefs in Iran that emphasise preserving marriage; there is a dominant cultural belief that divorce is against children's welfare. Therefore, individuals, particularly women, who do not follow these beliefs damage their family's reputation as well as their own (Arianfar, Zamanshoar, Rasouli, & Yusefzadeh, 2020). In Iran, women are reluctant to report violence because of the risk of judgment around divorce; thus, a sense of shame about divorce is persistent among Iranian women (Nikparvar, Stith, Myers-Bowman, Akbarzadeh, & Daneshpour, 2017).

Domestic violence against women threatens women's lives; therefore, prevention should be high on the agenda of constitutional law, civil law, and national policies (Nasrabadi, Abbasi, & Mehrdad, 2015). However, Rahpaymaelizehee et al. (2015) argued that "there is no clear law concerning the prevention of violence against women in Iran; the authorities fail to uphold the status of women in society" (p. 327).

1.6. Socio-political, legal and historical aspects of Iranian culture

An analysis of the available research on Iranian women's political, social, and economical positions throughout history can increase our understanding of women's current position in Iran. According to Shojaei, Samsu, & Asayesh (2010), until 1906, the Iranian government was considered monarchic, meaning that both men and women had little chance to make policy or participate in political decisions. In this period, Iranian women's activities and presence in the political and social domains were insignificant (Higgins, 1985; Shojaei et al., 2010). During the Qajar period, women were denied professions; having children and

undertaking household tasks were considered their primary tasks (Sedghi, 2007). However, education was thought to be the core of elite women's access to power (Mottaghi, 2015). During this period, female activists started to form organisations criticising the dominant patriarchal culture and the denial of women's right to vote (Mahdi, 2001, 2004). The emphasis on women's right to education continued in 1925 when Reza Khan (the first Pahlavi Era) came into power (Shojaei et al., 2010). In the name of modernisation, Khan abolished veils and encouraged women to wear Western dresses and attend classes at the University of Tehran (Shirazi, 2019).

Although women now had more freedom to attend public places and have a profession, their political rights, such as voting, were still denied (Tafreshi, 2010). This continued until 1963, in the Mohammad Reza Pahlavi Era, when women were allowed to vote, be educated at a higher level, study abroad, and work in a civil area, such as the police force (Shojaei et al., 2010; Tamer, 2010). Importantly, a change in family protection law meant that the family court had the power to grant divorces and safeguard girls by raising the age of marriage to 18 (Bakhshizadeh, 2018). Women's opportunities for studying abroad and undertaking professions in nursing and teaching were enhanced with government funding (Paidar, 1997). Additionally, "the state continued to increase the number of women in executive positions, enhance their opportunities in the public arena, and appoint women as judges – a practice condemned by Shia theologians" (Mahdi, 2001, 2004, p. 443).

However, during this time, various women's organisations were merged by the government, meaning they had full control of women's activities (Sansarian, 1982). While women had more social freedom, they continued to be limited in many areas (Mahdi, 2001, 2004), such as their choice of dress and education (Mottaghi, 2015). Iranian women's participation in all social activities, including politics, was influenced by a male-dominated culture (Moinfar, 2011). Women who were appointed to managerial positions had no

opportunity to make independent decisions such as important political decisions (Langford, 2018). Mahdi (2001, 2004) pointed out that "opposition to male decisions was not tolerated, especially on political issues" (p.433). In the 1970s, the Islamic movement became popular among Iranian people, claiming that the political, social, and economical aspects of Pahlavi's government were profoundly influenced by America. Proponents of this movement suggested that constructing a government based on Islam was the only way for Iran to move towards cultural independence (Agtaie, 2015, 2017; Sadeghi, 2007).

In 1979, after the establishment of the Sharie-based law of the Islamic republic, Iranian women's political and social rights were once again lost due to dramatic changes in the criminal system (Mahmoudi, 2019). Believing that the only way to achieve cultural independence was by redefining gender relations and controlling women's sexuality, the republic of Iran started to construct an Islamic model of modernity (Aghtaie, 2015, 2017). This had serious consequences for Iranian women's political, social, and private lives. Supreme leader Ayatollah Khomeini dismissed the Family Protection Law of 1967, intending to construct new laws about gender and sexuality (Halper, 2007). As a result, any laws and policies in both the public and domestic domains came under the direct control of the clerics, who furthered the extent of gender discrimination in favour of men (Tohidi, 2016). Female and male activists argued that some Iranian laws encouraged domestic violence towards women, preventing them from leaving abusive relationships (Barlow & Akbarzadeh, 2008). For example, some feminists argued that certain articles in the civil code, such as article 1105, in which the husband is designated the head of the household, encourage women to believe they are inferior to men and unable to make independent decisions (Aghtaie, 2015, 2017). Additionally, Tizro (2013) argues that certain interpretations of verses in the Quran (the central religious text of Islam), such as Surah 24, verse 33, which is commonly used in marriage ceremonies and contracts, are contributing factors to violence against women.

Now, 40 years into the Islamic Republic of Iran, there is no law to acknowledge and criminalise domestic violence against women in the country (Rahpaymaelizehee et al., 2015). However, "women in Iran have managed to maintain a foothold in the realms of politics, the media, education, and public life at large. Over the past three decades the Iranian parliament (Majlis) has consistently included some women members" (Barlow & Akbarzadeh, 2008, p. 23).

Despite many economic and social advances (such as attending university, although women cannot study certain subjects such as social science or engineering), women continue to be discriminated against in the various aspects of the legal system, including criminal responsibility, and are excluded from serving in many political and government positions (Casefire Centre for Civilian Rights, 2019). This implies that "women's status and rights in contemporary Iran, and thereby the trajectory of Iranian women's activism and feminist movements, seem paradoxical and complicated" (Tohidi, 2016, p. 1). For example, although women have achieved good standards in research and education, they have not progressed in other areas such as employment, their position in the family as a wife, or political positions (Janghorban, Taghipour, Roudsari, & Abbasi, 2014; Tohidi, 2016). Additionally, although by law, there is no restriction on Iranian women's access to high positions in the government, meaning that Iranian women should be able to actively participate in decision- and policymaking, in reality, Iranian women face many obstacles such as the resistance of male politicians (Moinifar, 2011).

These paradoxes illustrate the complicated position of Iranian women, reinforcing the idea that Iranian women's experiences in general should be studied. Moreover, these paradoxes illustrate that Iranian immigrant women's experiences are also worth exploring.

The complicated position of Iranian women indicates that Iranian immigrant women's experiences are likely to differ from those of other immigrant women. Therefore, more

research into specifically Iranian immigrants, rather than immigrant women in general, is needed. In Iran, although traditional gender roles are enforced by law, gender inequality is under pressure in the private domain due to forces such as women's high achievement in education and the experience of modern life via the internet (Tizro, 2013).

1.7. Iranian immigrant women's experiences of domestic violence

Iranian immigrant women may face a moral dilemma when they move to Western countries as they are moving from a country in which domestic violence is a silent epidemic (Adineh, Almasi, Rad, Zareban, & Moghadam, 2016; Grimmer & Tribe, 2001; Home Office, 2017) to societies which send the message that domestic violence should not be tolerated (Graca, 2017). Nonetheless, many Iranian immigrant women tend to endure domestic violence for fear of being judged by their family and community (Akhavan, 2006; Moghissi, 1999). Iranian immigrant women, like other immigrant women, may experience physical violence including being kicked and slapped, emotional violence including humiliation and criticism, being forced to have sexual intercourse, and being restricted from attending social events or language classes (Ghaleiha, 2018).

Few recently authors have explored the experiences of Iranian immigrant women, with most studies in this area dating from the late 1990s or early 2010s. Guruge, Roche, and Catallo (2012) used survey data to explore physical and mental health trends among 60 women from Iranian and Sri Lanka Tamil communities living in Canada. They found that participants experienced physical, emotional, and sexual violence. These authors also found that participants experienced psychological violence more often than other types of violence from a male partner. There is a need for more research into Iranian immigrant women's experiences of domestic violence (Shishegar, Gholizadeh, DiGiacomo, & Davidson, 2015).

Although some authors suggest that Iranian immigrant women's sense-of-self may change after moving to a Western country (Alavi, 2014; Darvishpour, 2002; Khosravi, 2009;

Mahdi, 2001,2004), these studies have been conducted to examine acculturation in the Iranian community in general, without considering domestic violence specifically (Farsimadan, 2011; Shishegar et al., 2015). It can be argued that abused Iranian immigrant women may re-examine their understanding of Iranian cultural gender expectations and their sense of identity after moving to the UK, and so develop autonomy, self-respect, and confidence, becoming empowered. These emotional improvements can be seen as the first step that encourages Iranian immigrant women to take control of their lives and make informed decisions.

1.7. Research aims

- To explore the experiences of Iranian immigrant women who have been subjected to domestic violence within heterosexual relationships.
- To explore these women's experiences of therapeutic interventions and other support designed for women who have experienced domestic violence.
- To explore how women's sense-making may have changed following a move to the UK.

In the next section, I detail the contribution of the present study to counselling psychology.

1.7.1. Contribution to Counselling Psychology

One of the key concepts and differentiating principles of counselling psychologists is their concern with how people attend to unique experiences (Woolfe et al., 2010).

Additionally, counselling psychologists seek to empower individuals through exercising the high standards of anti-discriminatory practice appropriate to the pluralistic nature of society (Division of Counselling Psychology, 2017). In the current study, I address the unique, detailed accounts of abused Iranian immigrant women who have undergone therapeutic interventions. Dudley, McCloskey, and Kustorn (2008) argued that health care professionals and psychologists often lack knowledge of domestic violence and may, therefore, intervene

ineffectively. This may have serious consequences, as the adverse psychological and emotional effects on abused women experience can be diagnosed as pathology and may meet the criteria for mental health diagnosis (Condino, Tanzilli, Spranza, & Lingiardi, 2016; Gleason, 1993). Hence, this research can contribute to one of the core problems faced by Iranian immigrant women (that is, anti-discriminatory practice), fulfilling counselling psychologists' professional identity by offering psychotherapeutic interventions as opposed to pathologising the issues facing this group. As such, counselling psychologists will be encouraged to remain person-centred rather than disorder- or problem-centred and to stay open-minded while recognising that many difficulties are too personal to be easily categorised and addressed using standard interventions (Ashley, 2010). This will be achieved by focusing on participants' subjective experiences and so maintaining and following humanistic principles. Considering the insufficient research with this group, further research will help to develop population-based, specific interventions (Orlans & Van Scoyoc, 2009). The use of the current findings can thus support counselling psychologists in fulfilling their duty to society.

Given that counselling psychologists seek to engage with subjectivity (an individual's opinion or perspective) and intersubjectivity (the sharing of the subjective state by two or more individuals; Division of Counselling Psychology, 2017), it has been argued that the discipline has incorporated phenomenological models of practice into traditional scientific psychology (Division of Counselling Psychology, 2017; Woolfe, Strawbridge, Douglas, & Dryden, 2010). Counselling psychologists are involved in research-led practice, in which they engage with first-person accounts (Strawbridge & Woolfe, 2001). Thus, counselling psychologists integrate available research with clinical knowledge in the context of individuals' cultural norms. This is recognised as 'evidence-based practice' (Kratochwill & Schernoff, 2003). The purpose of the present study is to contribute new knowledge

regarding domestic violence from the perspectives of abused Iranian immigrant women in the context of specific Iranian cultural norms; hence, there is potential to reduce tension for psychologists by producing data on this population while these psychologists are engaged in subjective views of their clients.

At the heart of counselling psychology is the ethos of social justice (Toporek, Gerstein, Faud, & Roysircar, 2006). This is about promoting a society which values diversity and provides equal opportunities to all people as well as ensuring that equal allocations of resources and services are available (Bhugra, 2004, 2016). Counselling psychologists express their commitment to social justice by empowering clients to confront oppression, marginalisation, discrimination, injustice, and their oppressors (Fouad, Gerstein, & Toporek, 2006). Additionally, social justice is described as an action taken by a researcher or counsellor, external to clients or participants, to control or act on behalf of the client or participant group (Toporek & Liu, 2001). This study can support counselling psychologists to exercise their commitment to social justice by encouraging abused Iranian immigrant women to be engaged in making informed decisions that best reflect their needs and interests in the UK. Additionally, the findings of this study will be presented to key stakeholders such as Iranian community leaders, who can use them to intervene at the Iranian community level.

Furthermore, all interactions between clients and health care professionals, including counselling psychologists, should be considered multicultural (Pedersen, 1991) as it is recognised that we all carry personal cultural identities (Ho, 1995; Launikari & Puukari, 2005). Subsequently, counselling psychologists must act as competent professionals by demonstrating awareness of the cultural diversity and race of their clients; indeed, multicultural competency is a fundamental element of ethical professional practices (Fouad et al., 2006). Multiculturalism is about social justice, cultural democracy, and equality (Sue et al., 1998, p. 5). Developing multicultural counselling is an on-going process (Tomlinson-

Clarke, 2013). Through the current study, I encourage counsellors to examine the effect of privilege, power, and oppression on this marginalised group by being aware of their biases as well as Iranian immigrant women's biases and prejudices. I also encourage counselling psychologists to examine how socio-political elements (such as poverty, stereotyping, and gender self-identity) may affect the self-esteem and self-concept of Iranian immigrant women.

1.8. Reflexivity

As an insider researcher, I share a culture and history with the participants in this study. I am also an Iranian immigrant woman who witnessed domestic violence in her childhood and experienced domestic violence in her marriage. According to Saidin and Yaacob (2016), "insider researchers always have a passion about the topic they have been working on, meaning that they would commit themselves into the research despite all the obstacles" (p. 850). In contrast, according to Simmel (1950), a researcher can only be objective if they are an outsider. This is because, "insiders may be blindsided by some issues in their research as they do not consider certain issues as important as outsiders would see them, meaning that they might not be as alert to the information compared to those who are outsider researchers" (Saidin & Yaacob, 2016, p. 850).

To increase transparency and credibility, it was essential to reflect on my experiences when listening to the women's narratives. As an insider researcher, I felt re-traumatised by listening to their experiences of domestic violence. However, I overcame this by seeking professional help from other counsellors and taking a research break. This illustrates my passion and commitment to this research and these women, who gave their time to talk about their experiences.

Additionally, my familiarity with Iranian culture gave me three advantages. Firstly, after self-reflection, being an insider researcher helped me to offer my empathy and listen

carefully to the participants. Secondly, I could establish and maintain a rich social interaction with the participants. Thirdly, I was able to extract rich data from the participants as I could relate to them well. In brief, my personal and educational background regarding domestic violence added to my depth of understanding of the participants' feelings and thought processes. Additionally, my use of a reflexive journal and member checking as well as constant deep engagement with the analytic process with the help of my supervisor demonstrates my commitment to the research. These activities made me vigilant to other possible interpretations of the participants' narratives.

The process of member-checking involved sending the transcripts to the participants via email, asking them to amend any mistakes that had been made or to add any information they had forgotten about during the interview. The participants had enough time to read and amend the transcripts and send them back to me via email. The feedback suggested that they felt valued and heard during this process, making them feel believed and accepted. At the same time, their appreciation of this process suggested that they felt empowered, as they were breaking their silence about a sensitive topic. Moreover, their responses (via email) suggested that they felt they were contributing to social justice, suggesting that domestic violence is a real phenomenon that exists in Iranian culture. The participants confirmed that they were happy that the transcripts were an accurate record of their conversation with me. While all the participants were happy with their transcripts, one asked me to change the information relating to her age gap between her and her older brother.

Before the interviews, participants expressed that they were pleased to share their accounts with an Iranian immigrant woman. They expressed that they felt safe and valued as they could ask any questions before, during, and after the interview without fear of being judged or held responsible for what they had experienced. All participants expressed that, during the interview, they felt heard, rather than being silenced; a new response to their

experiences from an Iranian woman. Participants added that having their experiences listened to and acknowledged by an Iranian woman gave them hope that there might be others from their culture who would not silence them or reinforce their feelings of shame. It appeared to me that, for these participants, the interview was a healing process in which they felt heard and valued, and their stories were believed without any negative judgement. This was reinforced by my commitment to pay attention to every sentence of their accounts.

During the research interviews, especially the first one, I noticed that listening to the participants was a challenging task for me as a researcher. I was surprised by the fact that I was simultaneously working with my clients, who had the same background, without any difficulty. After a while, I noticed that, as a counsellor, I could intervene to empower my clients, whilst as a researcher, I could not intervene to provide empathy for the participants, which led to feelings of distress and dissatisfaction. Increasing my knowledge about the different roles of 'counsellor' and 'qualitative researcher', made me realise that while the relationships formed in the interviews were therapeutic, they differed from therapeutic relationships. For example, according to Wolcott (1994), the process of conducting qualitative research has similar qualities to the therapeutic process; both counsellors and researchers aim to empower individuals. The interviews gave voice to the Iranian immigrant women, who were from a less powerful population. The participants' voices continued to be heard throughout data analysis as I asked them to examine the accuracy of their transcripts to increase the credibility and trustworthiness of the study findings. "This view is incredibly closely aligned with the therapy goal of helping others to act from their own power" (Bourdeau, 2000, p. 8; Shamai, 2003).

Given that I used to work with a vulnerable population, with the expectation to respond with care and concern, I had to shift my mindset from viewing myself as an expert, willing to intervene, to treating the participants as experts with regards to their lived-

experience. This implies that I was involved in a hermeneutic process, rather than just processing information and responding based on my theoretical knowledge of the counselling process. In other words, I became, "one of 'not-knowing', which means that the therapist's understanding of a client's situation is not limited by pre-determined theoretical points of view or prior experiences" (Nelson, Onwuegbuzie, Wines, & Frels, 2013, p. 1).

In the following section, I will address several methodological principles. I will start by introducing the research design, including my ontological and epistemological position. I will then introduce the chosen methodology and discuss the theoretical underpinning of this approach and the rationale for choosing this method. Finally, the exact procedures for recruiting participants, as well as the steps followed to analyse the data, will be outlined.

Part 2: Overview of the method

2.1. Research design

Qualitative research methods are appropriate for answering questions about perspective, meaning, and experience from the perspective of the research participant (Hammurberg, Kirkman, & Lacy, 2016; Morrow, 2007). By employing qualitative methods in this study, I could gather information regarding Iranian immigrant women's experiences of domestic violence. This is in line with McLeod (2011), who acknowledged that "qualitative research represents a form of narrative knowing grounded in everyday experience that has the potential to make a significant and necessary contribution to the evidence base for counselling and psychotherapy" (p. 15). Thus, I could concentrate on the experiences of domestic violence against women in Iranian social and cultural contexts (Collican, 2009). Furthermore, the use of qualitative research offers possibilities for enhancing my commitment to promoting social justice and equality as well as empowering abused Iranian women (O'Connor & O'Neill, 2004), thus honouring their strengths, needs, and values (Denzin, 2010; Fessinger & Morrow, 2013). Equally important, qualitative research rebalances the power within researcher/researched relationships by allowing the researcher to use different strategies, including revealing some aspects of their identity and story so that interviews are a more reciprocal experience, or by allowing participants to read and edit the transcripts before they are analysed (Blackstone, 2012; McLeod, 2011; O'Connor & O'Neill, 2004;).

A phenomenological approach was utilised to explore the views and lived experiences of abused Iranian immigrant women (Smith, Flowers, & Larkin, 2009). The fundamental aim of phenomenological research is to give a detailed explanation of the lived experiences of a person or group, around a specific phenomenon, as well as the meanings they attach to their experiences (Christensen, Johnson, & Turner, 2011). Thus, it is important to access rich,

detailed accounts (Smith et al., 2009). I accessed such accounts through qualitative interviews.

2.2. Philosophical foundations of the current study

The present study is based on a critical realist paradigm. Proponents of critical realism, developed by Bhaskar, see reality as layered into three domains: empirical, actual, and real (Maxwell, 2012; Walsh & Evans, 2013). The empirical domain is what we experience (directly or indirectly), while the actual domain refers to what is going on yet may not be observable (Wynn & Williams, 2012). According to Sayer (2000), the real domain has two important characteristics: that it exists, whether or not we know about it (Berging, Wells, & Owen, 2008, p. 171), and that its structures (such as family/or social structures) have power and can produce events in the world (Roberts, 2014). Danermark et al. (2002) acknowledged that "a feature of reality is that there is an ontological gap between what we experience and understand, what really happens, and – most important – the deep dimension where the mechanisms are (real domain) which produce the events" (p. 39).

It can be argued that the use of realist ontology provides an opportunity to explore domestic violence among Iranian immigrant women within the domain of the real as well as to discover the mechanism that may be producing such phenomena (Berging et al., 2008). Critical realists also outline that a world exists independently of our theories and understanding (Maxwell, 2012); hence, all human inquiries are context-dependent, with no possibility of finding one correct explanation for a phenomenon within the different domains of reality (Pilgrim, 2014). In this study, I am not proposing to produce an objective, 'true' account of Iranian immigrant women's experiences of domestic violence. Instead, I propose that although the data from Iranian Immigrant women will tell us something about what is going on in the real world, it will not do so in a self-explanatory fashion. Considering the three layers of reality, I argue that the data must be interpreted to increase our knowledge of

the underlying structures which generate domestic violence among Iranian immigrant women in the UK (Willig, 2001, 2013).

Given that critical realism is context-dependent, I will adopt a contextualist perspective to explore Iranian immigrant women's experiences of domestic violence. The critical realist seeks to explore the domain of reality based on participants' experiences and interpretations of a particular phenomenon in a particular context (Bergin et al., 2008). Contextualists emphasise the context in which an action or utterance occurs and, more importantly, highlight that these actions or utterances can only be understood in relation to their context (Pynn, 2016). Additionally, the use of contextualism results in a deep, personal account of the phenomenon under study, meaning emphasis is placed on the participant/researcher interaction as it assumed that reality can only be (partially) accessed through participants' language (Zeman, 2017). As a result, contextualists acknowledge that all knowledge is local and personal and can only be accessible within the cultural and historical context (Herbert & Padovani, 2014). Therefore, the main aim of this study is to explore how Iranian immigrant women make sense of their experiences in their particular historical, cultural, and social context.

2.3. Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis (IPA)

IPA, developed by Jonathan A Smith in the mid-1990s (Smith, 1994, 1996), is used increasingly by psychological researchers in the UK and around the world (Smith, 2004, 2011; Smith & Eatough, 2019). IPA is based on three philosophical areas: phenomenology, hermeneutics, and idiography (Smith et al., 2009). Understanding how these factors fit together (Charlick, Pincombe, McKellar, & Field, 2016) enables an understanding of the focus of IPA and, therefore, how it can be employed to enhance understanding of Iranian immigrant women's experiences of domestic violence.

2.3.1. Phenomenology

Phenomenology is a philosophical study of 'being' (Larkin & Thompson, 2011; Smith, 2006; Tuffour, 2017) that has been developed by many individuals, including Husserl and Heidegger (Langdridge, 2007, 2008). While phenomenologists have different ideas, they share an interest in considering what the experience of being human is like, "especially in terms of the things which matter to us, and which constitute our lived world" (Smith et al., 2009). The use of phenomenological philosophy gives psychologists access to valuable ideas about how to examine lived experience (Koopman, 2015; Smith et al., 2009). According to proponents of phenomenology philosophy, the principles of natural science are not a good model for studying human experience as participants can relate intentionally to objects in the world, which differs from cause and effect relationships (Giorgi, 2005). Phenomenological philosophers acknowledge a shift of focus away from the nature of the 'thing' and toward consciousness, meaning that human scientists need to shift attention from things and nature to human beings and their world (Davidsen, 2013; Giorgi, 2005; Langdridge, 2007, 2008).

Husserl is considered the founder of phenomenological philosophy (Langdridge, 2007, 2008). Husserl saw experiences, as perceived by individuals, as valuable objects of human science (Lopez & Willis, 2004). Husserl proposed that to understand phenomena fully we must return to 'the things themselves' (Langdridge, 2007, 2008). "The 'thing' he is referring to, then, is the experiential content of consciousness" (Smith et al., 2009, p. 12).

Husserl aimed to examine the human consciousness of a given phenomenon as fully as possible. To do this, he proposed 'phenomenological reduction' (Giorgi, 2005). This is the idea that past knowledge about a phenomenon should be put aside (Langdridge, 2007, 2008). The researchers must hold their beliefs and biases throughout the research (Tufford & Newman, 2012), a process known as bracketing. IPA research follows 'back to the things themselves' as Husserl suggests, meaning that researchers carefully explore an experience in the way it happens to the participants (Finlay, 2002, 2011; Smith et al, 2009). However,

Husserl's theory that human experience can be examined by setting aside the past knowledge has been dismissed as simplistic and unachievable (Spinnelli, 2005).

Heidegger (1927/62) developed a more existential approach to phenomenology (Smith et al., 2009). Heidegger proposed that people and their activities are always 'in the world' and, therefore, how they interpret and attach meaning to their activities is informed by context (Smith et al., 2009). Heidegger introduced the concept of 'dasein' to illustrate how our 'being-in-the-world' stands in relation to other individuals (Smith & Osborn, 2007, 2015). He argued that individuals cannot suspend prior assumptions and expectations to achieve 'epoche' or complete bracketing and so take a 'God's eye view' on experience (Langdridge, 2007, 2008). Heidegger used the term 'lifeworld' to explain that human realities are influenced by their world; humans cannot separate themselves from the world (Lopez & Willis, 2004). The lesson IPA researchers can take from Heidegger's work is that our 'being-in-the-world' is always 'in-relation-to something' (Eatough & Smith, 2006, 2017). Thus, IPA researchers can note that pure human subjectivity is not the focus of a phenomenological study, "but rather, the interpretation of people's meaning-making activities is central to phenomenological inquiry in psychology" (Smith et al., 2009, p. 18).

Merleau-Ponty, the philosopher of body and embodiment, introduced the phenomena of perception (Toadvine, 2018). Merleau-Ponty emphasised that our body shapes our knowledge about the world (Smith et al., 2009) and is involved in the history, tradition and worlds of others (Nascimento, Filardi, Abath, & Ramalho-de-Oliveira, 2018). Merleau-Ponty argued that it is the body, not consciousness, which understands its world; hence, bodies are lived experience (O'Loughlin, 1995; Nascimento et al., 2018). Merleau-Ponty offers IPA researchers the view that "we are, first of all, body-subject" (Larkin, Eatough, & Osborn, 2011, p. 8); therefore, "we can never really 'know' others but only in terms of their physicality in their embodiment" (Skea & Cert, 2016, p. 1136).

Sartre, a French philosopher, proposed a new vision of consciousness and way of understanding arising from his interest in what it is to be human (Crowell, 2004; Flynn, 2011; Franchi, n.d.). Sartre proposed that, "we are always becoming ourselves, and that the self is not a pre-existing unity to be discovered, but rather an ongoing project to be unfurled" (Smith et al., 2009, p. 13). He introduced the concept of 'nothingness', emphasising that to understand who we are and how we see the world, both that which is absent and that which is present are equally important (Kovacs, 2006; Webber, 2006). Thus, by considering the presence and absence of our relationships with others, we can better understand our experiences at a personal and social level (Gusman, 2017; Rowlands, 2011). Sartre's work offers IPA researchers a clear glimpse of "what a phenomenological analysis of the human condition can look like" (Smith et al., 2009, p. 20).

2.3.2. Hermeneutics

The second feature of IPA is hermeneutics (Smith et al., 2009), defined as the practice and theory of interpretation of texts (Finlay, 2002, 2011; Rennie, 1999). Three key hermeneutic theorists are Schleiermacher, Heidegger, and Gadamer (Larkin, Watts, & Clifton, 2006; Moran, 2000; Smith et al., 2009). Schleiermacher proposed that interpretation involved grammatical and psychological interpretation (Moran, 2000; Smith et al., 2009). Grammatical interpretation is about objective textual meaning, while psychological interpretation refers to the subjective individuality of the author (Smith, 2004, 2011). Schleiermacher argued that the aim of interpretation was not to follow mechanical rules but instead to understand the writer (Smith et al., 2009). He believed we could gain an understanding of an author better than the author themselves through detailed analysis (Eatough & Smith, 2006, 2017; Smith et al., 2009). In the context of IPA, this does not mean that our analysis is more 'true' than the accounts of research participants, but instead that it

might provide meaningful insights which go beyond participants' explicit claims (Smith, 2004, 2011), perhaps by connecting to psychological theories (Smith et al., 2009).

Heidegger united his understanding of phenomenology with the theory of hermeneutics (Cassidy, Reynolds, Naylor, & De Souza, 2011; Eatough & Smith, 2006, 2017). He acknowledged that human existence is bound up in the world of people, things, language, and relationships (Larkins, Watts, & Clifton, 2006). Therefore, all enquiry starts from the enquirer's perspective or fore-conception, which can be an obstacle to interpretation (Laverty, 2003; Willig, 2013). As a result, rather than bracketing the fore-conception prior to an enquiry, IPA researchers are encouraged to use their fore-conception to gain advanced understanding of a phenomenon but to acknowledge that those fore-conceptions may not come to their attention until actual work has started through interviews or analysis (Cassidy et al., 2011; Charlick, Pincombe, Mckellar, & Filelder, 2016; Larkin et al., 2006). Therefore, IPA researchers are invited to adopt a "sensitive and responsive" approach to data collection and analysis so that their fore-conceptions can be adjusted (Cassidy et al., 2011, p. 266). For IPA researchers, phenomenology involves hermeneutics; that is, what is captured of another's experience will always be provisional because researchers, however hard they try, cannot completely separate themselves from their own experiences (Larkin et al., 2006).

Gadamer (1990), like Heidegger, outlined that an understanding of a phenomenon assumes elements of fore-conceptions and interpretation (Moran, 2000). Gadamer "reemphasised that live experience of the interpreter is both a way into the text as well as a hindrance to understanding the text" (Cassidy et al., 2011, p. 266). In this context, "making sense of a respondent's accounts requires IPA researchers to engage in close interpretation" (Tuffour, 2017, p. 4); sometimes IPA researchers can identify their fore-conceptions in advance, and sometimes pre-conceptions will emerge through interpretation. Either way,

"there is a dialogue between what we bring to the text, and what the text brings to us" (Smith et al., 2009, p. 26).

The hermeneutic circle and double hermeneutic are two essential features of IPA. The former refers to the idea that to understand the part, the researcher looks to the whole and vice versa (LeVasseur, 2003; Paterson & Higgs, 2005). For example, the word becomes clear when it is considered in the context of the whole sentence, while the meaning of the sentence depends on the meaning of the individual word (Boell & Cecez-Kecmanovic, 2010). The latter refers to the idea that the researcher is making sense of the participant, who is making sense of a phenomenon (Shinebourne, 2011; Smith & Osborn, 2007, 2015). Hermeneutics underpin this study as I will attempt to draw on human resources to make sense of domestic violence, while I have only access to participants' experiences through what they report and my prior experience (Smith et al., 2009).

IPA researchers also operate a double hermeneutic by adopting two interpretative positions: the hermeneutics of 'empathy' and 'suspicion' (Davidsen, 2013; Eatough & Smith, 2006, 2017). The former is an attempt to understand the participants' experiences in their terms, while use of the latter employs theoretical approaches such as psychoanalysis to guide interpretation and investigate what may be hidden (Willig, 2001, 2013). The hermeneutics of suspicion may not be compatible with this research as they involve imposing a theory on the data; instead, any connection to psychological theories will be considered after analysis is complete. Smith et al. (2009) added that IPA researchers combine hermeneutics of empathy with the hermeneutics of 'questioning'. Hence, IPA researchers must understand the participant's view and not only 'stand in their shoes' but also 'stand alongside' them (Smith et al., 2009, p. 36); this will help IPA researchers to question, analyse and make sense of participants words (Larkin, et al., 2006; Smith & Osborn, 2007, 2015). This task will be followed throughout the research process, starting from the interviews.

2.3.3. Idiography

IPA is idiographic, meaning it is concerned with the experience of a particular individual in a particular context (Eatough & Smith, 2006, 2017). Smith et al. (2009) argued that IPA researchers commit themselves to the particular through two operations: systematic, detailed analysis, and a commitment to understanding how a particular individual understands a particular phenomenon. The idiographic nature of IPA can offer researchers a unique perspective since experience is uniquely embodied and situated (Smith et al., 2009). The idiographic commitment of this study will be reflected in the write up by including individual transcript extracts to identify the particular experiences of each participant. This idiographic commitment means that I will attempt to understand each case before moving to the next (Cassidy et al., 2011). I will also attempt to put aside the findings of each case by bracketing (as much as possible), thus maintaining sensitivity to each participant's life story (Smith et al., 2009; Smith & Osborn, 2007, 2015).

2.3.4. The rationale for selecting IPA

Researchers using phenomenological methods aim to uncover the meaning of an individual's experiences of a particular phenomenon (Eatough & Smith, 2006, 2017). I adopted a phenomenological position to explore the domestic violence experiences of particular individuals; that is, Iranian immigrant women. Through IPA, I aim to connect to the core principles of phenomenology by encouraging participants to tell their story in their words (Smith et al., 2009; Smith & Osborn, 2007, 2015) and by paying attention to a detailed examination of participants' "lifeworld" (Cassidy et al., 2011, p. 3). An advantage of IPA is that instead of focusing on a pre-existing theoretical preconceptions, I can focus on accounts of lived experience (Smith & Osborn, 2007, 2015). This may be a common characteristic among other phenomenological studies; however, a key feature to distinguish IPA from other approaches is its epistemological position (Eatough & Smith, 2006, 2017). Proponents of IPA

assume that participants try to interpret their experiences in a form that makes sense to them (Brocki & Wearden, 2006). At the same time, it is recognised that research is a dynamic process which involves a double hermeneutic process (Willig, 2001, 2013). The researcher tries to make sense of the participants, who try to make sense of a particular phenomenon (Smith et al., 2009; Smith & Osborn, 2007, 2015). Thus, IPA can help me focus primarily on Iranian immigrant women's experiences of domestic violence, making sense of this phenomenon as participants make sense of their experiences. Additionally, the double hermeneutic feature of IPA is consistent with my critical realist position. The use of the double hermeneutic emphasises that the domestic violence experiences cannot be directly accessed; data will need interpretation. This will result in partial knowledge about the generative mechanisms of domestic violence among Iranian immigrant women in the UK.

The use of IPA acknowledges the importance of researchers' pre-assumptions and invites them to adopt a reflexive attitude throughout their study (Smith, 2004, 2011; Smith et al., 2009). Reflexivity is the process in which researchers reflect on their values and beliefs and how these beliefs and values may shape research outcomes (Shaw, 2010). Considering that I have adopted a contextualist epistemology, IPA will support me to be sensitive to my pre-assumptions, as far as possible, and to adopt a reflexive attitude throughout the study. Keeping a reflexive research journal will also help me do this.

IPA is useful for examining emotionally laden topics (Finlay, 2002, 2011; Smith & Osborn, 2007, 2015) such as domestic violence. The use of IPA provides researchers with a framework to 'give voice' to participants by listening to their concerns and interpreting their 'sense-making', relating those concerns to psychological concepts (Larkin et al., 2011).

IPA may be considered the most appropriate methodology for this study for various reasons. It is popular within health psychology and other areas of applied psychology (Reid, Flowers, & Larkin, 2005). According to Reid et al. (2005), "IPA is particularly suitable when

researching 'unexplored territory', that is, an area which has previously lacked a thorough investigation" (p. 23). I argue that IPA seems particularly pertinent as investigations into Iranian immigrant women's experiences of domestic violence appear scarce. IPA allows me to be open to meaningful and unexpected psychological issues which may arise during analysis (Brocki & Wearden, 2006; Reid et al., 2005; van Manen, 1990). Although understanding the philosophical foundations of the method was challenging, the decision to select IPA was not difficult.

2.4. Method

2.4.1. Participants and sampling

Smith and Osborn (2007, 2015) argued that qualitative researchers should select samples purposively, to offer insight into the experience under study. A purposive sample represents a perspective rather than a population (Smith et al., 2009). Researchers employing this method are encouraged to find a fairly homogenous sample for whom the research questions will be meaningful. Smith et al. (2009) added that "the analyst should provide a rich, transparent and contextualised analysis of participants" accounts" (p. 51). This enables readers to evaluate the transferability of the research to individuals in more or less similar contexts (Polit & Beck, 2010).

I, therefore, adopted purposive sampling. The inclusion criteria were: that participants were over the age of 18; born in Iran; fluent in English; had direct experience of domestic violence in Iran; were not in an abusive relationship anymore; and were in therapy, attending an organisation which provides counselling for women who have experienced domestic violence. Thus, homogeneity was achieved. Potential participants who were still in an abusive relationship were excluded. I was concerned about the ethics of interviewing women currently in abusive relationships in case their partners found out they were talking about the relationship to an interviewer (Seedat, Pienaar, Williams & Stein, 2004).

Due to IPA's commitment to idiography, six participants were recruited. It is important to examine fewer participants' experiences at a greater depth, rather than producing knowledge based on a shallow analysis of many accounts (Alase, 2017; Hefferon & Gil-Rodriguez, 2001). The sample provided the opportunity for in-depth analysis of participants' experiences (Brocki & Wearden, 2006; Hefferon & Gil-Rodriguez, 2001; Reid et al., 2005). Smith et al. (2009) stated that trainee professional doctorate research usually involves between four and ten interviews. A sample of six enabled me to conduct in-depth interviews. Participant demographic information is in Table 1.

Table 1

Participant Demographic Profile

Participant (Pseudonym)	Age	Marital status	Number of children	Social class	Husband's (perpetrator) nationality	Where abuse took place and how long ago	Date of immigration and type of immigrant
Ziba	42	Single	3	Middle class	Iranian	Iran & UK; throughout the marriage	Feb 2012; indefinite leave to remain
Parastoo	39	In relationship	2	Working class	Iranian	Iran & UK; throughout the marriage	Sep 2002; citizen residence
Hasti	37	Single	3	Middle class	Iranian	Iran & UK; throughout the marriage	July 2007; indefinite leave to remain
Mastaneh	30	Single	1	Middle class	Iranian	Iran & UK; throughout the marriage	June 2000; indefinite leave to remain
Shahin	45	In relationship	2	Middle class	Iranian	Iran & UK; throughout the marriage	August 2001; indefinite leave to remain
Zohreh	29	In relationship	1	Middle class	Iranian	Iran & UK; throughout the marriage	Oct 2000; indefinite leave to remain

2.4.2. Data collection methods

There are various methods of data collection in qualitative research, including observation, focus groups, and interviews (Bengtsson, 2016). According to Gill, Stewart, Treasure, and Chadwick (2008), "interviews are most appropriate when little is already known about a particular phenomenon or where detailed insights are required from individual participants" (p. 292). Gill et al. (2008) added that interviews are particularly appropriate when participants do not wish to talk about sensitive issues within a group. Given that participants were required to provide detailed accounts of their experiences of domestic violence, a sensitive phenomenon, I chose to conduct semi-structured interviews.

There are three main types of research interview: structured, unstructured, and semi-structured (Doody & Noonan, 2013). In this study, data were collected using semi-structured interviews. Considering that IPA requires 'rich' data (Smith et al., 2009), this method appeared more appropriate; in practice, it granted an opportunity for participants to speak freely, and to reflect on their ideas (Braun & Clarke, 2013; Fox, 2009; Jamshed, 2014). Furthermore, Stuckey (2013) explained that semi-structured interviews are flexible, allowing researchers to probe and ask unplanned questions to clarify any complex answers. In practice, this method allowed me to clarify any misunderstandings during the interview. I recorded the interviews and transcribed them, noting non-verbal utterances (such as erm or mm) or laughing. This style of transcription is called 'orthographic' or 'verbatim'. In this study, the orthographic notation system, introduced by Braun and Clarke (2013), was employed.

2.4.3 Materials

The interview questions were generated based on a range of topics. The interview schedule consisted of open-ended questions and probes, starting with less sensitive and direct questions. The most important task in the opening phase of an interview is to get participants

used to talking (Smith et al., 2009 p. 64). Questions were kept clear and direct to avoid leading participants to specific answers. Questions that were asked include "Can you tell me how you feel/felt about coming to the UK?" and "Can you tell me about your experiences of seeking counselling and support?" See Appendix E for the full interview schedule. Interviews lasted approximately 60-90 minutes.

The interviews were conducted in English for two reasons. According to Bashiruddin (2013), converting data from one language to another requires accuracy and proficiency in both languages. At the same time, Van Nes, Abma, Jonsson, and Degg (2010) argued that "translation is also an interpretative act, hence, meanings may get lost in the translation process" (p. 313). Considering that my writing in Iranian and Farsi was not fluent, it was essential to carry out the research in English to avoid losing any meaning associated with the participants' experiences. This enabled me, as a researcher, to capture rich data based on the participants' subjective experiences, increasing the trustworthiness of the current study (Birbili, 2000).

2.4.4. Procedure

The research was advertised at a charity that provides counselling for abused women from different ethnic groups, including Iranian women. I started recruitment by sending an email to the director of the organisation. I arranged several meetings with charity staff to gain their support. I then contacted potential participants. This included placing invitation letters in the therapists' waiting room and handing out information sheets to women who appeared interested. Support from the organisation ensured that I placed no undue pressure on the women to take part.

The participant information sheet (see Appendix F) was shared with the directors and team leaders of the charity. They gave the sheet to participants, thus familiarising them with the content of the study while they attended the charity to see their counsellors. Before

conducting any interviews, I met each participant at least once to explain the study in more depth. The meeting also gave participants an informal opportunity to meet me as a researcher for the first time in a non-threatening environment and to ask any questions they might have had. The meetings allowed me to develop a rapport with participants and to arrange a suitable date and time for the interview. Participants received a consent form (see Appendix G) during these initial meetings.

2.5. Data Analysis

Data analysis was carried out by following six phases set out by Smith et al. (2009). Phase one was immersion in the data (Smith et al., 2009). This was done by reading and rereading the transcripts separately, and by listening to the audio-recordings. Phase two was writing initial notes about the semantic and linguistic features of the data (Smith et al., 2009). During this stage, I used the right-hand margin of the transcript to comment on interesting or important data, as well as comments on similarities, differences, and contradictions (Smith & Osborn, 2003). These comments were descriptive (that is, face value), linguistic (such as noting pauses, laughter, and metaphors), and conceptual (focusing on participants' overarching understanding of domestic violence).

During phase three, I returned to the beginning of the transcript and used the left-hand margin to transform the initial notes into concise phrases or emerging themes, aiming to "capture the essential quality of what was found in the transcript" (Smith & Osborn, 2003, p. 68). During this phase, I attempted to identify the subordinate/emerging themes without excluding or selecting any extracts.

Phase four involved establishing a set of themes within the transcript (Smith et al., 2009). All emergent themes were written down in chronological order so that I could make sense of the connections between them. I then re-arranged the themes in a more analytical or

theoretical order (Smith &Osborn, 2003), a process known as clustering (Smith et al., 1997). In this study, some of the themes formed clusters that shared meanings or references (Smith, 2011). Some, however, emerged as superordinate concepts. Moreover, the connections between emergent themes were checked by ensuring the connection worked for the original source; the data (Smith & Osborn, 2003). This helped me to make sense of what the participant said while also allowing me to check my sense-making against the data (Smith & Osborn, 2003). This stage also involved producing a table of themes. I allocated a name to each cluster to capture its essence or concept. An identifier was allocated to each subordinate theme, allowing me to organise the analysis by mentioning the key words from a particular extract with a page number. Importantly, some themes were dropped as they could not fit with other themes or were not sufficiently supported by the data.

Phase five involved repeating the process for subsequent cases. Smith and Osborn (2003) proposed that it is essential to do justice to each participant by paying attention to the particularities of each case. This was done by systematically following the steps mentioned above. Finally, phase six involved looking for patterns across cases (Smith et al., 2009). At this stage, I laid out all tables of themes for each participant and looked for connections between themes across the cases. I aimed to respect and recognise how participants' accounts were similar and different (Smith & Osborn, 2003). The final result was a table of superordinate and subordinate themes for the group.

This illustrates that analysis moved from a descriptive to a more interpretative level as I shifted my attention from each participant to a shared understanding of domestic violence (Smith et al., 2009). Equally important was movement between the part and the whole of the transcripts, stressing that analysis was a cyclical process, rather than a linear one.

2.6. Quality in qualitative research

There is widespread interest in the application of quality criteria to qualitative research; however, there is considerable debate over how qualitative research should be assessed (Mays & Pope, 2000) as the criteria which applies to quantitative research are not appropriate (Kitto, Chetes, and Gabich, 2008, p. 243).

For the purpose of this study, four quality principles introduced by Yardley (2000, 2008) were followed. Yardley's (2000, 2008) first principle is sensitivity to context, which was met by being sensitive to participants' perspectives and needs. As a counsellor with experience of working with survivors of domestic violence, I was able to be sensitive to participants' needs throughout the research. Equally important, sensitivity to participants' perspectives was maintained by asking open-ended questions that encouraged participants to express their thoughts, while sensitivity to the data was achieved by being open to alternative interpretations.

Yardley's (2000, 2008) second principle is commitment and rigour. This was followed by an in-depth engagement with the topic throughout data collection and analysis. I employed my counselling skills to encourage the participants to share their stories. I also worked with supervisors to review my methodological competence and skills, ensuring that I was fully involved with the topic. The engagement included skipping any material that could cause emotional stress to the participants or taking a break to resolve emotional issues that could have prevented my full involvement in the research.

Yardley's third quality principle (2000, 2008) is transparency and coherence. This can be demonstrated by providing a detailed account of how data were collected and analysed. As such, I have provided a detailed account of how participants were selected, how interviews were conducted, and how the resulting data were analysed. I have also presented transcript extracts in the findings section to allow the reader to judge the adequacy of my interpretations (Yardley, 2000, 2008).

Finally, Yardley (2000, 2008) added that quality in research is partially dependent on whether the findings are important or have an impact on the community for whom the results were relevant. The main aim of this study will be achieved if it informs readers, particularly healthcare professionals, of anything important relevant to effective counselling interventions among this population of women. However, the most important result of this study is that it has provided a platform for Iranian immigrant women who have experienced domestic violence to voice their concerns, empowering them to be heard (Ashby, 2011).

In addition to the above criteria, I also employed the creditability and trustworthiness criteria (Tracy & Hindrichs, 2017) by engaging participants or other stakeholders. This was achieved through member-checking.

2.6.1. Member-checking

Member-checking is a technique for exploring the trustworthiness of data obtained from participants (Birt, Scott, Cavers, Campbell, & Walter, 2016). It involves returning the data to participants so they can comment on their authenticity and trustworthiness (Braun & Clarke, 2013). Thus, participants can check, clarify, approve, edit, or delete their words from the transcripts (Carlson, 2010). In this study, member-checking was followed by providing a hard copy or emailing transcripts to participants. Participants could review, clarify, edit or add any comments they felt it was important to mention but had forgotten during the interview. All participants actively checked their interview transcripts via email.

2.7. Ethical considerations

Sullivan and Cain (2004) argued that survivors of domestic violence should be heard in research; however, this should not occur without adequate attention to ethical issues, mainly safety and confidentiality. Disclosing women's experiences of domestic violence may

expose them to risk of retaliation by an abusive partner or family members (Ellsberg, Heise, Pena, Agurto, & Winkvist, 2001, p. 3) or re-victimise participants (WHO, 2001).

Ethical approval for this research was attained from the University of the West of England, Faculty Research Ethics Committee (FREC; see Appendix B). This study follows the British Psychological Society (BPS; 2014) Code of Human Ethics. To meet BPS (2014) principles, each participant had access to an information sheet before their interview. Thus, participants read the aims of the study before participation. Following the recommendation of WHO (2009), measures were put in place to maintain confidentiality, including changing all names and identifying references in the transcriptions.

Regarding the Data Protection Act (1998), participants were informed that the data, including the audio recording, might be archived by UWE. Also, participants were advised of their right to withdraw from the study at any time, even during the interview. However, they were informed that the data would be kept for analysis if they withdrew after the interview. Due to the sensitivity of the topic, it was likely that there may be an immediate or delayed psychological impact on the mental health of anyone involved, including participants and researcher (McCosker, Barnard, & Gerber, 2001). I discussed protecting the participants with the director and team leaders and arranged to have a trained counsellor accompany me to protect the participants if necessary. Participants were advised that they could have psychological help in a separate room if they required it. Details of some related organisations were given to the participants after the interviews. Furthermore, I was in personal therapy, with the aim of avoiding potential risks to my emotional and psychological well-being throughout this research study.

Braun and Clarke (2013) proposed that ethical principles regarding safety involve where, when and how research takes place. Hence, the interviews were conducted in the charity because this was a private setting where it was unlikely that we would be interrupted.

More importantly, as a counsellor, I could terminate or change the subject of discussion if an interview was interrupted by anyone, including the charity staff.

2.8. Reflexive statement

Reflexivity refers to the researcher's reflection upon how their values, beliefs, experiences, political learning, social identity and broader aims in life (Willing, 2008) may influence their research procedure, data interpretation, and conclusions (Collican, 2009).

Reflexivity in a research context refers to the process of critically reflecting on the knowledge we produce and our role in producing that knowledge (Braun & Clarke, 2013, p. 37). As a female Iranian immigrant woman, I shared group identity and commonalities (Adam, 2012) with most of the participants. Therefore, I occupied multiple 'insider' positions (Unluer, 2012). Underwood, Satterthwaite and Barrett (2010) argue that gender, race or ethnicity, age, and occupation (Berger, 2013) can impact data collection, analysis, and conclusions. Braun and Clarke (2013) recommend keeping a reflexive journal throughout the research. I found this helped me consider the impact of social elements and personal experiences during the research process.

My initial journal notes were related to my interest in domestic violence against immigrant women. As a counsellor, I have worked with abused women from different backgrounds. During my practice, I have noticed that immigrant, and especially Iranian, women have difficulty recognising that what they were experiencing could be considered domestic violence. Most importantly, I have noticed that the majority of Iranian immigrant women face many psychological stresses that might prevent them from taking action even after establishing awareness of their rights in the UK.

It was during my practice that I decided to explore Iranian immigrant women's experiences of domestic violence. I was interested to explore whether their understanding of

this phenomenon changed following a move to the UK. I was curious about what specific psychological issues abused Iranian immigrant women might encounter. After years of being in practice, I felt that some of these women were not satisfied with the outcomes of counselling. This was the starting point for this thesis.

Additionally, it was important for me to pay attention to the impact of my cultural background in my reflexive journal. I was aware that Iranian culture involves particular perspectives of domestic violence. My notes particularly targeted my judgments and assumptions regarding my views on traditional gender roles in Iranian culture, and how these might relate to the treatment of women who experience domestic violence.

I believe this helped me in two ways. Firstly, it helped me to relate to the participants and understand their accounts as they related to Iranian culture. I believe sharing a cultural background helped me establish a better rapport with participants by enabling me to listen actively and to be engaged and vigilant during the interviews. Secondly, keeping a reflexive journal helped me highlight my pre-assumptions and expectations, encouraging me to encounter and challenge my core beliefs and biases towards the Iranian community. This helped make it possible for me to develop new themes based on new understandings. The following example from my reflexive journal illustrates my position as an insider researcher.

2.8.1. Example of reflexive journal

This reflection was written following the interview with the first participant. After this interview, I recorded my personal and premature assumptions about the legal system in Iran:

I was surprised to notice that I had premature assumptions about the legal system in Iran. There was enough time to reflect on my experience of conducting this interview before conducting the rest of the interviews. This first participant provided a detailed account of her experiences of domestic violence, and she was very open to talking

about the story of her life. However, at the time, I was aware that I probed some questions in a way that was directive; this was further reinforced when transcribing the interview, which brought back the feelings of frustration, anxiety, and disappointment at what I could have missed during the interview. For example, during the interview with Ziba (the first participant), I asked:

Me: How did the police react? Were they helpful at all?

Ziba: Um-hm yes, I called them because I was so scared and they came and talked to my husband. I felt safe you know (...) at least for a short period of time.

Me: Mm-mm, so they helped you did they talk to you about your options?

Ziba: No, they (.) just ((cough)) told me to contact them whenever I felt unsafe.

Reflecting on this experience, I can identify my premature assumptions about the legal system in Iran. These are directive questions, assuming the police do not provide any sort of protection for abused Iranian women.

As I wrote the reflexive journal, I became aware of my assumptions and biases about the UK and Iranian legal systems. I realised that I had assumed that there was no legal protection for abused women in Iran, internalising that abused women are protected fully, especially by the police, in the UK. I expected the participant to share my opinion and was disappointed when she did not. Following a review of the transcript, I increased my knowledge about the legal system in Iran regarding the protection of abused women and their children. Consequently, I was extra vigilant in listening to future participants' accounts and avoiding directive probes; a key skill to prevent the likelihood of some possible answers over others (Fox, 2000).

Part 3: Results

Participants were all Iranian immigrant women who had experienced domestic violence in Iran and the UK. Demographic information is given in Table 1. Table 2 illustrates the structure of the themes found. Some minor changes have been made to improve readability when presenting extracts from the transcripts. These include omitting minor hesitations and utterances such as 'ohm'. Note that three dots at the beginning or end of each extract indicate that the participant was talking before or after the extract, while three dots within brackets are used when a section of the extract, such as interviewer interjections, has been omitted.

Table 2
Super-Ordinate and Sub-Themes

Super-Ordinate Themes	Sub-Ordinate Themes
Super-Ordinate Theme 3.1:	3.1.1. Physical violence
	"He used to slap me."
You can be abused in different ways	
	3.1.2. Psychological and emotional violence
	"He used to humiliate me in front of others."
	3.1.3. Other forms of domestic violence
	"I had to ask for money for small things."
Super-Ordinate Theme 3.2:	3.2.1. Impact on psychological wellbeing
	"I was hopeless and helpless."
Impact of domestic violence on women: hopeless	
and helpless	3.2.2. Impact on women's identity and sense of self
	"I didn't like the person who was in the mirror."
Super-Ordinate Theme 3.3:	3.3.1. Relationship with family
	"My family only judge me harshly."
Impact of domestic violence on women's	
relationships: judged and guilty	3.3.2. Relationship with the Iranian community "I avoid
	Iranian people completely."
Super-Ordinate Theme 3.4:	3.4.1. Cultural pressure to keep the family together: a failed woman
The cultural error in a of being a female victim	"Being a woman means to care about your children and
The cultural experience of being a female victim of domestic violence	husband's needs all the time."
	3.4.2. Human rights and self-acceptance as a woman in Iran and the UK
	"In Iran, I was treated like dirt, but here [in the UK] I
	feel I am being treated like others."
	3.4.3. Living with 'new' self in a new cultural context
	"I'm independent now."

Super-Ordinate Theme 3.5:

3.5.1. This is a family matter

Using the legal system and counselling services before and after immigration

"In Iran, the police said 'we cannot help', but here the police took my angry partner away."

3.5.2. Using counselling services in the UK

"The sessions don't help with my anger_about why I have been treated differently as a woman."

Super-Ordinate Theme 3.1: You can be abused in different ways

The findings suggested that all participants had been subjected to different types of violence by their former partners. These included physical and psychological abuse. Some reported being forced to have sexual intercourse, while others had been made financially dependent on their partners.

Sub-Ordinate Theme 3.1.1. Physical violence. "He used to slap me."

Physical violence towards the participants included being slapped, kicked, punched, pushed, having their faces spat on, having objects thrown at them, and being beaten up.

Parastoo reported:

I used to live in fear that he is going to be angry again (...) and make comments about me my children and then slap me and kick me humiliate me in front of his mother.

One time he kicked me so hard. I was pregnant but I lost the baby. I know it was because of the kicking.

Parastoo experienced two types of physical violence – slapping and kicking – and believes she experienced a miscarriage as a result. The words 'make comments' suggest she

was also exposed to verbal violence prior to physical violence. One might think that Parastoo's account is immeasurably sad, evoking helplessness, powerlessness, and loss. The words 'I used to live in fear' and 'be angry again' suggest she was living in constant fear of verbal and physical violence. Experiencing physical violence in front of others was painful for Parastoo as this led to humiliation and shame.

Zohreh explained a similar trajectory of abuse:

He used to physically attack me insult me (...) he used to tell me what to wear, what to cook every day, and if the dinner was not ready on time he used to slap me: once he threw a plate towards me, and it cut my face and broke my nose, but nobody helped me. I couldn't say that to anyone. I was so ashamed.

Zohreh's account echoes Parastoo's, as she was subjected to domestic violence more than once; there is also a shared experience of shame. The physical violence towards Zoreh included being slapped and having a plate thrown at her, causing serious injury to her face and nose. This extract suggests an overwhelming situation, as Zohreh was not able to protect herself, and nobody helped her after she was subjected to serious bodily injury. Her experience of physical violence led to a loss of self-honour and respect.

Hasti talked about being hospitalised several times as a result of physical violence:

He was so angry, and he put me in hospital several times. He used to follow me upstairs and drag me downstairs, and because of that I have knee pain and suffer from long-term damage to my knees.

Severe physical violence at the hands of a male partner is evident here. Hasti, like Parastoo, described witnessing her husband's anger, which escalated to severe physical violence. Her words 'He used to follow me upstairs and drag me downstairs' suggest that this act was repeated. Perhaps Hasti felt she had no power over the situation and could not protect herself, no matter how hard she tried to escape, such as by running upstairs. It appeared that the impact of physical violence continued after ending the abusive relationship, as she suffered chronic pain.

Ziba, meanwhile, described a sense of shock caused by the start of physical violence:

...Yes he used to hit me physically. He started to slap me on the day we got married, do you believe that? When he did it I was so in shock as if as if it was happening to someone else.

Ziba's words might illustrate that she experienced physical violence more than once. Ziba suggested that this was unexpected, causing her a sense of depersonalisation. Her words 'do you believe that' illustrate shock as the result of being exposed to physical violence on such an important day.

Like Ziba, Shahin talked about her experience of physical violence:

One day when he became angry he kicked me, broke lots of plates and TV yes. I was so shocked but from that day he started to beat me any time even in front of his friends. I was in shock in the beginning, but I started to be emotionally numb. I had no

emotion it helped me to not feeling pain and shame. I didn't invite anyone because he used to beat me up in front of them.

In this extract, it appeared that Shahin distanced herself from her painful experience of physical violence, which included being kicked and beaten up. Similar to Parastoo's feelings about being attacked in front of mother-in-law, Shahin's use of the words 'in front of his friends' suggests she found it more shameful to experience physical violence in front of others. Her words 'one day' and 'from that day' suggest that Shahin experienced physical violence more frequently over time.

Finally, Mastaneh described how physical violence was followed by emotional and verbal violence:

In the beginning, he used to buy nice things for me and then after a month or two he changed. He was making any excuse to be angry. He didn't hit me, but one day I said to him 'why have you been late' and suddenly he slapped me. I was so in shock. I couldn't believe it was him doing it and I just cried. In the beginning, he used to shout then he had become physically violent. It was too much for me you know, and then he started to beat me nearly every day. He started to make fun of me and telling me 'you can't live without me' and I believed him, after a while he used to beat me humiliate me calling me names throwing things at me.

Mastaneh described violence which escalated gradually, from being shouted at to being slapped (that is, a change in the form of violence) to being beaten up most days (that is, a change in the frequency of violence). It appeared that Mastaneh, like Shahin and Ziba, felt

shocked and confused when she experienced physical violence for the first time; she seemed to suggest that she did not know how to feel, what to do, or how to make sense of the situation. Her words 'he started to make fun of me' and 'you can't live without me and I believed him' suggest Mastaneh was humiliated and devalued before experiencing physical violence, leading to a lack of confidence.

<u>Sub-Ordinate Theme 3.1.2. Psychological and emotional violence. "He used to humiliate</u> me in front of others."

Participants described psychological and emotional violence as having harmed their confidence, self-worth and self-esteem. The most common types of psychological and emotional violence included constant control, criticising, humiliating and belittling, especially in front of others. Shahin said:

I just used to listen to him criticising me (...) he started to humiliate me: the way I was walking, the way I was talking, and when we were with friends he used to finish my sentences and humiliate me in front of others. I was so withdrawn, so unhappy. I was hopeless, helpless and so ashamed.

Shahin described a consistent pattern of abuse; she was undermined, in front of others, by her partner's overtly manipulative behaviour. Shahin suggests the abuse targeted her self-esteem and self-worth, making her feel powerless and trapped. Her use of 'ashamed' suggests that she blames herself for the violence, leaving her isolated.

Ziba was criticised for her physical appearance:

He used to call me ugly. I started to hide from people. I started to think I am ugly. I am worthless; people don't want to see me.

Ziba described being humiliated by her partner, leaving her feeling unattractive, unwanted, and bad about herself. She internalised the idea of being ugly, making her feel that no one wanted to see her. A sense of low-self-worth and a loss of confidence come across here.

For Hasti, psychological violence included the threat that she would be killed and buried in an isolated place where no one could find her body:

He used to say: 'I would kill you with a knife, put you in a grave, and nobody would find you' (...) I think I expect not to live in fear anymore.

This extract reveals that Hasti had been threatened with a specific weapon – a knife – which would be used to kill her. This level of detail suggests that Hasti's partner had visualised a plan, increasing the possibility of this event occurring. Hasti's words 'I expect not to live in fear anymore' suggest that she expected to die, which that would at least end her fear. The words 'put you in a grave' and 'nobody can find you' suggest a frightening, graphic image of how isolated her body would be after her death. Hasti added:

At the moment, I feel so scared to go out, when it is dark even I pull the curtains because I think he would find me and kill me.

This illustrates that these graphic images continued to cause fear even after her separation. Similarly, Zohreh was threatened with death, with her partner providing a frightening image of her being trapped in their burning flat:

He started to threaten me: telling me he is going to kill me and my child. He used to threaten me that he is going to burn the flat.

Zohreh coped by being submissive:

So the only way I could see I can cope was to do whatever he wanted.

In this account, it was implied that Zohreh felt overwhelmed and powerless; being passive was the only way to prevent the frightening images from becoming reality.

Parastoo described manipulative behaviour and being accused of having an affair:

In the beginning, he was affectionate and caring, but when we got married, after a year, he changed. (...) He became more jealous more possessive: kept accusing me of having several affairs. I was thinking he is maybe insecure and felt so sorry for him. I

believed I could change him by spending time with him but that made me being isolated myself (...). I left twice but every time he would cry and I felt sorry for him and took him back. He was so manipulative; nice in the beginning to encourage you to give him another chance and then aggressive to keep you.

It appears that although Parastoo's language potentially distanced her from the manipulation – switching from 'I' to 'you' – she confirmed that she was controlled by her partner's tactics. Her use of the word 'nice' suggests that she felt deceived by her partner, thus giving him another chance and the opportunity to use direct violence at a later stage.

Finally, Mastaneh described a sense of isolation, saying:

I was so lonely. He made sure I had no one to talk to.

Mastaneh was aware that isolating her was a way for her abusive partner to control her.

Sub-Ordinate Theme 3.1.3. Other forms of domestic violence. "I had to ask for money for small things."

Some participants reported other types of controlling behaviours, including being forced to have sex and not being given enough money to buy essential goods for themselves or their children.

Three participants reported being forced to have sexual intercourse. For some, this happened once, whereas for others, it happened repeatedly. Parastoo explained:

...here, once he had forced me to have sex, but it was so difficult to prove this (...) I think if I could prove these he would be in prison.

The extract demonstrates that Parastoo was forced to have sexual intercourse once. By the time of the interview, she was aware of her rights and knew that forcing someone to have sex against their wishes had legal consequences for the perpetrator if it could be proven in the UK. This is not consistent with Iranian culture, where it has been suggested that women are held responsible for meeting their husbands' sexual needs and there are no consequences for rape in marriage (Janghorban et al., 2015).

Hasti, meanwhile, experienced sexual violence more often:

...He used to have sex with me when I wasn't ready. I remember I was on my period.

I told him I can't do it, and he said 'be quiet I will do it right now' and I couldn't even shout (...) I was frozen.

Hasti's words 'he said be quiet' and 'I couldn't shout' suggest powerlessness; it appears that she experienced temporary paralysis, leaving her frozen and unable to shout. Hasti's memory of her husband words 'I will do it right now' suggest a perception that her body was used as an object without any concern for her personality or dignity.

Some women reported being made financially dependent on their partner. Ziba explained:

... I thought I couldn't manage without him. I used to pay for our bills but he made me to believe that I cannot survive without him. I believed him for twelve years that I couldn't live without him financially (...) I had to ask for money.

In this extract, it is suggested that Ziba felt trapped in her relationship as the result of being manipulated to think that she could not manage financially by herself. Her use of the words 'he made me to believe' suggests that she was manipulated to feel dependent financially, even though she was paying for the essentials. Ziba's tone ('I had to ask for money') suggests low self-esteem and confidence as a result of being controlled financially.

Parastoo reported that she had never been involved in making financial decisions and always had to ask for money, meaning she had difficulty meeting her children's needs:

He never asked me about what I like or how to invest money I mean he never discussed financial thing and I had to ask him to give me money I was always short of money I couldn't even buy things for my children. I was so ashamed (...) I was so unhappy (...) fearful of future because I did not know how he spends our money and I had no money for my children this was so hard to accept.

Parastoo's words 'hard to accept' suggest that she had no option but to accept this level of financial violence. However, she was still 'ashamed', suggesting self-blame. It appeared that she felt ashamed and scared that she could not buy things for her children or

have financial security. Parastoo, like Ziba, reported asking for money from her partner. This implies that Parastoo was made to feel less valued and deserving of respect through an abusive tactic used to dismantle equality within the relationship.

It appeared that Hasti's partner used money to exercise his power within their relationship, even though Hasti was employed and earning money:

I was working and I had to give all my money to them [he and his mother] and ask for money for small things. I used to ask 'why should I have to asked for my own money' and he and his mother slapped me when I asked this question and I stopped even talking.

Like Ziba and Parastoo, Hasti had to ask for money. A sense of powerlessness comes across here; it seemed the fact that the violence also came from Hasti's partner's mother added to the extreme low self-worth she experienced in her marriage. Her words 'I stopped talking' suggest she was silenced after being slapped by her mother-in-law for asking for her own money. This incident was so important that it stopped Hasti talking.

<u>Super-Ordinate Theme 3.2: Impact of domestic violence on women: hopeless and helpless</u>

The findings suggested that all participants' lives were impacted as a result of domestic violence. This theme splits into two sub-themes: Impact on psychological wellbeing and Impact on women's identity and sense of self.

<u>Sub-Ordinate Theme 3.2.1. Impact on psychological wellbeing. "I was hopeless and helpless."</u>

All participants reported that their psychological well-being had been affected by domestic violence. Zoreh described feeling depressed:

...I thought it was my fault. I thought I don't do things properly and he gets frustrated. I tried very hard, but then I noticed even when I do things as he wants he gets angry (...) I used to be a very happy woman but I had become so depressed because of his behaviour. I didn't want to care about my clothes or do makeup. I wanted to stay in my room all the time (...) I had no energy.

Zohreh's words 'I used to be a very happy woman' and 'I had become depressed because of his behaviour' suggest she experienced depression after domestic violence. She reported symptoms of depression; losing interest in looking after herself and suffering from tiredness. Her use of the words 'I didn't want to care about my clothes' suggest that Zohreh may have been able to care about her physical appearance, but she had chosen otherwise, retaining a level of control in her abusive relationship. However, these words also suggest that she was so low that she did not even want to care, a level beyond just not caring. It seems that Zohreh had difficulty connecting with people, further indicating depression.

Several participants who felt depressed either developed suicidal thoughts or attempted to commit suicide.

Ziba: I attempted to kill myself three times, but every time he took me to hospital. I guess he wanted me to be alive to make me suffer.

Hasti: I used a scarf to kill myself, but I remembered my children and didn't do it.

Mastaneh: I started to think about killing myself. I was so scared. I tried to kill myself four times can you see these marks on my wrist? I cut my wrist and slept on the bed once hoping I would die. The second time, I went to my room and I took fifty tablets of anti-depressants but again I didn't die I was so desperate.

These participants' accounts suggested that they felt hopeless and powerless whilst in their abusive relationships. Ziba and Mastaneh repeatedly tried to kill themselves, illustrating the severe level of their depression and desperation. Ziba's words' wanted me alive' and 'make me suffer' are striking. It appeared that, in Ziba's mind, her husband took her to hospital each time to have another opportunity to make her life painful; this suggested that she didn't consider this a caring act but instead assumed he did this so he could continue to exercise his power within their relationship.

Experiencing domestic violence led to a serious consideration of suicide for Hasti also, who had a means of ending her life (a scarf) in mind. It appeared that she attempted to put her ideas into action but did not end her life because of her children. Hasti's phrase 'I used a scarf to kill myself' is striking as it sounds she perceived the attempt as successful, suggesting the level of hopelessness and emotional pain she was suffering.

Parastoo reported being diagnosed with mental health issues including PTSD and depression after attending counselling sessions:

72

It has helped me to realise that I am suffering from trauma and depression.

She added:

...I freeze when someone raises his voice, I am not quick enough to respond to danger, and defend myself. My counsellor says I have been traumatised and is natural to feel like this.

Parastoo's narrative suggests a perception that she suffers from PTSD; she freezes when she senses danger, such as from a raised voice. One wonders if this refers to all types of raised voice, or a specific type, such as an angry voice; her use of the word 'his', as opposed to 'their' or 'her', suggest that hearing a man raising his voice is triggering, reminding her of her abusive relationship with her husband. It appeared that experiencing domestic violence had a severe impact on Parastoo's psychological well-being, which continued long after the experience ended.

Shahin and Hasti reported experiencing anxiety. Shahin said:

I used to be angry and anxious all the time. It was so bad I couldn't start a task. I couldn't apply for a job...

The account suggested that experiencing domestic violence caused Shahin to suffer from severe anxiety; she felt on edge all the time. It also appeared that she had difficulty focusing.

Hasti, similarly, reported anxiety:

... I just wanted to be safe (...) I'm so anxious (...) because I think the world and people in it are dangerous.

Hasti's use of the present tense suggests that her sense of safety continues to be impacted by her abusive relationship. It also appeared that the relationship shaped her worldview in a specific, predictable way. This might suggest that she developed biased attention, meaning she generalised her abusive experience to the wider world and perceived others as a threat.

Sub-Ordinate Theme 3.2.2. Impact on women's identity and sense of self. "I didn't like the person who was in the mirror."

The findings of the study suggested that all participants took their role as caring partners and mothers seriously during their abusive relationships. However, this appeared to come at a cost. Zohreh reported:

... I used to listen to his problems and how he had been treated badly by his father. I had become his counsellor. It was so strange. I knew he is not normal (...) I couldn't watch myself in the mirror. I didn't like the person who was in the mirror. I had no

confidence I had difficulty to trust myself to make a decision about a simple thing. I couldn't even decide what to wear or what to cook.

Zohreh's use of the word 'counsellor' is important as it describes how she felt in her abusive relationship; perhaps she was emotionally supporting her 'not normal' partner. It appeared that Zohreh felt she had taken on a role as a supportive person, listening to her abusive partner while he unloaded. Zohreh's use of language suggested that she knew this was not how a marriage should be. Her words 'I couldn't watch myself in the mirror' are important as they might imply that taking this role within the abusive relationship led to difficulty integrating her identity into a unified whole; it appeared that she experienced an identity split. This might highlight Zoreh's awareness of the impact of domestic violence. Her identity became fragile; her words 'I didn't like' suggest self-hate.

Shahin, like Zohreh, coped by concentrating on caring for her children and abusive partner:

I stayed at home and just looked after the children (...) I tried to listen to his problems to help him and do whatever he wanted, so he wouldn't get angry (...) after a while I didn't know who really I am. I was dressing like he wanted. I was walking talking like he wanted. I didn't know exactly who I was anymore. I wasn't a person anymore. I was like one of his belongings.

Shahin's language 'belongings' and 'wasn't a person' suggests a sense of being objectified. Shahin, like Zohreh, stated that her identity as a woman had become less important to her, leading her to only focus on her abusive husband and children's needs. A sense of sacrifice arises. Her words 'I didn't know who I was' suggested a lost sense of self.

Parastoo, like Zohreh and Shahin, talked about her caring role:

I tried to give him love pay attention to him, so he could give love to my children but nothing happened. I used to spend so much time listening to his problems, especially here that we had no one. He used to tell me all his problems and I was more than a wife to him. I was his friend. (...) I felt so worthless and felt so trapped. I had no hope for future and lost my self-confidence I used to feel so much shame and feeling I am not an important person...

In this account, it is implied that Parastoo adopted a caring role towards her husband. Like Zohreh, Parastoo paid attention to her husband's emotional needs; despite being a wife and a friend at the same time, she did not get anything in return. It seems that Parastoo's abusive husband may have pulled the attention and spotlight onto himself in their unhealthy, toxic relationship. Further, her words 'he give love to my children' suggest that she performed this caring role to ensure her children were loved by their dad, without mentioning her needs. This suggested that she was in the background, suffering from low confidence and self-worth. Parastoo's word 'ashamed' is important as it suggests that she felt inadequate, unimportant, undeserving, or not good enough within this unhealthy relationship.

Similarly, Mastaneh reported low self-worth and confidence:

As a woman I felt worthless (...) I felt I've no value (...) I felt I had no value. I lost my self-respect and confidence and used to (...) I was so ashamed and wanted to change myself so he would like me. His values were my values. I had no opinion about anything (...) I had no control in life and all I was thinking about to be what he wants, to do what he wants. I became nobody. After a while I had no emotions (...) it was like even when he was beating me he was hitting someone else. It was so strange feeling.

In this account, it is implied that experiencing domestic violence impacted Mastaneh's self-worth and self-esteem. Like Parastoo, Mastaneh described a sense of shame; it seemed that she felt there was something wrong with her as a woman. It appeared that Mastaneh perceived her feelings of low self-esteem and shame to have led her to become increasingly dependent on her abusive partner. Like Shahin, Mastaneh's words 'I had no opinion' and 'I became nobody' suggest a fragmented sense of self and lack of agency; a strong sense of being objectified and dehumanised come across here. Further, Mastaneh's repetitive language depicts a sense of dissociation and depersonalisation.

Ziba described the impact of domestic violence on her identity after ending the relationship:

I am not only responsible for making dinner, cleaning the house like Iran. I am also able to make decision about other things like which school they go: something that he used to not even discuss with me you know (...) now I am a manager at work. I believe in my abilities I am independent and my children enjoy spending time with me (...) yes no to be honest, I cannot trust men I don't want to live with anyone. I want to concentrate on myself and my children. I have spent enough time to please others. I do not know what a healthy relationship is. I forget about my own needs and and people take advantage of it.

The above narrative suggested that Ziba constructed a new identity as an independent worker, illustrating her attempt to rebuild herself. However, her words 'take advantage' suggest that once the relationship ended, her identity as a woman remained fragile. It seemed that she was unable to meet her needs within a relationship – her words 'please others' stress this, suggesting she is aware that others may take advantage of her caring acts.

Like Ziba, Hasti appeared to prioritise her role as a mother. However, it seemed that she had not yet been able to construct a new identity:

...I didn't have that chance or better to say that power in Iran. I am so proud of that as a mum you know. I would like to have a caring relationship but I can't have it. I'm different from others. I'm living in another planet and nobody can help me.

Hasti appeared to feel satisfied as she talked about rebuilding her children's lives; however, it seemed that she had been so negatively affected by domestic violence that she had no hope for her future. It is possible that despite Hasti's pride as a mum, she continued to feel inadequate. Her words 'different from others' highlight a lack of belonging, even after ending the abusive relationship. Further, her phrase 'living in another planet' is a powerful statement, suggesting feelings of being isolated, cut off and beyond hope.

<u>Super-Ordinate Theme 3.3: Impact of domestic violence on women's relationships:</u> judged and guilty

All participants talked about the effect of domestic violence on their relationships. This theme splits into two sub-themes: Relationship with family and Relationship with the Iranian community.

Sub-Ordinate Theme 3.3.1. Relationship with family. "My family only judge me harshly."

All participants, apart from Parastoo, reported feeling detached from their family as the result of being judged. Further, all participants talked about shame and stigma as the result of being divorced. It appeared that they also perceived that their families felt ashamed as a result of their marital status. Zohreh said:

My family think because they have tolerated it I should have done the same: I should have stayed with him. All my family have been like this. My aunt used to be beaten up by her husband and used to tell me that's how it is. She stayed with him until he died and she was so unhappy. Her children were so unhappy, but they see me as a family breaker because I have done differently. I can't even tell some of them I am a divorced woman because they think I have brought shame on the family. I have lost

all the past relationships, even my own family, because they made me feel as a bad woman. I think what I am doing is so brave. It is so easy to go along with other people standing for your right is not easy. I will be with people who accept me as I am and avoid those who make me feel bad about myself.

Zohreh suggested that she does not feel part of her family; she finds it difficult to be honest about ending her abusive relationship for fear of judgement. Her language suggested her awareness that, unlike her family, she did not tolerate abuse, making her different. Her words 'brought shame on the family' and 'I cannot even tell some of them' indicated that Zohreh feels that some of her family had internalised feelings of shame and stigma regarding her position as a divorced woman, making it impossible for her to talk about it to them.

Zohreh's use of the words 'lost all the relationships even my own family' and 'it is easy to go along with other people' suggested that she feels her family had a choice to treat her differently but instead chose the easy option of conforming with others. As a result, she felt that ending her relationship with them was her best option.

It seemed that Ziba, like Zohreh, was unable to talk about her divorce with her immediate family:

I haven't told many members of my families in Iran I am divorced. My uncles and their daughters don't know this because if they know they think bad about me (...) I can imagine they say 'what she is living there by herself so can do whatever she wants'. This means I am not a good woman and spend time with different men you see that's all they think about. I hate it. That is disgusting (...) they think women like

me just think about themselves and divorce their husband so they can do whatever they want. My old friends and family are the same. They think I have shamed them because I live on my own and a good woman doesn't live by herself (...) I feel so much anger inside. It is so unfair.

Ziba described that being unfairly judged impacted her ability to feel close to her family. It appeared that there was a sense here that 'not a good woman' would divorce her husband on purpose; Ziba's words 'women like me' suggests that she perceived her family saw her differently from other women because of her marital status, assuming a lack of loyalty to the father of her children. Ziba's anger may be related to her perception that her family and friends had internalised shame, disapproval, and perhaps stigma about divorce and so have treated her unfairly, making her feel angry and frustrated as a result of her relationship with them. One might wonder whether Ziba's account may suggest that Ziba felt frustrated with her family and her culture, since families share a culture and uphold specific values.

Like Zohreh and Ziba, several participants talked about their families' response to their divorce. They also talked about their families' response to the fact that they had contacted the police. Shahin said:

...None of us wants to go back. Yes if I go back they start to tell me: 'why you called the police you should have talked to him, your children need their dad, you are the reason they have no dad, you have brought shame to our family, you are now a divorced woman, how can we look at the neighbours now, we have no Aberoo'

81

Shahin's narrative suggested an internal conversation with her family, suggesting her discomfort over hearing what they think about her life as a divorced woman and her difficulty relating to them. The extract suggests that she avoids being physically close to her family. Her use of the word 'us' rather than 'I' is important as this demonstrates that her children are also not willing to live in the same country as the rest of their family. This suggests that Shahin and her children are one team, and the rest of the family are an opposing team. Like Zohreh and Ziba, Shahin suggests that, in her view, her family had internalised shame and stigma of divorce, which became a driving force in how they treated her. Shahin's view of the stigma her family attach to being divorced is highlighted by the word 'Aberoo' (conformity to social prestige) and 'how can we look at the neighbours'. It seemed that Shahin felt her family disapproved of her position as a divorced woman due to a lack of conformity. It is possible that Shahin also perceived that her family expected her to keep the violence secret; this suggests that talking openly about domestic violence is a taboo which Shahin had breached by calling the police. It is also possible that Shahin, like Ziba, felt frustrated with her culture as families share culture.

Mastaneh stated that she would like to be left alone by her parents:

Even here my parents don't leave me alone. They keep telling me 'why did you call the police? Why you have done this now? Other people think bad about us, we have no Aberoo'. I'm fed up of this. They do care about what other people think. They don't think about how I am living. We live only once. They wanted me to stay with an

angry man for the rest of my life (...) you see they've forced me to marry someone, and I bring shame on the family.

Mastaneh described frustration and anger with her family as she felt they cared about what others think more than her quality of life. Her words 'bring shame' and 'forced me' suggest that she felt her family shifted the blame on her. Like Shahin, Mastaneh appeared to report that her family internalised the stigma attached to calling the police with the word 'Aberoo'. It seemed that Mastaneh felt that her family were ashamed as, by reporting her husband to the police, she did not conform. Her frustration suggests that she perceived her family to have ignored her needs by criticising her disclosure to the police; she perceived that, for her family, any discussion of domestic violence was taboo, meaning it should be kept within the family. Her words 'we only live once' might illustrate why she had gone against their wishes and changed her life; she won't get a second chance. Note she switched from 'I' to 'we', suggesting she thought that her whole family, as well as herself, should aim for a good quality of life. Mastaneh's use of the words 'my parents don't even leave me alone here' and 'I am fed up with this' suggested that she is frustrated at her family and the way they relate to her, rather than being angry towards Iranian culture.

Hasti reported being rejected by her family:

Nobody wants to know me. My brother even has told me that if I go back he would kill me himself because I have brought shame to the family they (...) criticise me for calling the police and they aren't happy at all that I can stay here free. They only care

about other people and how they think about our family. Now, I am a divorced and having a divorced woman in the family is shameful...

Hasti's words 'nobody wants to know me' suggest that she is willing to have a relationship with her family; however, she had been shunned by everyone and threatened by her brother. This might suggest that Hasti, like others, perceived that her family saw her marital status as a source of shame. Like Shahin and Mastaneh, Hasti felt that her family cared more about others than her as they criticised her for calling the police. It appears that Hasti felt that her family thought it more important to keep the violence secret than to care for her.

<u>Sub-Ordinate Theme 3.3.2. Relationship with the Iranian community. "I avoid Iranian people completely."</u>

All participants reported an unwillingness to communicate with and relate to the Iranian community. Hasti said:

...I feel so trapped in my community and I avoid them (...) I've no Iranian friend and avoid going anywhere that Iranian people are. Even if I noticed that they are Iranian people around me I stop talking in Persian because I know they would start asking questions about my past and that's painful.

Having settled in the UK, it appeared that Hasti preferred not to communicate with Iranian people as she felt trapped when forced to talk about her past. Her account suggested

that she adopted the strategy of not talking in Persian to prevent any Iranian people getting close to her.

It appeared that Parastoo, like Hasti, felt disconnected from the Iranian community as a result of being judged:

No, I wouldn't like to be judged and I think Iranian communities just judge you. If they know that I've called the police, I'll be seen as a selfish woman who has broken a family but in reality I was a victim and I feel they put me in a position I have to defend myself and I don't like that. Why should I defend myself for something that somebody else has done you know? I have done nothing wrong.

Parastoo's account suggested that she did not feel accepted by the Iranian community because of her past, meaning she avoided Iranian people. Parastoo's words 'if they know that I've called the police' suggest that calling the police is forbidden, indicating that only selfish women would do such a thing in the Iranian community. Parastoo's language is striking—broken sounds violent—the violence is perceived to be committed by her, whereas it was actually committed by her husband. Note that she had to defend herself from the community, as she once had to defend herself from her husband. It seemed that, in Parastoo's view, the violence shifted from the marriage to the community.

Ziba, like Parastoo and Hasti, felt judged by the Iranian community and could not be herself with them:

...I don't think I want to have anything to do with Iranian people, sad to say but I can't be myself with them. I mean I have to pretend to be someone who I am not. I have to tell them I have a partner (...) at least here you can live without fear, fear of what others think about you because you haven't kept the family together or you are a divorced woman. You are a person here (...) I don't have one (partner) and I don't say a lie just to be accepted, accepted by who? People who did hurt me, who humiliate me, who degrade me to the point I couldn't choose a dress for myself. I am feeling sad but I don't feel as part of Iranian community. I mean I want to be accepted as I am I want to be around people who respect me.

Ziba described dissociation from the Iranian community. Her repetition of the word 'sad' suggests she wished to be close to them but could not be, as they rejected her due to her situation. Note she switched from past tense ('people who did hurt me') to present ('humiliate me, degrade me'), suggesting that Ziba generalised this to the whole Iranian community. Ziba's account suggested that she perceived being a single woman as shameful and felt she needed to pretend to be married in front of the Iranian community—an unpleasant and unacceptable task for her.

Shahin, like Ziba, stressed that she had no intention of having relationships with Iranian people for now:

I don't think I can relate to Iranian people. You know, when you are with other people you want them to feel good about themselves and they make you feel good about

yourself. With Iranian people I feel bad about myself. I feel I am a selfish person because I have called the police. I feel I am a family breaker and I am the reason that my children are not with their real dad.

Like Parastoo, Shahin's language is striking; her use of the words 'I feel I am a family breaker' suggest that she felt she had committed a violent act. This suggested that Shahin had internalised the view that some Iranian people have of divorced women, making her feel bad about herself when she is in contact with them. Her language indicates self-criticism and guilt over calling the police and failing to keep the family together. Shahin perceived calling the police as forbidden – something only a selfish person would do. Shahin saw the Iranian community as having similar thoughts about women who called the police, suggesting she avoided Iranian people to stop feeling bad about herself.

In contrast, Zohreh saw herself as different from others in the Iranian community:

I don't feel comfortable with them. It is not nice to talk with people you know they are thinking you are not doing what you are expected to do. I feel so different from them and I rather to be happy living with my partner and child. I just avoid them and that makes me a stronger person. I feel good that I can stand up and do something good for myself. If they don't accept me, then I don't accept what they say too.

Zohreh's language might reflect empowerment. Her use of the words 'avoid them' and 'stronger person' suggest that being part of the Iranian community made her feel

powerless. It appeared that Zohreh was aware of how Iranian people might think about women in her situation. Hence, she chose to avoid them; a strategy which increased her self-value and confidence. Her use of the words 'I don't accept what they say' suggests that she has not internalised the gender-based expectations of the Iranian community.

Mastaneh, unlike other participants, expressed anger towards the Iranian community after being shunned by them for being different:

Iranian especially women as soon as they find out I'm a single divorced woman they don't want to know me anymore. They cut the relationship. They think perhaps I'm going to be friendly with their husband. They judge me before they know me. If they are a man they just think I would have bad influence on their wives because I have called the police without even asking the reason why I did that. I feel angry because again I feel alone abandoned by my own community you see...

Mastaneh's account reflects a sense of being re-victimised by the Iranian community, making her feel powerless and rejected. Mastaneh would like to have relationships with Iranian people, but cannot because of her past. She reported being rejected more by Iranian women than men. It appeared that Mastaneh perceived that the opinions about her changed because she had called the police, which is not acceptable within the Iranian community.

Superordinate Theme 3.4: The cultural experience of being a female victim of domestic violence

The findings of the study suggested that all six participants were aware of the possible disadvantages of being a woman in Iranian culture and described feeling under pressure to keep the family together as well as being stigmatised due to their status as divorced women. It also seemed that cultural beliefs defined and impacted their experiences of female victimisation. All participants reported the opportunity to develop a new understanding of themselves as women in their new host country. This theme splits into three sub-themes: Cultural pressure to keep the family together; Human rights and self-acceptance as a woman in Iran and the UK; and Living with new 'self' in a new cultural context.

Sub-Ordinate Theme 3.4.1. Cultural pressure to keep the family together: a failed woman. "Being a woman means to care about your children and husband's needs all the time."

All participants appeared to believe that they needed to accept a caring role towards their family to keep that family together. This was felt to align with Iranian views on gender roles and remained the case regardless of their husbands' abusive behaviour. Ziba explained:

Women have a duty to meet their husband's need. That is what I think, or what I have learnt. I don't know, but in Iran they teach girls that a good woman doesn't ask for sex first, and just do it when the husband wants it. I couldn't say no because it was one of my jobs, but I never enjoyed it. I mean how can you? When they insult you (...) If the husband is nice to the children not the woman, I think she should wait until children are older, and as a woman it is important to make sure they have food clean house and a kind father. That is the duty of a woman I think.

Ziba's account suggested a sense of being concerned with family loyalty and preserving her marriage. Ziba was influenced by the expectation that she would satisfy her

partner's needs, especially sexual needs, to ensure he was happy in their relationship and so that her children could live with their father. Her use of words 'that is what I think, or what I have learnt' make one wonder if this way of thinking comes from her, or if it was embedded onto her; the words might suggest that she had started to realise that this attitude is an external way of thinking about family life. A sense of sacrifice comes across here; Ziba's words 'how can you when they insult you' suggest that she engaged in sexual activity with her husband even though she could not enjoy it as a result of his verbal violence, which evoked a sense of humiliation. Note that Ziba used 'you' instead of 'I' when she talked about sex, which may indicate that she was creating distance from her experiences, demonstrating depersonalisation. Her discussion of meeting her partner's sexual needs is striking, suggesting the pressure she felt, perceiving sex as one of her 'duties'. Ziba's use of the words 'I couldn't say no' and 'it was one of my jobs' illustrate that she felt she had no option but to follow what was expected of her as a woman. This double lack of agency suggests she had no influence on her relationship, but felt passive and hopeless. Additionally, Ziba considered her children's lives without her, emphasising that a woman has a duty to fulfil a caring role and provide a kind father for children; Ziba might have perceived that not only it was her duty to do what her husband wanted, it was also her duty to make him kind to the children, suggesting that she took responsibility for both of their actions.

Hasti said:

In Iran, when a woman gets married they should stay in that marriage and if the marriage fails it's the woman's fault and other men they think they can have sex with them because they don't have a husband. It's a shame for the family. So I've brought shame to the family. Why? Because I'm a divorced woman and haven't kept the

family together and my children don't have a father because of me. I feel we as women we're always a victim. Whatever we do we're guilty.

Hasti described how women are held responsible for keeping the family together, linking this to how men view divorced women in Iranian culture. She implied that men perceive divorced women, or perhaps single women, as available for sexual relationships, but one wonders if the women have a choice in this. She also described the pressure on women to remain married, partly to keep the family together and partly to avoid the stigma of divorce. Hasti's language (that is, questioning and answering) might illustrate her perception of herself, in line with Iranian culture, as a failed woman who brought shame on the family and is responsible for the failed marriage. Switching from 'I' to 'we' in the final sentences suggests that she considered all Iranian women victims, including herself. Her words 'whatever we do we are guilty' suggest it felt impossible to be accepted or valued as a woman within Iranian cultural standards. This also suggests internal conflict. It appeared that Hasti wanted to be accepted and valued by her family but felt this is unlikely due to Iranian cultural values. A sense of hopelessness comes across this extract.

Zohreh described confusion and feeling like a failure due to the woman's responsibility for holding an Iranian family together:

... It's the culture you know. In Iran, people see a divorced woman as a failed person. They think the woman hasn't been successful to keep the family together. Sometimes I feel I am the reason my [child] can't see [real dad] and that hurts sometimes. I feel I should have tried harder. I should have talked to my ex-husband more try to keep the family together for my [child's] sake. Yes, is not easy. I have conflicting feelings

because I know I have done the right thing but at the same time I wish we could still be a family. That's not easy.

Note that Zohreh repeats 'it is not easy'. She found it difficult to stay in the relationship yet also had difficulty facing the consequences of ending the relationship. Zohreh may have internalised Iranian cultural values about family life and, therefore, held herself responsible for her child not having her dad around. Zohreh appeared to hint at a tension between the fact that she left her husband and her feelings about having done so; a sense of self-doubt arises. One wonders if her conflicting feelings only came from her cultural background (that is, pressure to keep the family together) or if they are a combination of cultural background and feeling responsible for her child, who lives without her real dad.

Continuing the theme of a cultural pressure to keep the family together, several participants used similar narratives when talking about cultural values around family.

Parastoo: To be honest, I think as a family we are a failure and part of me feels responsible for that. Part of me knows I had to do this I had to protect myself and my children but part of me feels that nobody is going to love my children like their dad and that hurts.

Mastaneh: As a woman part of me feels they are right. You see the reason: I should have been able to make our marriage work, but the other part of me knows it was not healthy for me.

Shahin: You see part of me feel guilty because sometimes I think my partner is not their real dad and sometimes when they introduce themselves they are not sure to say stepdad or dad.

It appeared that these three participants felt pressure to hold the family together, regardless of their partners' abusive behaviour. Their narratives suggested that they had internalised Iranian culture regarding family structure. Note that both Mastaneh and Shahin used the words 'part of me', suggesting a sense of self-division and self-doubt over ending their abusive relationships. Additionally, in contrast with other women, it seemed that Parastoo perceived all her family members ('we') as failures following the marriage breakdown, rather than just herself. This suggests that Parastoo focused on her family's welfare and needs as a whole, suggesting an awareness of her partner's responsibility for their failing marriage.

Sub-Ordinate Theme 3.4.2. Human rights and self-acceptance as a woman in Iran and the UK. "In Iran, I was treated like dirt, but here [in the UK] I feel I am being treated like others."

All participants reported that they experienced domestic violence because of their gender. Zohreh said:

I have rights here and I live like a human but in Iran I had no right because I was a woman. Yes, the main factor I left was violence and the main factor I have stayed here is violence...

It seemed that Zohreh decided to leave her country because of domestic violence and her lack of rights as a woman. Zohreh's use of the word human is strong; in Iran, there is no chance for her to live a life free of violence because her rights have been breached, whereas in the UK, she has access to human rights. Her words 'I live like human here' suggested a sense of being dehumanised in Iran. It appeared that Zohreh portrayed a world where individuals are treated differently based on their gender; men have all the rights, and women are disadvantaged.

Hasti, like Zohreh, talked about how she felt as a woman after moving to the UK:

Coming to the UK, I think at least it helped me to realise I have rights as a human being. Something that's very new.

It seemed that Hasti, like Zohreh, did not feel she had rights in Iran. However, perhaps moving to the UK enabled her to realise she is entitled to human rights because she is a human being, regardless of her gender. Hasti's words 'something that's very new' reveal that she was accustomed to being denied equality in Iran, and only became aware of inequality and her previous disadvantages after moving to the UK.

It appeared that Parastoo felt that being a woman was the main reason she had no support when she experienced domestic violence:

I hated that I was a woman. Being a woman meant I had no help. I was treated like dirt. I felt so worthless and felt so trapped.

A sense of self-hate as a result of gender comes across here. Note that Parastoo felt trapped. Her narrative suggested that she saw being a woman as a disadvantage which caused her to experience domestic violence and so feel worthless. Parastoo's word 'dirt' is strong and powerful; she has no chance of being respected and valued as a woman. A sense of worthlessness as the result of being treated like a nuisance comes across here. Like Zohreh, Parastoo's use of language suggested a sense of being dehumanised by her abusive partner. Her account evokes an overwhelming sense of being trapped and hopeless as a woman in her own country.

Similarly, Shahin said that coming to the UK was a starting point for the realisation that she had been denied human rights in Iran:

I feel valued. I feel people listen to me. They hear me. They see me. I am like others. I mean I am being treated like others, and I have learnt so much. I mean when I was in Iran I used to think being treated badly, I mean if your husband hits you, or criticise you is normal. It is part of family life, but when I came here and I saw other women (...) I know now it isn't normal to live like that violence is not part of family life.

Shahin felt valued, seen and heard by others in the UK, suggesting she was invisible to others when she experienced domestic violence in Iran. She then explained that she felt she

is like others because she is treated like others, regardless of her gender. It appeared that for Shahin, coming to the UK was a learning curve which forced her to reconsider her views about family life. Perhaps she had internalised domestic violence, accepting it as a normal part of family life. Her account suggested that coming to the UK helped her to realise that this is not the case.

Mastaneh also argued that coming to the UK enabled her to experience a new life as a woman:

I'm so happy I came here. Life is different for women in Iran, you know. You are expected to do whatever your parents tell you to do, even they tell you what topic you study at university (...) I don't think girls have any choices.

It appeared that coming to the UK was positive for Mastaneh, as she gained the freedom to decide about what to do with her life, something that was not possible in Iran due to her gender. Mastaneh's account suggested that, in her view, girls and women are told what to do and have no options; her use of the present tense in 'I don't think girls have any choices' indicated that she continues to think this, suggesting an internal conflict. It appeared that, on one hand, she recognised her new rights, but on the other, it was hard for her to accept them. It also seemed that the lack of freedom included every aspect of her life, from making decisions about what topic to study to the person she could marry:

You see my dad didn't give me any choice. I had to marry a man that I knew he wasn't normal (...) when I came here I learnt that forcing someone to get married to

someone they don't want to even your own child is wrong, and if police find out you will be in trouble.

After coming to the UK, it seemed that Mastaneh realised that forcing someone to get married is a crime, suggesting she is aware she has been victimised by her father. Mastaneh's account suggested that, in her view, women in Iran are passive, obeying and following what they are expected to do. Hence, it is easy to see that moving to the UK and being exposed to different treatment might encourage a woman to reconsider her position as an obedient individual.

Finally, Parastoo used a metaphor to describe feeling trapped:

Coming here I learnt I don't have to live in fear. I am happier now: I have rights like others. I felt like I am the fly which is in a spider's web and at least the fly is luckier because spider eats the fly in one go but I was destroyed little by little that's exactly how I was feeling.

It appeared that being a woman in Iran who was subjected to domestic violence destroyed Parastoo gradually. Her account suggested that coming to her host country enabled her to realise her human rights and live like others. Her use of the metaphor 'I felt like I am the fly in a spider web' suggests that she felt trapped in a lonely, dark place where all hope was lost; no matter how hard she fought or wriggled, she could not break free from feelings of powerlessness and hopelessness.

Sub-Ordinate Theme 3.4.3. Living with 'new' self in a new cultural context. "I'm independent now"

All participants described growing confidence in their ability to make important decisions about their lives as well as a change in their perspectives on gender roles after moving to the UK. Shahin said:

Oh words cannot say how I feel. I feel people listen to me. They don't say wait they don't say 'it is your fault'. I feel safe and I think I am free to make decisions about life: important decisions.

Shahin's phrase 'cannot say' suggests she felt a high level of gratitude and appreciation; Shahin felt safe and valued enough to make decisions for herself. Her language suggests that this is the first time she felt safe and free to talk, be listened to and make important decisions without being criticised. One wonders whether 'they' refers to her family and friends, partner, or wider society.

Zohreh talked about sharing household duties with her new partner:

When I came here I made a lot of friends who were living with their partners and and I noticed they are much happier because they do everything together (...) when we met I told him we share everything. If I do cleaning I expect you to cook and he was happy about it. I don't think it is fair when two people are working one of them comes

home and just relax and the other one and we know is the woman do all the work at home too. I work outside and I get tired like him yes of course I expect him to help.

It appeared that Zohreh reviewed her understanding of gender roles after observing her friends' lifestyles, and therefore, she developed a new way of thinking about family life and sharing household duties. Perhaps for Zoreh, being fair meant sharing responsibilities around the house. Her use of the words 'we know is the woman' suggested that in Zohreh's world, only women are treated unfairly, working outside and doing the housework after coming home.

Parastoo talked about her expectation that she will be respected and make important decisions with her new partner:

...I'm learning to respect myself and care about myself as a woman. I didn't have this opportunity in Iran because being a woman means just to care about others otherwise you aren't a good woman. You are a selfish woman. Yes I am in a relationship. I should say it took me a while to trust someone else but at last I did. Yes, my expectations have changed. I expect him to respect me, listening to me and value my opinion making sure both of us make decision including financial decision. I expect him to support me to reach my goals and I also provide these things for him. I believe in equality.

Parastoo's account suggested that after moving to the UK, she started to develop a sense of self-respect, establishing a relationship with a new partner. It was also implied that Parastoo had been under pressure in Iran to avoid caring for herself so she would not be seen as selfish. It appeared that equality in a relationship, which consists of making important decisions together, had become important for her. This narrative also suggested her ability to trust her partner.

In contrast, Ziba could not establish a new relationship due to a lack of trust:

... No to be honest I cannot trust men. I don't want to live with anyone. I want to concentrate on myself and my children. I have spent enough time to please others. I am not interested in a relationship with a man at all. I do not know what a healthy relationship is. I forget about my own needs and people take advantage of it. I need to I need to learn how to care about myself if I am in a relationship you know. (...) here, I feel my ideas are important as others I don't feel hopeless and helpless. I feel people see me and listen. I respect myself. I do enjoy life. Although we don't have much money but I believe in my abilities. I am independent.

Ziba's account suggested that she saw herself as an independent woman whose ideas were valued by others in the UK. However, it could also be that she had difficulty being independent and trusting in a relationship; therefore, she avoided relationships to protect the independence and self-care she developed in her host country. Her phrase 'I don't know what a healthy relationship is' is striking as it suggests Ziba's high level of self-awareness. It also

suggests the damage caused by domestic violence has continued even after the end of the relationship.

Mastaneh, meanwhile, referred to her expectation that she would be helped in household duties and raising children by her partner:

I can see the differences between Iranian people and British people. I think Iranian people don't have a healthy relationship because men always are more important than women and women always do less outside. I don't want that. I want more than this (...) I expect my partner to help me to raise the children to help me to keep the house clean and cook sometimes. You see I work as well. It's too much for one person to do all the things at home but you know when the children are small, I'd like to stay at home and look after them until they're three years old and I expect my partner to look after us financially. You see, I think women are better at looking after babies. I think that's something that women should do yes.

It appeared that coming to the UK changed Mastaneh's ideas about traditional gender roles. Her use of the active statements 'I don't want that, I want more than this' illustrated confidence, suggesting a sense of self-agency, mirroring the sense of control she developed over her role in a family and how she wanted her life to be. It seemed that she sought partnership in household duties. However, her account suggested that she still thought that certain things, such as looking after babies, were women's roles.

Finally, Hasti felt that her expectations of her partner had changed slowly; she focused on respect and feeling safe in a relationship:

I came here, people started to treat me differently and I felt important. I felt what I say counts. I became a person with opinions (...) yes I think without realising I know there are some little changes in my expectations. I won't commit myself but I know I shouldn't be treated the way I've been treated before because I am a woman. I think I expect not living in fear and physically feel safe.

It seemed that although Hasti felt valued, it was still difficult for her to trust others and establish a relationship. Perhaps her expectations changed, albeit slowly, almost without her realising. It appeared that that emotional security and being treated with respect were important parts of a relationship for Hasti; expectations which developed after moving to the UK. Her words 'I became a person with opinions' suggest Hasti's identity had been minimised and devalued in Iran; a sense of passivity arises. Also, this statement might imply that Hasti developed a sense of empowerment and entitlement after moving to the UK.

<u>Super-Ordinate Theme 3.5: Using the legal system and counselling services before and after immigration</u>

All participants talked about their experiences of using the UK legal system, while some reported using the legal system in Iran. Participants all also talked about using UK counselling services. This theme splits into two sub-themes: This is a family matter in Iran but I called the police in the UK and Using the counselling service in the UK.

Sub-Ordinate Theme 3.5.1. This is a family matter. "In Iran, the police said 'we cannot help', but here the police took my angry partner away."

Five participants talked about their experiences with the police in Iran. Hasti said:

...I called the police and do you know what they said to me? They said 'don't call us again this is family problem. This isn't our job. Listen to your husband and be a good wife' that's what they said.

Hasti's words 'this is a family problem' suggest that the police response reflects the cultural framing of domestic violence in Iran. Hasti's questioning tone indicates her shock as a result of this response. Her repetition of 'that's what they said' might imply difficulty believing what she heard; her expectations were not met by the Iranian police.

Similarly, Mastaneh felt unsupported by the police:

I phoned the police when my husband hit me and I was in a very bad state, but they said, 'why have you called us this isn't our business, he's your husband this is a family issue'. They didn't even let me to finish my sentences, exactly like my parents. I felt so humiliated and so scared.

Like Hasti, Mastaneh's phrase 'this is a family issue' suggests that the police response mirrored the cultural framing of domestic violence in Iran. It seems Mastaneh felt silenced by police, reminding her of her parents' responses; one wonders if she was talking about her childhood, or this was how her parents speak to her about the issue now. A sense of being belittled arises. The words 'I felt so humiliated, and so scared' suggest that the police response made Mastaneh feel inferior and powerless.

Shahin reported a similar experience:

I called the police once and they said, 'this is a family problem and we cannot help'. How can you feel safe like that? I used to feel so hopeless. I had no confidence to stand up to him. He was physically stronger than me much much stronger and nobody tried to help me.

Shahin's report, like those of Hasti and Mastaneh, suggests that the police response reflects the cultural framing of domestic violence in Iran. Shahin phrased her narrative as a question, using 'you' rather than 'I'; perhaps she was inviting others to imagine her situation. A lack of agency might arise as a result of Shahin's helplessness, as she compared her physical strength to that of her husband.

Zohreh, like others, felt let down by the police in Iran, although she related this to her gender:

I called police myself. They don't even let you say what has happened to you. They don't take women and their problems seriously. You can imagine when you have been kicked slapped you are in so much pain and don't feel safe and want police to protect you. They turn you down because you are a woman. How makes you feel? You feel so worthless, so insecure physically and emotionally.

Zohreh's account, like Mastaneh's, suggested that she felt silenced by the Iranian police; she described a sense of not being heard. Note Zohreh switched from 'I' to 'you', suggesting a sense of dissociation, enabling her to cope with the stress. Zohreh, like Shahin, may be inviting others to imagine her experience: this might help her feel less alone. Zohreh's phrase 'you feel so worthless' is important as it evokes desperation and hopelessness. It appears that Zohreh felt insignificant and unworthy of police protection because of her gender.

In contrast, Ziba felt satisfied after calling the police:

In Iran, yes I called them [police] because I was so scared and they came and talked to my husband. I felt safe, you know for a day. It was such a nice feeling (...) yes, when police came they told me 'he is your husband. Next time don't call us. This is a family problem. Go to your family to sort it out' I knew that they are not going to help me anymore (...) I couldn't live with him (...) I decided to leave Iran.

It appeared that Ziba may have felt safe and protected by police, although this was temporary. However, during the same incident, the police response changed from wanting to help to telling her not to bother them – one wonders why this change occurred. Ziba's phrase 'I knew they are not going to help anymore' suggests that she felt disappointed and that there was no point expecting any support from the Iranian police after this incident. Like other participants, Ziba's phrase 'this is a family problem' suggests that the police response reflects the cultural framing of domestic violence in Iran.

In contrast, all participants had positive experiences of the UK police. Parastoo said:

I think the police is very good (...) They took my angry partner away and he was not allowed to come near us for 28 days. They encouraged me to press charges. I felt safe for the first time in my life. I felt someone is listening to me.

Parastoo's account suggested that she felt listened to and seen by the UK police, rather than being silenced or made to feel invisible; she felt supported, safe and valued by the police response. Parastoo's phrase 'I felt safe for the first time' is powerful, suggesting how long she had been living in fear.

Echoing Parastoo, Hasti said:

They [police] were so understanding and helped me to press charges. The first time in my life I feel there are people who listen to me and they care about me. I felt important. I felt what I say counts.

Similar to Parastoo, Hasti's narrative suggested that she felt listened to and seen by the UK police. Her use of the present tense suggests that these positive feelings lasted, suggesting a maintained positive image of the police in the UK. Like Parastoo, Hasti's phrase 'the first time in my life I feel there are people who listen to me' is important as it suggests how deeply ingrained the violence towards her had been.

Mastaneh reported being treated with dignity by the UK police:

They [police] were so kind to me. I was in pain emotionally physically you know, and it was the first time I saw that other people do respond to my pain. I felt important. I felt I am a human being, you see. I felt other people are realising I am in pain, and are helping me to get justice done. That's was huge. I hadn't experienced this before.

It seemed that Mastaneh felt she had never been offered empathy before. Her phrase 'I felt other people are realising I am in pain' is striking as it suggested that she feels she had been invisible to others. This powerful extract suggested a change in Mastaneh's identity as a result of the police response. Mastaneh's account, like those of other participants, suggested that she perceived she had been valued, respected and treated with dignity by the police, a response she had not experienced before.

Similarly, Shahin reported feeling safe as a result of the police response:

They [police] just made notes, listened to me and arrested him the same day. He couldn't come near our flat any longer we changed our address and he is out of the picture now. Oh words cannot say how I feel safe, and I think I am free to make decisions.

It appeared that Shahin also felt listened to and seen by the UK police, rather than being silenced or made to feel invisible. Her account suggested that she felt supported, safe

and valued. In particular, Shahin's phrase 'oh words cannot say how I feel safe' suggested the level of her appreciation of the UK police response.

Sub-Ordinate Theme 3.5.2. Using counselling services in the UK. "The sessions don't help with my anger about why I have been treated differently as a woman."

The findings suggested that all participants perceived stigma around counselling due to their culture, which was internalised to a greater or lesser extent. Participants also suggested that they found individual therapy helpful on some levels, but deeply unhelpful on others. Furthermore, participants' narratives seemed to suggest that therapists were perceived as being unable or unwilling to see the women's problems within the wider (Iranian) culture, meaning they felt blamed or pathologised for a cultural issue. It seemed that in contrast, group therapy was more helpful.

All participants talked about the challenge of overcoming the stigma and shame attached to therapy sessions. Ziba used pejorative language to describe people who attend counselling:

...I was ashamed to go to the centre because I was thinking to myself they think I am mad and when they see me they say 'here is the crazy woman' (...) in Iran, you know only mad people go to see therapist.

Ziba's phrase 'only mad people go to see therapist' is meaningful as it might reflect how she perceived counselling to be viewed in Iran; perhaps therapy is for people who are untouchable ('mad') in some way. This might explain the source of Ziba's core beliefs when she says, 'here is the crazy woman'; it appears that Ziba feels only people with serious mental

health issues (those who are 'mental') go to counselling. The extract suggests that stigma around counselling exists in Iranian culture, and Ziba has internalised it, making it harder for her to be compassionate about herself in this situation.

Similarly, Parastoo reported stigma around counselling, using pejorative language:

(...) I started to go to counselling without telling anyone. I used to say I am going shopping making excuses you know, but still cannot say to Iranian friends where I go because (...) they would think there is something seriously wrong with me like I am going mental and cannot be trusted.

It appeared that Parastoo felt unable to tell others about her therapy sessions, suggesting a stigma attached to counselling and being classified as an individual with mental health issues. Her words 'cannot be trusted' suggest this classification has consequences which include her friends being unable to trust her. Parastoo used slightly pejorative language when she says, 'like I am going mental'. This perhaps suggested that Parastoo had internalised the stigma around counselling. Like Ziba, Parastoo's language suggested she had bought into the cultural notion that counselling is for people who are 'mad' – which will make it harder for her also to have compassion for herself.

In contrast, while Hasti saw counselling as undesirable, she used sympathetic language:

To be honest, I was thinking that counselling sessions are for very sick or is for people who are sick. That's how people see therapists in Iran. Then, my friend took me (...) and I started to see a counsellor. I still hide it from everyone you know.

It appeared that Hasti had also internalised how Iranian culture views individuals who attend counselling. Her use of the word 'sick' is important. Perhaps Hasti saw people who attend counselling as unwell. This suggested that while Hasti still saw counselling as undesirable, she had more compassion for the people who need it – and therefore perhaps for herself as well.

Mastaneh described the same challenges over attending counselling:

You see it is unfortunate. Iranian people, only people who are mentally ill go to counselling. For me, wasn't easy to decide, but I knew it was a must because I knew I've lots of problems and had no sense of self-worth.

The above narrative suggested that similar to others, Mastaneh had difficulty going to counselling, despite feeling she had issues to resolve. The words 'unfortunate' and 'mentally ill' might reflect her awareness of the stigma attached to using counselling services in the Iranian community.

Echoing the above participants, Shahin described attending counselling, especially in the beginning, as difficult:

It was so hard to go to counselling sessions in the beginning. But, I knew I need help. I used to listen to a Persian counselling radio, and I knew I have a lot of problems but Iranian culture makes it so difficult. You know, in our culture if people are depressed or of any member of family is depressed they just hide it because they think other people think they are mad.

Shahin specifically discussed how Iranian culture responds to those with mental health issues, suggesting difficulty seeking help for herself. Her use of the word 'hide' might highlight her views about how Iranian people perceive depression; as something shameful, that must be hidden.

Finally, Zohreh also talked about her perception of how Iranian people view an individual who seeks help from a counsellor:

Unfortunately in Iran, people think only crazy people go to see counsellors (...) it is very shameful to say I am under medication or I see a therapist. I don't want any Iranian to know I am under medication or see a therapist each week because I know they think I am a mad woman (...) they judge me. That's why I haven't told my partner I see a counsellor, nobody knows.

Zohreh's narrative seemed to suggest that although she regretted how people view those who attend counselling or use medication, she attended her sessions weekly. However,

it appeared that she was exceptionally mindful to hide the sessions from Iranian people. Her phrase 'they think I am a mad woman' might illustrate her perception of how she would be perceived by them, while her use of language suggested that like other participants (apart from Hasti), Zohreh saw people who attend counselling as 'mad', suggesting that she had also internalised this Iranian stigma.

It appeared that hand in hand with this stigmatisation around attending counselling came a sense of being blamed or pathologised by the counsellor. Parastoo said:

She [counsellor] helps me a lot to improve my self-confidence and personal issues. I'm a bit disappointed. Sometimes the counsellor seems she doesn't understand that how it feels when people treat you unfairly. I'm not the issue, the problem is outside. How our culture is. I feel sometimes she forgets that.

This account implied that while Parastoo viewed sessions as helpful on one level, her expectations were not met by the therapist's approach. In other words, it seemed that Parastoo may have perceived that the counselling sessions boosted her confidence and self-esteem, thus managing her emotional difficulties. However, her use of the word 'disappointed' suggested her expectations were not met by the therapist's approach. Her language — 'the problem is outside', 'culture', and 'unfairly' — suggests that Parastoo wanted to work on her problem in a wider context, considering social justice and the effect of injustice on her as an individual, something that was not happening in the present.

Like Parastoo, Hasti described counselling as helpful on a personal level, but deeply unhelpful on another level:

...Counselling helped me to change my expectations. I know I shouldn't live in fear and should physically feel safe and my needs should not being ignored because I am a woman (...) I have no hope because every counsellor I've seen they just concentrate on me and ask me about why I'm thinking like this, but this isn't about me this is about what's happening outside. The problem isn't me, is outside: the injustice, the different treatment between men and women. How could it be my problem? But they concentrate on me and say: I'm depressed. I'm this. I'm that. I have difficulty with injustice, yes and I've been treated so unfairly because of being a woman a girl. They make me feel like there's something wrong with me (...) Instead of that maybe they can talk about injustice instead of labelling my problem.

The extract might imply that Hasti had developed a sense of self-respect as a result of attending counselling sessions. Hasti, like Parastoo, said 'the problem is outside'. Her phrase 'I am this, I am that' suggested frustration as a result of being labelled by her counsellors. It seemed that Hasti had lost faith in the UK counselling system. It appeared that she attributed her present psychological issues to being treated unfairly due to her gender, evidenced by the phrase 'different treatment between men and women'. Her tone suggested she was questioning her counsellors' approach as well as expressing frustration over the failure to consider her problems in a wider cultural context. Her use of the words 'every counsellor' is important, suggesting that this experience had happened more than once – maybe many times.

Mastaneh reported a similar experience:

I remember I used to talk about physical problems saying to my counsellor 'I've pain in my chest', but she was so patient with me and gradually she encouraged me to talk about my emotions. You see, counselling sessions help me to understand how to deal with my emotions (...) that's definitely the case, yes but it doesn't help me to deal with my anger towards so much difference between men and women ohm or why I'm being treated differently as a woman. I haven't heard once she confirms that: yes, it's Iranian culture you see.

Mastaneh appeared to imply that she felt the counselling sessions helped her at a personal level. Her words 'pain in my chest' illustrated that was easier to talk about physical than emotional pain. However, she went on to describe an unmet expectation that her counsellor should be able to relate to her anger over being treated differently within Iranian culture due to gender.

Similarly, Ziba described counselling as helpful on one hand, yet also reinforcing her husband's manipulation, which seems extreme:

Counselling has helped me to face depression, anxiety, and fear. Sometimes the counsellor gives me homework to do – right they help me to work on the way I think. The problem is sometimes it makes me doubt coming to the sessions because the

worksheet is about me, how to control the issues, but I haven't caused the issues. Why she (therapist) asks me to concentrate on the way I am thinking. Are you with me? The problem is outside not inside me. Sometimes, I feel anger towards the therapists because of this. I think she is telling me the problem is inside you and that's why exactly my husband made me to believe

The above extract suggested that while Ziba viewed the counselling as helpful on a personal level, her phrase 'my culture has caused it' suggested she felt the counsellor had failed to see her problems in a wider, cultural perspective. The words 'my culture' are interesting as they suggest an attachment to where she comes from. A sense of being blamed as a result of the counsellor's technique might come across. It seemed that Ziba was unsure about continuing her counselling as a result of experiencing anger at being manipulated, which could be regarded as triggering her feelings about the abusive relationship. These could be transference feelings.

It appeared that, unlike participants who felt that their counsellors were unable to see their problems as being the result of culture, Shahin described an inability to relate to other Iranian people. Like others, Shahin saw counselling as positive at a personal level:

(...) I had a lot to say, but I didn't know how to say it to a stranger, you know. So, I started to talk about physical pain but after a while I trusted my therapist and started to talk about my problems. (...) it certainly helps me to have a better relationship with myself, with my children, and my new partner, but not with Iranian people. I have difficulty to be with Iranian people. I don't trust them (...) I was so depressed and was

under medication but now I don't need them. I have learned skills to manage my negative feelings.

It appeared that Shahin, like Mastaneh, found that talking about physical problems was easier than talking about emotional issues; her repetition of the word 'trust' suggested that this was an important factor for her when establishing relationships. Like others, Shahin's account suggested that she found counselling helpful at a personal level (that is, managing her depression without medication) but not in a wider context (that is, relating to Iranian people).

In contrast, Zohreh described counselling as positive on different levels:

We talk about the culture and how people just follow it without questioning it. I know it isn't my fault that I can't have Iranian friends. It's the culture you know. Iranian people, especially women see a divorced woman as a failed person. They think the woman hasn't been successful to keep the family together and if they know that you attend counselling sessions they really judge you and see you as a mad woman. They even pity the abusive men. Talking about these things with my counsellor makes me feel I am not alone and it is not my fault. I don't feel as a crazy person or a failed person.

Zohreh's account suggested that, unlike others, counselling had helped her to have a better understanding of Iranian culture and to review women's positions in general, rather

than focusing purely on her. It seemed the counselling helped her reach a level of self-acceptance within Iranian culture, evidenced by the phrase 'don't feel as a crazy', although she has still difficulty relating to Iranian people. It seemed that this feeling of acceptance was not something other participants experienced, as their difficulties had not been considered within Iranian culture.

Along with individual therapy, four participants had attended group therapy. It appeared that these sessions were a way for Ziba to review her perspective on domestic violence:

Group sessions give me understanding about domestic violence and what it really is. They help me rationally to think about different kind of abuse and help myself and others if they happen to us, to protect and avoid toxic relationship. They are about awareness you know. I have started to help other survivors and act as a volunteer advocator

The above extract suggested that attending group sessions was meaningful for Ziba, changing her view of what is considered domestic violence. The sessions appeared to give Ziba the strength and motivation to give something back to the community as a volunteer.

It appeared that Parastoo, like Ziba, talked about group sessions as a source of knowledge:

I think coming to the counselling and workshops where we explore self-care and control wheel has helped me a lot to realise what actually violence is. I am still working on it and try to make sure my children have a better understanding as they get older.

Parastoo's reference to the 'control wheel' is interesting as it suggested she had started to use academic terms to describe types of violence. Her tone and use of the words 'I am still working on it' suggested a motivation to raise her awareness about different types of domestic violence. It seemed that she also wanted to impart her new knowledge to her children.

It seemed that Hasti, like Ziba and Parastoo, found group sessions important for changing her mind about domestic violence:

My friend took me to group sessions and then it was there that I changed my mind about what really domestic violence is and started to see a counsellor (...) attending the group sessions helps me to feel I am part of the group: something that is so missing in my life. I have never felt I'm part of a group (...) I feel that I'm not the only one who feels this and also I feel that I'm not the only one who feels this way and there are other people outside there who are like me and that makes me feel that I'm not crazy and I'm not making this up.

Hasti's language might illustrate that she gained a different understanding of domestic violence. It appeared that attending group sessions provided an opportunity for all these participants to change their views. It could be that knowing other people experience the same thing is important, helping Hasti and others to avoid labelling themselves. Her account suggested that she felt believed and validated as a result of the group.

Mastaneh also talked about the positive aspects of being part of a group:

Group sessions help us to put the problem outside of ourselves and have better understanding of our problems we are having here. In group sessions we can talk but we are from different countries you see. It would be great if the sessions let us to attend for different group of people. I mean a group for Iranian or a group for Indian.

Mastaneh's use of 'us' instead of 'I' suggested that she felt part of the group, mirroring her awareness that she was not the only person who had experienced domestic violence and suffered from its consequences. It seemed that she perceived that being with other Iranian people helped her to face her problems more effectively. It also seemed that she would find it easier to discuss her issues with a group of people who share a culture. At the same time, her account might indicate that she would like to exercise her ability to connect and understand her problems within a group of Iranian people, something she found hard outside of therapy. Mastaneh's account seemed to suggest that while she wanted to connect with other Iranian women who had (crucially) had the same experience as her, others avoided Iranian women – suggesting that perhaps they felt they would not understand their perceptions or would judge them.

Part 4: Discussion

The purpose of this study was to achieve a rich, in-depth understanding of the lived domestic violence experiences of Iranian immigrant women. Semi-structured interviews were employed to gather data, which was analysed using interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA). The six participants experienced domestic violence within their heterosexual relationships. Five themes were extracted from the data: You can be abused in different ways; Impact of violence on women: hopeless and helpless; Impact of domestic violence on women's relationships: judged and guilty; the Cultural experience of being a female victim of domestic violence; and Using the legal system and counselling services before and after immigration. Interpretations of participants' lived experience should be placed in the wider context of the existing literature (Smith et al., 2009). In this section, I will link each theme to the existing literature. I will then explore the limitations of this research for counselling psychologists and other health professionals. Finally, I will suggest possible avenues for future research relating to this topic.

4.1. You can be abused in different ways

An insight into the nature of the violence that the Iranian immigrant women experienced within their heterosexual relationships is given in this study. Frequently, results are in line with current evidence on the types of physical and psychological violence that abused women experience. Participants reported experiencing prolonged and sustained violence from their male partners. This included physical, psychological and emotional, sexual, and financial violence. Physical and psychological violence were particularly salient. These findings demonstrate that domestic violence against Iranian immigrant women exists.

Consistent with several scholars (Krantz & Garcia-Moreno, 2005; Rada 2014; Tukahebwa, 2019; WHO, 2011) who have positioned domestic violence into categories, all

participants in this study reported being subjected to severe physical violence, including being slapped, kicked, pushed, having their faces spat on, having objects thrown at them, and being beaten up. Congruent with other findings (Ali, Dhingra, & McGrand, 2016; Semaheng & Mengistie, 2015), participants had been victims of physical violence more than once from the beginning of their relationships.

In line with results presented in the literature review (Morgan & Chadwick, 2009), some women reported being exposed to physical violence more frequently over time. A sense of shame was common, leading participants to feel responsible for the violence as well as feeling inadequate and less valued as a result of it. This appears to mirror Watson's (2009) study, in which participants spoke of shame, self-blame and embarrassment as a result of being subjected to physical violence; these participants could not talk about their experiences of domestic violence with their friends. Further, Tonsing and Barn (2016) found that many participants tolerated violence as shame prevented them from disclosing it to others. Shame seems relevant to the experiences of the current participants. When Shahin described being humiliated after experiencing physical violence in front of others, as well as her attempt to emotionally numb herself from the violence, we can see that she deeply experienced shame within her relationship. Perhaps Shahin's experience of shame in front of others and her coping response complements Tonsing and Bran's (2016) study – experiencing shame can extend to dissociation and emotional distancing, depending on the intensity of the emotion.

In line with existing research (Souto at al., 2016), participants occasionally reported that physical violence escalated gradually. Reports included witnessing their partners being angry and hospitalising them, as well as long-term health consequences. For example, Hasti reported long-term knee pain as a result of the physical violence within her marriage.

Parastoo reported that she had experienced a miscarriage as the result of her partner's physical abuse. This led to a sense of loss, helplessness, and powerlessness. Tukahebwa

(2019) also found that one participant feared for her life as a result of experiencing several miscarriages. Her intense feelings were unbearable, so the participant had to seek help.

Others have also attributed miscarriages to domestic violence and, as a result, felt more vulnerable in their abusive relationships (Bacchus, Mezey, and Bewley, 2006). Parastoo tried to understand why she had a miscarriage. Previous studies (e.g. Nur, 2014; Richardson et al., 2002) into whether there is an association between domestic violence and miscarriage have been inconclusive. However, Parastoo's attribution of her miscarriage to domestic violence is echoed in a recent review of the relationship between domestic violence and perinatal health outcomes (Pastor-Moreno, Ruiz-Pérez, Henares-Montiel, & Petrova, 2020), in which one of the most reported outcomes was a miscarriage.

All participants were victims of psychological and emotional violence, including control, criticism, humiliation and belittling, especially in front of others. It appeared that this harmed their confidence, self-worth and self-esteem; some felt isolated, and others felt trapped within their relationships. This mirrors Loke, Wan, and Hayter's (2012) study, in which participants described low self-esteem as a result of psychological violence. Further to this, in a previous IPA study on female victims of domestic violence (Gonzalez, 2010), participants described isolation and fear as well as an impact on their self-esteem and self-worth. Both Mastaneh and Shahin seemed to feel lonely, whilst Mastaneh appeared to feel that isolating her was a way for her partner to control her. This aligns with Ahmadzai's (2015) study, in which one participant talked about how her abusive husband attacked her sense of self-worth and isolated her from others to control her. Therefore, the idea that isolation and attacking women's self-worth make women powerless is strengthened by the current study. It is suggested that mental health professionals, such as counselling psychologists, should concentrate on women's self-esteem and self-worth within a supportive environment.

Echoing the reports of participants in Naghavi, Amani, Bagheri, and De Mol's (2019) study, two participants in the current study reported being threatened with death, with their partners providing graphic details of how they would carry this out. Zohreh seemed to feel she could only cope with this by being more submissive, behaviour which is echoed in a previous qualitative study on female victims of domestic violence (Cordero, 2014). Those participants revealed that being passive was an active process which took mental energy as they had to be attuned to their partner' behaviour to choose methods for coping. Participants in another qualitative study (Oliveria, Viegas, Santos, Silveria, & Elias, 2015) reported that living with fear led them to modify their relationships and ways of being. These participants felt nervous and afraid all the time; feelings of threat and fear evoked attitudes of subordination and numbness. It can be suggested that women may feel cornered as a result of living in constant fear, and so may have to act passively to survive within their abusive relationships.

Consistent with existing literature (Delara, 2016; Gondolf, Heckert, & Kimmel, 2002; Schumacher & Leonard, 2005), all participants reported that physical violence followed psychological and emotional violence. Participants appeared to feel powerless, hopeless, and vulnerable within their abusive relationships. This mirrors Walker's (1984) cycle of violence, in which phase one of the cycle is relevant to tension building, which can involve being criticised or threatened, while phase two involves abuse such as verbal or physical violence. Finally, in the third stage, the abuser apologises and demonstrates charming, loving behaviour towards their partner. Mirroring this, Zohreh reported that her partner's tactics manipulated her to return to their abusive relationship. The author of one narrative analysis study (Hannan, 2015) found that participants felt manipulated and controlled by their abusive partners and maintained a hyper-aroused state through intense focus and detachment.

Guruge et al. (2012) found that immigrant women reported being forced to have sexual intercourse. Similarly, two participants were subjected to sexual violence once or throughout their marriage. It appeared that being exposed to sexual violence over time made Hasti feel that her body was used as an object, without any concern for her personality or dignity. Similarly, it seemed that Ziba perceived having a sexual relationship as a duty within her marriage. Ziba's sense of duty is reflected in a qualitative study about Iranian women's experiences of domestic violence (Sasania et al., 2015). In that study, many participants reported being forced to have sex as an obligation to their husbands. Some stated that when they were engaged in sexual behaviour, they had to be obedient to their husbands and did not consider their own state of mind. Perhaps Hasti's sense of being objectified could add to Sasania et al.'s (2015) analysis in terms of how sexual violence can be experienced: sexually abused women may feel being reduced to objects through denial of personality and humanity. Further research into women's experiences of sexual violence would be beneficial.

Another striking feature of sexual violence in this study was Parastoo's awareness that rape has legal consequences: "I think if I could prove it he would be in prison". This finding is inconsistent with Iranian cultural beliefs, where it has been suggested that women are held responsible for meeting their husband's sexual needs, meaning there are no consequences for rape in marriage (Aghtaie, 2015, 2017). Various qualitative researchers exploring female victimisation (Maasoumi, Taket, & Zarei, 2018; Pakseresht, Jafarzadeh-Kenarsari, & Atrkar Roushan, 2016) have found that cultural norms play a formative role in shaping Iranian women's sexual perceptions of the duty-orientated aspect of marital sexual activities, mirroring Ziba's perception. As Janghorban et al. (2015) argued, "the unspoken nature of sexuality in Iranian culture has led to a lack of national studies on the topic" (p. 1). It appears that there is a need to explore how Iranian women make sense of the laws around sex in marriage.

Several participants in the current study spoke of being made financially dependent on their partner. Some qualitative researchers (Kian, 2017; Sanders, 2015) have also found that female victims of domestic violence had no control over household money and felt financially dependent on their partners. In these studies, women described the role financial dependence played in their decision about whether or not to leave an abusive partner. While the emotional impact of financial violence on women was not explored in these studies, authors of one narrative analysis study (Shams, Kianfard, Parhizkar, & Mousavizadeh, 2017) found that women who believed they were financially dependent on their husbands felt they did not have the power to protect themselves from other types of violence from their partners. This seems relevant to the experiences of the current participants. When Parastoo mentioned that she had no option but to accept her situation, or when Hasti talked about the distress she experienced following financial and physical violence from both her partner and his mother, we can see that the participants experienced negative emotions as a result of financial violence. Thus, findings from this study could strengthen and complement the growing picture of the emotional aspect of financial violence for women.

4.2. Impact of domestic violence on women: hopeless and helpless

All participants described how their lives were impacted as a result of domestic violence. Some demonstrated an explicit awareness of how their psychological well-being had been negatively impacted. For example, Parastoo and Shahin reported experiencing PTSD and anxiety as a result of domestic violence. However, others did not use explicit language, such as Zoreh's use of the phrase 'did not want to care' to describe depression; the experience of depression only emerged through my interpretation. Zohreh's lack of interest in looking after her physical appearance and her avoidance of other people suggested that she was so low she did not even want to care about herself; a level beyond just not caring. In

contrast, Parastoo suggested that her psychological reaction of freezing when she heard a man raising his voice was related to PTSD.

These findings align with those in which a strong association between exposure to intimate partner violence and incidents of mental illness, including depression and anxiety, was reported (Ferrari et al., 2014; Mahase, 2019). Many users of domestic violence services experience high levels of depression, anxiety, and especially PTSD (Ferrari et al., 2014). Further to this, several participants talked about developing suicidal thoughts. Several authors (Gulliver & Fanslow, 2013; Humphreys & Thiara, 2003) have reported that the experience of domestic violence is associated with an increased risk of suicidal thoughts. In the current study, participants spoke of severe emotional distress that often fitted symptoms associated with depression, PTSD, and self-harm. It seemed that they also experienced self-hate, hopelessness, powerlessness, flashbacks, panic attacks, high anxiety, hyper-vigilance, and suicidal thoughts. Therefore, this study contributes an array of examples that demonstrate how individuals uniquely experience severe emotional distress following domestic violence.

Participants' accounts suggested that taking their roles as caring mothers and partners seriously had negatively impacted their identity. This is in line with Crawford et al.'s (2009) study, where abused women felt their identity as a woman had become less important to them. They also felt unable to recognise the impact on themselves and reported that their identity became fragile. It seemed that participants in the current study described their caring role as a way of coping, although it meant they felt less important and valued within their relationships. Furthermore, through taking the caring role seriously, some participants in the current study appeared to feel objectified, while others felt ashamed, inadequate, and unimportant within their relationships. For example, Shahin experienced a loss of self and a sense of being objectified: "I wasn't a person anymore; I was like one of his belongings".

Perhaps this added to Crawford et al.'s (2009) study; women might also feel objectified as a result of ignoring their needs within their abusive relationships.

Interestingly, each participant demonstrated how taking the role of a caring partner might have impacted their identity. For example, Zohreh described feelings of self-fragmentation, saying: "I didn't like the person who was in the mirror". Earlier authors (Both, Favaretto, & Freitas, 2019; Dorahy, Lewis & Wolfe, 2007; Spiegel, 2008) also found that violence made it difficult to maintain a sense of identity. Both et al. (2019) interviewed ten women victims of domestic violence who had had medical examinations for legal purposes. It was found that "constant violence causes changes in the structural functioning and psychological conflict of the victims: difficulties in mentalization, instability in relationships, emotional dependence, abandonment of her own life for her partners, and difficulty in having a sense of identity" (Both et al., 2019, p. 1). Thus, the findings of this current study add depth to the 'self-fragmentation' concept and expand upon previous literature, suggesting that domestic violence may have a serious impact on abused women's identity.

4.3. Impact of domestic violence on women's relationships: judged and guilty

The current study appears to be the first of its kind; a qualitative exploration of Iranian immigrant women and their relationships within a domestic violence context. Authors of several studies (Kavas, 2010; Küçükşen, 2016; Mendoza, Tolba, & Saleh, 2019) have discussed how marital status impacts women's family relationships (Gedik, 2015). However, these studies were not carried out in the context of domestic violence. The picture of divorced immigrant women painted by the literature often involves shame and stigma (Fairfox, 2014; Gennari et al., 2017; Ting & Panchanadeswaran, 2009; Tukahebwa, 2019).

The findings of the current study suggested that all participants felt detached from their family as a result of being judged. Moreover, they discussed shame and stigma associated with being a divorced woman. It appeared that the participants also perceived that their families were ashamed of them as a result of their marital status. Additionally, it seemed that participants felt unsupported, as their families cared more about prestige within the Iranian community than their needs; perhaps participants perceived that their families felt that calling the police and disclosing the violence had disgraced them in the eyes of the community. For example, Mastaneh appeared to feel frustrated that her family seemed to care more about their 'Aberoo' (conformity to social prestige) than her needs. This mirrors the experiences of participants in Tizro's study of abused, divorced women in Iran (2013), in which some described how their lives changed for worse as soon as they got divorced, while others felt emotionally distant from their unsupportive families. Similarly, Pirak, Negarandeh, and Khakbazan (2019) found that most Iranian divorced women described stigma around divorce as a fundamental problem in adjusting to life after divorce and reported regret after divorce. Divorce is deemed a social disgrace in Iran, where women are judged harshly for failing their marriages (Hashemi, 2020).

Previous authors have focused on the stigma around disclosing the violence to the police as a barrier to help-seeking. Participants in Bahrami, Shokrallahi, Kohan, Momeni, and Rivaz's (2016) study described the consequences of using the police in Iran; however, their emotional experience was not explored in this study. Therefore, the current study provides deeper insight and understanding of how Iranian immigrant women may feel as a result of disclosing the violence to the police, including being judged harshly by their family.

All participants talked about their unwillingness to communicate with and relate to the Iranian community. For example, Hasti withdrew from social situations to avoid being judged as selfish for calling the police. Participants in the current study appeared to utilise implicit forms of emotional distancing as protection from the pain of being judged. It appeared that participants saw Iranian people as having adopted traditional beliefs concerning how women

should behave within a family, without consideration of their abusive relationships. Perhaps one of the strongest representations of this was Ziba's pretence that she was married in front of the Iranian community. This seems relevant to Pirak et al.'s study (2019), where participants described hiding their divorce to maintain their safety. In the current study, participants felt re-victimised by Iranian people and felt that avoiding them was the only way to protect themselves. For example, it seemed that Parastoo felt she had to defend herself from the Iranian community, as she once had to defend herself from her husband; the violence had shifted from marriage to the community. In contrast, it appeared that Shahin experienced self-directed anger and criticism when in contact with Iranian people, who made feel selfish, since calling the police was forbidden.

It appears that Iranian immigrant women may avoid the Iranian community due to feelings of being re-victimised or may experience negative self-directed emotions such as guilt when in contact with Iranian people. Given the limited research on the experiences of divorced Iranian immigrant women, the idiographic nature of this IPA study is useful for explaining these individual differences.

4.4. The cultural experience of being a female victim of domestic violence

Authors of several studies on female victims of domestic violence have highlighted that a woman's identity may be specifically based on her role as a wife or mother (Ayyub, 2000; Midlarsky, Venkataramani-Kothari, & Plante, 2006; Thiara & Gill, 2012). Similarly, all participants in this current study seemed to perceive that they needed to adopt a caring role to keep their family together, regardless of their husband's abusive behaviour. The findings of the current study also suggested that all participants felt responsible for the welfare of their offspring and felt this was influenced by staying with the children's fathers. Additionally, all participants, apart from Parastoo, seemed to experience a sense of failure as the result of their marriages ending.

The analysis indicated that traditional beliefs held by Iranian women about marriage, family and social expectations could impact participants' responses to domestic violence. For example, Ziba said: "If the husband is nice to the children not the woman, I think she should wait [to leave her husband] until children are older". Zohreh seemed to face the same dilemma. This appears consistent with Rahbari and Mahmudabadi's (2017) argument that in the patriarchal society of Iran, women are expected to accept their caring role and adapt themselves to societies' standards and expectations. Moreover, this seems relevant to Dekel and Andipatin's (2016) suggestion that "families that are different from this heteronormative norm, such as single-parent families, are positioned as deviant or unfavourable for the well-being of children" (p. 5).

Sabri et al. (2018) conducted a narrative analysis among a diverse group of South Asian immigrant women survivors of domestic violence in the United States. The authors found that participants responsible for remaining in their marriage regardless of experiencing domestic violence; they felt they would put their family's reputation at risk if they got divorced. These participants (Sabri et al., 2018) also felt obliged to accept a caring role towards their partner and children and stated that having their children's father around was essential for their welfare. Mastaneh and Ziba also felt a pressure to hold the family together, regardless of their partners' abusive behaviour. Indeed, this pressure continued even after separation. Hasti said: "I have brought shame on the family", suggesting she perceives herself in line with Iranian culture feeling responsible for a failed marriage. This mirrors Ahmed's (2009) statement that "culture is relevant in perpetuating domestic violence because it is one of the culprits that create the conditions that initiate, foster and maintain domestic violence" (p. 27). It has been suggested that men are considered to be superior to women in Iran (Ansari & Martin, 2002; Rahbari & Mahbudabadi, 2017). Therefore, Iranian culture may foster and maintain domestic violence against women through a shared belief in discourses that

"legitimise inequality and exploitation and violence" (Tizro, 2013, p. 1). Various authors who see cultural beliefs as maintaining violence against women have challenged cultural discourses and beliefs that perpetuate domestic violence against women (Oxtoby, 2012; Pan et al., 2006; Shankar, Das, & Atwal, 2013). Considering the limited research on domestic violence within the Iranian immigrant community, further research on how to develop culturally appropriate interventions for this population would be beneficial.

Domestic violence was discussed by participants in the current study in relation to gender within Iranian culture. It appeared that all participants believed that they experienced domestic violence because of their gender. Additionally, participants seemed to feel dominated by a submissive-discriminated culture whilst their human rights were denied. For example, when Hasti said: "in the UK, I have rights as a human being – something that is new to me", we can see that she only experienced these rights when she moved to the UK. This mirrors the mainstream narratives which portray violence against women as something that happens in societies where women are dominated by men (Bettman, 2009; Carter, 2015) and where such violence is accepted as normal behaviour (Tartakovsky & Mezhibovsky, 2012).

Additionally, it seemed that some women in the current study experienced self-hate, while others found it difficult to accept a 'self' and identity in light of their unwanted gender. For example, when Parastoo said: "I hated that I was a woman – being a woman meant I had no help, I was treated like dirt", we can see that she was dehumanised and trapped by her abusive partner, illustrating how overwhelming things were. The findings of the current study suggested that she perceived that she was treated differently because of her gender, leading her to struggle to accept her 'self' and gender. Bharani (2013) argues that "domestic violence undermines the value of a woman as an individual and denies her the dignity of a human being" (p. 1). The current study provides phenomenological examples of loss of dignity and

value as a result of domestic violence, illustrating the lived experiences of female victims of domestic violence within the Iranian culture.

Bhugra (2004, 2016) argued that "when people migrate from one culture to another they carry their knowledge and experiences of distress with them; however, on settling down in the new culture, their cultural identity is likely to change" (p. 1). It seemed that coming to the UK allowed participants to realise that their human rights had been violated in Iran, where men had all the rights and women were in an inferior position. It appeared that some felt that they had understood their human rights, while others may have felt they had access to their rights in the UK. The findings of the current study also suggested that participants perceived domestic violence as a violation of their rights. In contrast, Aghtaie (2015, 2017) found that Iranian women perceived violence against women as denying the opportunity for equal personhood; however, the country of residence (Iran or UK) did not impact on their attitudes. Examples from the current study illustrate that Iranian women might change their perceptions of rights as a result of living in a Western country. This is a novel finding which provides contrasting evidence to that found by Aghtaie (2015, 2017).

Various authors have highlighted that experiencing the culture of the host population, exposure to a variety of people and ideologies, and the transitional way of life may loosen migrants' attachment to some historical and cultural values (Williams, Thornton, & Young-DeMarco, 2014). Mastaneh, in particular, seemed to have developed confidence in her ability to make important life decisions; moving to the UK gave her a new outlook on traditional gender roles in terms of domestic work. This mirrors the experiences of participants in Darvishpour's (2002) study of Iranian women living in Sweden. Most of those participants felt a sense of personal authority, learnt how to tackle problems and took responsibilities that used to belong to men after moving.

4.5. Using the legal system and counselling services before and after immigration

The findings of the current study suggested that all participants felt unsupported by the police in Iran. It appeared that one had a positive experience with the police; however, this was temporary. In contrast, it seemed that all participants felt supported by and had a positive experience of the police in the UK. Additionally, it seemed that all participants perceived a level of stigma around counselling due to their culture, which was internalised to a greater or lesser extent. Individual therapy was helpful on some levels, but deeply unhelpful on others, while group therapy was helpful.

As the findings of the current study suggest, participants felt silenced as a result of the police response in Iran, as well as feeling hopeless, devalued, unsafe, invisible, and disappointed. Abused women's lack of support from the Iranian police is reflected in findings from Bahrami, Shokrollahi, Kohan, Momeni, and Rivaz (2015). These authors reported that some women attempted to stop their partner's violent behaviour by going to the police; however, in most cases, the abusive partners were bailed out by their families. While that study is useful for exploring Iranian women's experiences of the police in Iran, deeper insight into and understanding of how a lack of support from the police can lead to feeling invisible, unheard, and alone is provided by the current study. Although researchers have highlighted female victimisation in Iran, there is still no criminal policy which involves intervention, and the Iranian community has many legal and judicial shortcoming and gaps in this area (Babei, 2018).

In contrast, it seemed that participants had positive experiences with the police in the UK. Many commented on a sense of safety following the police response. Previous authors have also found that female victims of domestic violence felt supported by the UK police (Bond, 2015; Ghafourian & Easteal, 2019; Sabri, Bhandari, & Shah, 2018). In contrast, authors of a relatively recent qualitative study found that abused immigrant women from countries including Afghanistan and Yemen felt unsupported by the UK police (Mulvihill,

Gangoli, Gill, & Hester, 2018). While the majority of immigrant women were happy with the initial police response, fewer were happy with their experience overall; participants described receiving either no or little contact after the initial report. In the current study, it seemed that police officers informed participants of their options, including the right to press charges and move to safe accommodation. It seems that consistent support from the police, both during and after the initial report of violence, plays an important role in reassuring women so that they can make informed decisions about their lives.

Participants talked about the emotional challenges of overcoming the stigma attached to individual and group therapy sessions. It appeared that participants feared being considered "mad", "mental", and "crazy" as a result of attending counselling. These findings mirror those of Derr (2015), who argued that although immigrants might need to use mental health services as much or more than non-immigrants, immigrants from Asia, Latin America, and Africa use these services less than non-immigrants. Various other authors have reported shame and stigma around mental health issues and counselling (Schmied, Black, Naidoo, Dahlen, & Liampattong, 2017; Tobin, Napoli, & Beck, 2018); however, these scholars have not considered the experiences of abused women. Similar to the current findings, Momeni and Parvizy (2016) found that all participants, who were selected from three psychiatric centres in Tehran, experienced the consequences of stigma as a fear of stigma, self-blame, avoiding psychiatric treatment, and relapse. Therefore, the current study strengthens the growing picture of shame and stigma around mental health issues and counselling in the context of domestic violence against women (Ovestreet & Quinn, 2013). It is suggested that counsellors should consider the level of stigma and shame that immigrant abused women may experience when attending counselling.

It appeared that all participants (apart from Hasti) experienced positive aspects of individual counselling. It also seemed that participants felt they had more understanding of

themselves and more ways to manage their emotions following counselling. Ziba said, "counselling has helped me to face depression, anxiety, and fear". Both Hasti and Mastaneh mentioned that counselling sessions had helped them boost their self-respect and confidence. This complements Proby's (2017) study, where abused Polish immigrant women reported that counselling helped them feel empowered and could help prevent further abuse.

Two participants in the current study appeared to feel it was easier to talk to the counsellor about physical than emotional pain. Mastaneh discussed being encouraged by her counsellor to talk about her emotional pain gradually. It seemed that Shahin found it hard to trust her counsellor at first, so she chose to talk about physical, rather than emotional, pain. This complements Farsimadan's (2011) suggestion that when Iranian immigrants see a Western therapist, they are more likely to talk about physical than psychological problems. Although Farsimadan's (2011) argument is a useful overview of how Iranian immigrants may interact with their therapists, deeper insight into how shame and stigma around mental illness and counselling can promote talking about physical pain instead of emotional issues is provided in the current study.

The findings of the current study suggested that all participants, apart from Zohreh, felt that the counsellors focused on their mental health instead of their abuse experiences in the context of their culture. These experiences mirror those of participants in Kasturirangan and Williams' study of immigrant abused of women (2003), where one participant felt that counselling was not culturally appropriate and that the counsellor did not grasp the importance of family in her life. This mirrors Mastaneh's experience: "I haven't heard once she (counsellor) confirms that: yes, it's Iranian culture". Similarly, three participants in a phenomenological study about immigrant women's perspectives on counselling (Crabtree-Nelson, 2010) felt it was important that their counsellor was either bicultural or passed a level of cultural competence that allowed them to feel understood.

The findings of the current study appear to align with participants' perceptions in Ghazi-Moghadam's (2009) study of attitudes to counselling among Iranian people in the US. Those participants suggested that therapists need to either share or have an understanding of Iranian culture; they also indicated that therapists must be aware that Iranian clients are not comfortable disclosing domestic violence as they are protective of family privacy. Talking therapy is not common in Iran, since it is reported back Iranian people prefer to share their problems with friends and family (Pournaghash-Tehrani, 2010). However, we know from the current study that family might not listen or might stigmatise Iranian abused women for talking about those problems, leaving such women vulnerable. According to Milani, Leschied, and Rodger (2018), culturally-informed therapists must explore the cultural and social forces that shape women's experiences. There is a lack of understanding of the true impact of counselling on immigrant women. Therefore, further investigation would be beneficial.

All participants apart from Zoreh appeared to report feeling pathologised by their counsellor. Sweeny et al. (2019) conducted a review of 13 qualitative studies with people aged 16 and above, including women from minority groups living in the UK, who had been assessed for psychological therapy. They found that some women felt pathologised as a result of being asked about their psychiatric details, or because they felt the therapists focused on their mental health instead of the difficulties they were experiencing. Furthermore, findings from the current study are relevant to the experiences of participants in McHattie's (2011) study, where abused women from different backgrounds placed value on counsellors who named abuse issues. In other words, women perceived counselling as helpful when their symptoms were normalised with non-pathologising language. In accordance, Taghva et al. (2017) argued that discussion of psychological health is taboo in Iranian society. Through a close engagement with the words of participants from a particular population, the current

findings may add to the existing research. It is suggested that the counsellors' lack of understanding about gender inequality in Iran, the reinforcement of traditional gender roles in the Iranian legal system and, more importantly, the tension between traditional roles and modern social life in a new country among Iranian women and their level of education (Tizro, 2013) may lead women to feeling pathologised by being labelled with medical terms such as depression or anxiety. However, further qualitative research exploring immigrant abused women's sense of being pathologised by counselling services is warranted.

However, it seemed that while most participants found individual counselling sessions unhelpful at some level, some found group sessions helpful. It appeared that attending group sessions gave some participants a new perspective on domestic violence. It also seemed that Ziba used this perspective to raise awareness among other abused women. These experiences align with findings from Fathi, Renner, and Juen (2015), who found that Iranian immigrants in Austria with major depression benefited more from group than individual cognitive behavioural therapy. Participants felt that by being in contact with people from their sociocultural background, they were motivated to modify their acculturation attitudes.

According to Bunn, Goesel, Kent, and Ray (2015), "While the literature does provide a compelling conceptual rationale for using group treatment, the empirical literature is in fact very limited at this time, and needs to be strengthened in order to build confidence in outcomes across contexts and survivors" (p. 45). Various authors have explored whether individual and group therapy are equally effective (Condino et al., 2016; Echeburua, Sarasua, & Zubizarreta, 2013; Stalker & Fry, 1999) in the context of domestic violence. However, it is not possible to draw any clear conclusion from this earlier research. According to Farsimadan (2011), "for Iranian clients, adopting a directive therapeutic approach involving problemsolving strategies, rather than 'non-directive or analytical exploratory approaches', has been suggested" (p. 286). It seems that group therapy is one strategy that can be used to provide a

directive therapeutic approach for abused Iranian women as this enables an exploration of the impact of domestic violence within a group, rather than exploring the impact of domestic violence on themselves within individual counselling sessions.

The current finding that group therapy was effective for female Iranian immigrant survivors of domestic violence in the UK is novel. It seemed that participants felt they were provided with an opportunity to be educated without having to disclose their experience of domestic violence. Perhaps they also felt accepted, believed, and validated when they heard that others were suffering from the consequences of domestic violence. Therefore, it would seem beneficial for healthcare professionals to address the needs of Iranian immigrant women by offering them group therapy. This is particularly important since this group may have difficulty talking about psychological issues arising from domestic violence. They find it unfavourable to be labelled depressed or anxious, which could create resistance (Farsimadan, 2011). As such, they might need, as Mastaneh suggested, to be among a group of Iranian women, or to be among women with different cultural backgrounds, as other participants suggested. This may help such women feel understood without being pathologised or judged.

4.6. Implications for counselling psychology

The findings from this study have important implications for counselling psychologists and other mental health practitioners. Participants highlighted that being a victim of domestic violence negatively impacted on their physical and psychological well-being. Therefore, counselling psychologists and other mental health practitioners should be aware that abused Iranian immigrant women, similar to other abused women, are likely to suffer from the adverse impact of being a victim of domestic violence.

High levels of stigma around mental health issues were found in these Iranian immigrant women. Bury and Strauss (2006) argued that "counselling psychology privileges

respect for the personal, subjective experience of the client over and above notions of diagnosis, assessment and treatment" (p. 113). Hence, it is recommended that practitioners value their clients' subjective experiences. In other words, counselling psychologists and mental health practitioners should avoid psychiatric assessments and associated labels (such as depression and anxiety) that go with the concept of mental illness for this group. Potential options for meeting this task were revealed by analysis of the participants' narratives.

Participants felt frustrated, disappointed, blamed, and/or pathologised by their counsellors. They suggested that culturally relevant interventions would help them feel believed and accepted. Thus, counselling psychologists and mental health practitioners must learn about the cultures of any client group they might work with; this will help them to provide a safe environment for their clients to explore their experiences of domestic violence without feeling pathologised or blamed.

The work of NHS England is founded on evidence-based interventions, which include clinical and medical interventions (McCartney & Finnikin, 2019). This implies that NHS practitioners may redirect clients from their experiences by using technical language such as depression (Cromby, Harper, & Reavey, 2013; Rogers & Pilgram, 2005), excluding any account of the client's social, political, and financial contexts, as well as other factors such as gender and social class (Woolfe et al., 2010). Based on the current study, this technical language is a source of feeling pathologised. Hence, the current inadequate NHS psychological interventions can be improved by considering clients' experiences as well as their social, political, and financial contexts. Particular attention should be paid to language and terminology, which are "important in relation to service users and their experiences of distress because of the widespread discrimination to which such people are subject" (Cromby et al., p. 7). Therefore, "alternative approaches to diagnostic classification and destigmatisation programs" are suggested" (Read & Harper, 2020, p. 1).

The power threat meaning framework (PTMF), introduced by Johnstone and colleagues, may be an alternative to the current intervention within NHS settings (Johnstone & Boyle, 2018). The PTMF is an over-arching structure for identifying patterns in emotional distress, unusual experiences and troubling behaviour which can be used as an alternative to psychiatric diagnosis and classification (Johnstone & Boyle, 2018, p. 5). This model suggests alternative language (such as emotional distress versus disorder) and acknowledges the importance of social, political, and relational contexts (Johnstone & Boyle, 2018). Thus, the PTMF is in line with the women's narratives in the current study. According to Read and Harper (2019), PTFM provides an opportunity for healthcare professionals to work within individuals' political, social, and financial contexts, enabling them to have a sense of agency as well as to develop meanings and personal narratives about what they have experienced.

The high levels of shame within the Iranian women's accounts suggested that this powerful emotion is another important factor that needs particular attention when providing treatment for these women. According to Gilbert and Procter (2006), shame affects our ability to reveal painful information, meaning we adopt various defence mechanisms such as denial and avoidance. Therefore, addressing shame is important as it "can act as an invisible barrier to the adequate delivery of healthcare" (Gilbert & Procter, 2006, p. 259). The women's shame was related to various areas: attending counselling, being a victim of domestic violence, mental health issues, talking about emotional difficulties, and carrying the shame that their families felt as a result of their status as divorced women and disclosure of the violence to the police. Survivors of abuse are especially prone to shame as they might hold themselves responsible for the abuse (Parker, 2015). In such cases, clients may benefit from externalising the blame onto the abuser (Greenberg & Iwakabe, 2011). This deserved shift in blame (which helps to construct a new self rather than destroying others) can be followed by sadness or anger; sadness encourages clients to seek support, while anger

encourages clients to think about their lives free of shame (Greenberg & Iwakabe, 2011). Therefore, counselling psychologists and mental health practitioners must be sensitive to this level of shame among Iranian women and should consider how to support women to externalise blame, empowering them to manage their self-critical behaviour.

The women highlighted a need to feel heard, seen, and believed. However, several had difficulty engaging in individual therapy sessions to explore their deep psychological pain; it was easier for these women to talk about their physical pain. Therefore, counselling psychologists and mental health practitioners should consider delivering group sessions, as the women in this study suggested. Such group sessions should include individuals who share a culture or have some level of understanding of the cultures which differ from that of the host country. According to Tangney and Dearing (2011), group therapy can be viewed as a powerful context for mental health practitioners to address and resolve shame-based issues regarding women's experience of domestic violence; group sessions can help these women to normalise their sense of shame, as they see other women facing the same issues.

4.7. Limitations of the current study and suggestion for future research

Despite its useful findings, this study has limitations. Interviewing was limited to women who were attending a clinical setting, meaning the sample was purposive, not representative. Participants were perhaps over-represented by those with experience of attending counselling sessions or group therapy and, therefore, could be considered a clinical sample. Considering that participants were selected based on their willingness to articulate their experiences in a clinical setting, it can be suggested that their accounts may tell us more about how they talk about their experiences of domestic violence within a particular context, rather than the experience itself (Willig, 2001, 2013). Further to this, Willig (2001, 2013) suggested that "the availability of a particular way of talking about an issue also provides the

categories of experience, and that, as a result, language precedes and therefore shapes the experience" (p. 63).

A key aim of proponents of IPA is to contribute to psychology by comparing findings to existing literature (Smith, 2004). Moreover, according to Charlick, Pincombe, McKellar, and Fielder (2016), "by capturing context specific situations, IPA allows broad-based knowledge to be contextualized within a social and cultural context, producing relevant findings" (p. 205). Subsequently, although the aim of this study was not to generalise the findings, their transferability may be taken into consideration. In other words, other Iranian immigrant women might have similar experiences to the participants; however, the findings of this current study is emerged from active listening to the participants' narratives, providing detailed insight into their experiences with regards to domestic violence phenomenon.

Therefore, it is essential to consider the transferability of the findings within the specific context and situation of the participants (Charlick et al., 2016).

Additionally, the participants' native language was Persian, while the interviews were conducted in English. Some participants took longer to produce descriptions than others, suggesting that they may not have been able to speak English well enough to capture their experiences of domestic violence. According to Willig (2001, 2013), the inclusion of participants who are not able to use language in the sophisticated manner required by IPA may limit findings. The use of IPA requires participants who can verbalise and articulate their experience in a way that provides enough detailed material for an interpretive analysis (Willig, 2001, 2013). However, all participants were able to recall their experiences in vivid detail, although some needed more time to find the right English words. Indeed, a lack of language may capture an important aspect of Iranian abused immigrant women's experiences; UK counsellors may face difficulties with language during their clinical work with these women.

According to the Native American Centre for Excellence (NACE, 2010), some researchers have failed to conduct research respectfully as they are not sensitive to participants' narratives and fail to portray the native culture. Hence, conducting research in native participants' language can prevent unnecessary translation, meaning accounts can be presented in a comprehensive, transparent manner (Van Nes et al., 2010). However, considering that the participants in this study were fluent in English (this was an inclusion criterion) and that they preferred to avoid Iranian people, I believe that it was the right choice to use English in the interviews. The participants' experiences were represented more accurately in English as, during the interviews, I helped them talk about the details of their experiences, reassuring them about their ability to be understood beyond their English grammar or pronunciation skills. This was reflected in their feedback, as they expressed their appreciation for telling their stories in English, helping them to feel part of a community in the host country. Conducting research in English prevented the possibility of losing any data in translation and ensured that participants' narratives were presented accurately.

According to Manstead (2018), social class differences may directly impact individuals' cognitions and feelings, such that working-class individuals are less likely to benefit from educational and occupational opportunities for improving their financial circumstances. Manstead (2018) also states that middle-class individuals are more likely to have access to psychological resources and may have, therefore, developed stronger ideas or beliefs about the extent to which they can alter their personal and social lives. In comparison, working class people are less likely to have access to psychological materials and, as a result, might have developed weaker beliefs about their ability to alter their personal and social outcomes. Participants in this study (see Table 1, p. 43) were mostly middle-class, with a stable immigrant status, suggesting that working-class women with an unstable immigrant status were less likely to be recruited. However, Menjivar and Salcido (2002) acknowledge

that, even in the absence of education and host-country language, some female immigrants manage to access services by networking with their own communities. There was one working-class participant in the current study, suggesting that women from different social classes were able to access the current charity for support. It is also important to note that the participants in the current study had obtained their immigration status after being in the UK for several years. Therefore, discussing women with undocumented immigrant status is beyond the scope of this study. However, it should be stressed that the participants' narratives illustrated that they sought protection from the police and had since attended counselling sessions while they had no immigrant status independent from their abusive partners. This suggests that these women's attempts to get support and engage in research such as the current study was unconnected to their social class or immigrant status. While this is evidence that immigrant status did not matter, there was only one working-class woman in the sample, suggesting that other working-class women might have felt they could not access the study or the charity.

As mentioned before, domestic violence was not defined in this study. Considering that what constitutes violence is influenced by culture and might constantly change as a result of being exposed to new values and social norms (Krug, Mercy, Dahlberg, & Zwi, 2002), the women in this study had a choice about whether to participate based on their judgements and perceptions of whether they had been in an abusive relationship. At the same time, according to Fraga (2016), participants' perceptions of violence may have direct links to other factors, including their culture, how the questions are asked, and the setting in which data are collected. With these factors in mind, it can be suggested that potential participants might have been excluded from the study simply because they did not recognise that they had been subject to domestic violence. However, "a broad definition of abuse in the Home Office won't be effective in preventing, minimising or responding to perpetrators, unless it has

meaning for real people - unless this definition equips people to spot and challenge abuse" (Parker, 2015, p. 6). At the same time, it can be suggested that the data and findings captured in this study depended on the participants' recognition of their involvement in the different types of violence they experienced. I argue that this is in line with the aim and epistemology of the present study; that of capturing participants' subjective perceptions. Additionally, many research factors have been shown to influence the quality of participants' responses. These include interviewer characteristics, the quality of the interview questions, and the setting in which the data are collected (Fraga, 2016). I argue that my shared gender and cultural background with the participants, the quality of the interview questions, conducting research in a safe organisation where participants were attending counselling sessions, and respecting their perceptions of the definition of domestic violence provided the opportunity for them to provide detailed and rich data based on what violence really means to them.

Further, I limited myself to exploring important themes to meet the aims of the research, meaning some interesting data was discarded simply because it was beyond the scope of this study. For example, all participants provided detailed accounts of their experiences during their childhood, to which it was not possible to attend in this research.

Despite these limitations, the need to better understand the unique cultural factors that influence Iranian immigrant women's sense-making about domestic violence has been highlighted. In particular, the specific counselling needs of Iranian immigrant women have been presented. Thus, factors unique to Iranian immigrant women's experiences of domestic violence have been presented, with the hope of filling the gap that exists in the literature regarding this population.

The aim of the current study was to investigate the subjective experience of Iranian immigrant women experiencing domestic violence within their heterosexual relationships. As a researcher, I took a hermeneutic phenomenological position and used IPA to analyse the

data. Further researchers could use different approaches to explore this topic. Based on my interpretation and the use of the word 'victim' by several participants, it appears that the women positioned themselves as 'victims'. Boyle and Rogers (2010) argue that those who identify as 'victims' report greater negative emotions and depression than those who identify as 'survivors'. Burr (1995) proposed that "our use of language can be thought of as a form of action, and some social constructionists take this 'performative' role of language as their focus of interest" (p. 7). As a result, by considering women's language as an active vehicle for their perceptions and feelings, further researchers could explore women's experiences from a social constructionist viewpoint, for example, by using discourse analysis with particular attention to the use of the phrase 'survivor' instead of 'victim'. This attention to language should be consistent while designing recruitment materials, writing the interview schedule, and conducting the actual interviews.

The women indicated difficulty maintaining relationships with their families and the Iranian community. However, as previously mentioned, they felt ashamed of using counselling services, leaving them vulnerable. Future researchers could therefore explore how this group experience and make sense of their relationships in their host country, and how this avoidance of their family and Iranian community impacts their lives and state of mind. Iranian women traditionally put their family's reputation first and will stay in unhappy marriages for the sake of their children (Ansari & Martin, 2002). Thus, in particular, researchers could investigate Iranian women's relationships with their children in the context of domestic violence and being divorced mothers in a new culture.

Lastly, the women illustrated the importance of being helped via culturally sensitive interventions. This suggests that further research may help us offer better services to this population. Of particular interest is the impact that cultural values, such as gender roles and family relationships, continue to have on female Iranian victims of violence even after

moving to a Western country such as the UK. Understanding the phenomenon of domestic violence within the Iranian immigrant population will allow researchers and clinicians to develop appropriate, culturally relevant interventions (Babak, 2015). According to Richie (2004), "the aim is to deepen what is known about the range of women's experiences represented in the national databases and design more effective anti-violence intervention programs" (p. 5).

4.8. Conclusion

This study was conducted with six Iranian immigrant women survivors of domestic violence. The aim was to gain an insight into these women's experiences of domestic violence and using UK counselling services. This is important due to the lack of previous research in this area. To my knowledge, the only previous qualitative study involving Iranian immigrant women was conducted by Aghtaie (2015, 2017), in which the author explored the perspectives of female Iranian students living in both Iran and the UK who had experienced violence. As discussed, findings from the current study may be used to promote counselling interventions to address domestic violence within the specific socio-cultural context of abused Iranian women.

Findings from this study contribute to the existing literature on domestic violence; in particular, findings are relevant for Iranian immigrant women survivors of domestic violence in the UK. In this way, a voice has been given to Iranian women who have experienced domestic violence. These women's perceptions and experiences of counselling interventions have not been investigated in the UK. This is particularly important within this population as the majority of these women's relationships with their family and the wider Iranian community have been harmed due to their help-seeking behaviour; that is, disclosing the violence to the police. Respect was given to women's experiences of domestic violence by providing a non-judgmental environment for them to talk about their experiences, allowing

them to break their silence on domestic violence. Considering that disclosing domestic violence is taboo in Iranian culture, it is hoped that revealing these women's experiences may help to break this stigma.

It is hoped that further in-depth research will be conducted into issues related to domestic violence among Iranian immigrant women in the UK, as this topic remains understudied. Women's experiences of counselling and other support services designed for domestic violence survivors have been highlighted here. Thus, the cultural complexities that shape Iranian immigrant women's experiences of domestic violence have been illuminated. To promote and enhance counselling and support services, we need to hear and understand the lived experiences of abused women themselves. Such an understanding has begun to be developed through analysing the women's subjective narratives of their experiences of counselling and support services.

References

- Adineh, H. A., Almasi, Z., Rad, M. E., Zareban, I., & Moghaddam, A. A. (2016). Prevalence of domestic violence against women in Iran: A systematic review. *Epidemiology:*Open Access, 6(6).
- Afkhamzadeh, A., Azadi, N. A., Ziaeei, S., & Mohamadi-Bolbanabad, A. (2019). Domestic violence against women in west of Iran: the prevalence and related factors.

 International Journal of Human Rights in Healthcare, 12 (5).*

 https://doi.org/10.1108/IJHRH-12-2018-0080
- Afshar, H. (2005). Women and the politics of fundamentalism in Iran. In *Women and politics* in the third world (pp. 136-156). Routledge
- Aghtaie, N. (2015). Iranian women's perspectives on violence against women in Iran and the UK. *Journal of Iranian Studies*, 48(5), 1-19. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/00210862.2015.1017970
- Aghtaie, N. (2017). Rape within heterosexual intimate relationships inIran: legal frameworks, cultural and structural violence. Families, Relationships and Societies, 6(2), 167-183.https://doi.org/10.1332/204674317X14861126776962
- Ahmad, F., Rai, N., Petrovic, B., Erickson, P. E., & Stewart, D. E. (2013). Resilience and resources among South Asian immigrant women as survivors of partner violence. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 15(6), 1057-1064.
- Ahmadi, B., Nasseri, S., Alimohamadian, M., Shams, M., Ranjibari, Z., Shariat, M., Ebrahimpour, A., Pourreza, A., Mahmoodi, M., & Younesian, M. (2008). Views of Tehrani couples and experts on domestic violence against women in Iran: A qualitative research. *Journal of School of Public Health and Institute of Public Health Research*, 6(2), 67-81.

- Ahmadi, R., Soleimani, R., Jalali, M. M., Yousefnezhad, A., Roshandel Rad, M., & Eskandari, A. (2017). Association of intimate partner violence with sociodemographic factors in married women: A population-based study in Iran. *Psychology, Health & Medicine*, 22(7), 834-844.
- Ahmadzai, M. (2015). A study on visible minority immigrant women's experiences with domestic violence (Doctoral dissertation, Wilfrid Laurier University, Canada).

 Retrieved from

 https://scholars.wlu.ca/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1014&context=brantford_sjce.
- Ahmed, A. M., Abdelrahman, N. H. A., Aedh, A. I., Al-Omer, K. A., & Mohamed, E. Y. (2016). Domestic Violence: With Emphasis on International Cultural and Societal Variations. *Majmaah Journal of Health Sciences*, 216(3771), 1-16.doi: 10.12816/0031193
- Akhavan, S. (2006). The health and working conditions of female immigrants in Sweden.

 (Doctoral dissertation, Karolinska Institute, Sweden). Retrieved from

 https://openarchive.ki.se/xmlui/bitstream/handle/10616/37871/thesis.pdf?sequence=1
 &isAllowed=y
- Akinsulure-Smith, A. M., Chu, T., Keatley, E., & Rasmussen, A. (2013). Intimate partner violence among West African immigrants. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma*, 22(2), 109-126.
- Ålander, T., Heimer, G., Svärdsudd, K., & Agréus, L. (2008). Abuse in women and men with and without functional gastrointestinal disorders. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences*, 53(7), 1856-1864.
- Alangea, D. O., Addo-Lartey, A. A., Sikweyiya, Y., Chirwa, E. D., Coker-Appiah, D., Jewkes, R., & Adanu, R. M. K. (2018). Prevalence and risk factors of intimate partner

- violence among women in four districts of the central region of Ghana: Baseline findings from a cluster randomised controlled trial. *PloS One*, *13*(7), e0200874.
- Alavi, T. (2014). Iranian migration to Sweden: Identity-processes and integration strategies among Iranian immigrant men and women. Retrieved from http://lup.lub.lu.se/luur/download?func=downloadFile&recordOId=4590372&fileOId=4590374.
- Alegría, M., Álvarez, K., & DiMarzio, K. (2017). Immigration and mental health. *Current Epidemiology Reports*, 4(2), 145-155.
- Ali, P. A., Dhingra, K., & McGarry, J. (2016). A literature review of intimate partner violence and its classifications. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, *31*, 16-25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2016.06.008.
- Alvarez, C., & Fedock, G. (2018). Addressing intimate partner violence with Latina women: a call for research. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse*, 19(4), 488-493.
- Alvarez, G., Lameiraz-Fernandez, M., Holiday, C. N., Sabri, B., & Campbell, J. (2018).

 Latina and Caribbean immigrant women's experiences with intimate partner violence:

 A story of ambivalent sexism. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*. doi: https://doiorg.ezproxy.uwe.ac.uk/10.1177%2F0886260518777006.
- Amini, E., & McCormack, M. (2020). Older Iranian Muslim women's experiences of sex and sexuality: A biographical approach. *The British Journal of Sociology*. DOI: 10.1111/1468-4446.12805
- Amuedo-Dorantes, C., & Arenas-Arroyo, E. (2019). *Immigration enforcement, police trust* and domestic violence. Unpublished manuscript. Retrieved from

http://conference.iza.org/conference_files/JuniorSenior_2019/arenas-arroyo_e24280.pdf

- Ansara, D. L., & Hindin, M. J. (2011). Psychosocial consequences of intimate partner violence for women and men in Canada. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 26(8), 1628-1645.
- Ansari, S., & Martin, V. (2002). Women, religion and culture in Iran. New York: Routledge.
- Arianfar, N., Zamanshoar, E., Rasuli, R., & Yusefzade, I. (2020). Common themes in the divorce transition experience of women based on their locus of control. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 61(3), 206-224. https://doi.org/10.1080/10502556.2019.1699369
- Aroian, K. J. (2001). Immigrant women and their health. *Annual Review of Nursing Research*, 19(1), 179-226.
- Ashley, H. (2010). Humanistic contributions to pluralistic practice. In M. Martin (Ed.).

 Therapy and beyond: Counselling psychology contributions to therapeutic and social issues (pp. 123-138). West Sussex: Willey: Blackwell.
- Asiyanbola, A. (2005). Patriarchy, male dominance, the role and women empowerment in Nigeria. In *Poster presentado en la XXV International Population Conference Tours, Francia*.
- AuCoin, K., & Beauchamp, D. L. (2007). *Impacts and consequences of victimization, GSS* 2004. Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics.
- Ayyub, R. (2000). Domestic violence in the South Asian Muslim immigrant population in the United States. *Journal of Social Distress and the Homeless*, 9(3), 237-248. doi: https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1009412119016.

- Babak, M. (2015). Developing an intervention psychotherapy programme for the needs of Iranian immigrants in the UK (Doctoral dissertation, Middlesex University/Metanoia Institute). Retrieved from https://eprints.mdx.ac.uk/id/eprint/18748
- Babei, S. A. (2018). Victimization of women in two criminal, justice systems of Iran and England. *National Academy of Managerial Staff of Culture and Arts Herald*, (1). https://doi.org/10.32461/2226-3209.1.2018.178680
- Bacchus, L., Mezey, G., & Bewley, S. (2006). A qualitative exploration of the nature of domestic violence in pregnancy. *Violence Against Women*, *12*(6), 588-604. doi: 10.1177/1077801206289131
- Bahrami, M., Shokrollahi, P., Kohan, S., Momeni, G., & Rivaz, M. (2015). Reaction to and coping with domestic violence by Iranian women victims: A qualitative approach.

 Global Journal of Health Science, 8(7), 100. doi: 10.5539/gjhs.v8n7p100
- Bakhshizadeh, M. (2018). *Changing gender norms in islam between reason and revelation*. Germany: Verlag Barbara Budrich.
- Barnish, M. (2004). *Domestic violence: A literature review*. Retrieved from http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/http:/www.justice.gov.uk/inspectorates/h mi-probation/docs/thematic-dv-literaturereview-rps.pdf
- Barlow, R., & Akbarzadeh, S. (2008). Prospects for feminism in the Islamic republic of Iran. *Hum. Rts. Q.*, *30*, 21. Dio: 10.1353/hrq.2008.0009.
- Bashiruddin, A. (2013). Reflections on translating qualitative research data: Experiences from Pakistan. *International Journal of Applied Linguistics*, 23(3), 357-367. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijal.12041
- Beck, L. (1998). Reconstructed lives: Women and Iran's Islamic revolution. *American Anthropologist*, 100(3), 825-826.
- Berger, P. L., & Luckmann. T. (1966). The social construction of reality. New York: Anchor

- Berger, R. (2013). Now I see it, now I don't: researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, *15*(2), 219-234. doi: 10.1177/1468794112468475.
- Bergin, M., Wells, J. S., & Owen, S. (2008). Critical realism: a philosophical framework for the study of gender and mental health. *Nursing Philosophy*, *9*(3), 169-179.
- Berry, D. B. (2000). The domestic violence sourcebook. Los Angeles, CA: Lowell House.
- Bettman, C. (2009). Patriarchy: The predominant discourse and fount of domestic violence.

 *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Family Therapy, 30(1), 15-28.

 https://doi.org/10.1375/anft.30.1.15
- Bharani, N. (2013). Domestic violence and human rights. *International Research Journal of Social Sciences*, 2(9).
- Bhugra, D. (2004). Migration, distress and cultural identity. *British Medical Bulletin*, 69(1), 129-141. https://doi.org/10.1093/bmb/ldh007
- Bhugra, D. (2016). Social discrimination and social justice. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 8(4), 336-341. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540261.2016.1210359
- Birbili, M. (2000). Translating from one language to another. *Social research update*, *31*(1), 1-7. Retrieved from https://sru.soc.surrey.ac.uk/SRU31.html
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: a tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802-1811. doi: 10.1177/1049732316654870
- Blackstone, A. (2012). Principles of sociological inquiry Qualitative and quantitative methods. Retrieved from

https://resources.saylor.org/wwwresources/archived/site/textbooks/Principles%20of%
20Sociological%20Inquiry.pdf

- Boell, S. K., & Cecez-Kecmanovic, D. (2010). Literature reviews and the hermeneutic circle. *Australian Academic & Research Libraries*, 41(2), 129-144.
- Bograd, M. (1988). Feminist perspectives on wife abuse: An introduction. In K. Yllo & M. Bograd (Eds.), *Feminist perspectives on wife abuse* (pp. 11-26). Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Bolderston, A. (2012). Conducting a research interview. *Journal of Medical Imaging and Radiation Sciences*, 43(1), 66-76.
- Bond, E. (2015). *Understanding domestic abuse in Suffolk: Research report*. Retrieved from https://www.uos.ac.uk/sites/www.uos.ac.uk/files/Understanding-Domestic-Abuse-In-Suffolk.pdf
- Both, L. M., Favaretto, T. C., & Freitas, L. H. M. (2019). Cycle of violence in women victims of domestic violence: Qualitative analysis of OPD 2 interview. *Brain and Behavior*, 9(11). doi: 10.1002/brb3.1430
- Bourdeau, B. (2000). Dual relationships in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 4(3), 1-6. http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tgr
- Boutros, N., Waldvogel, J., Stone, G., & Levine, M. (2011). Family violence in migrant and refugee families and successful models of prevention and intervention: A summary analysis and annotated bibliography. Ministry of Social Development, Wellington.

 Retrieved from https://www.msd.govt.nz/...programmes/...family-violence/annotated-bibliography-fa
- Boyle, A., & Todd, C. (2003). Incidence and prevalence of domestic violence in a UK emergency department. *Emergency Medicine Journal*, 20(5), 438-442.

- Boyle, K. M., & Rogers, K. B. (2020). Beyond the rape "victim"—"survivor" binary: How race, gender, and identity processes interact to shape distress. *Sociological Forum*, 35(2), 323-345. https://doi.org/10.1111/socf.12584
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2013). Successful qualitative research: A practical guide for beginners. London: Sage.
- Brewer, G., Roy, M. P., & Smith, Y. M. (2010). Domestic violence, the psychosocial impact and women's perceptions of health problems. *The Journal of Aggression, Conflict and Peace Research*, 2, 4-15.
- Brocki, J. M., & Wearden, A. J. (2006). A critical evaluation of the use of interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA) in health psychology. *Psychology and Health*, *21*(1), 87-108.
- Brooks, C. M. (2008). *Moments of strength: Iranian women's rights and the 1979 revolution*(Honors Theses, Colby College, Waterville, Maine).Rtrieved from
 https://digitalcommons.colby.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1291&context=honorst heses
- Brown, G. (2004). Gender as a factor in the response of the law-enforcement system to violence against partners. *Sexuality and Culture*, 8(3-4), 3-139.
- Bui, H., & Morash, M. (2008). Immigration, masculinity, and intimate partner violence from the standpoint of domestic violence service providers and Vietnamese-origin women. *Feminist Criminology*, *3*(3), 191-215.
- Bunn, M., Goesel, C., Kinet, M., & Ray, F. (2015). Group treatment for survivors of torture and severe violence: A literature review. *Torture Journal*, 26(1), 23-23. https://doi.org/10.7146/torture.v26i1.108062

- Burr, V. (1995). *An introduction to social constructionism*. New York, NY: Taylor & Frances/Routledge
- Bury, B., & Strauss, S. M. (2006). The scientist-practitioner in a counselling psychology setting. In D. A. Lane & S. Corrie (Eds.), *The modern scientist-practitioner: A guide to practice in psychology* (pp. 112-126). London: Routledge
- Burzawa, E. S., & Buzawa, C. G. (2003). Domestic violence: the criminal justice response.

 Thousand Oaks, California: Sage.
- Campbell, J. C. (2002). Health consequences of intimate partner violence. *The Lancet*, 359(9314), 1331-1336.
- Campbell, R., Sullivan, C. M., & Davidson, W. S. (1995). Women who use domestic violence shelters changes in depression over time. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 19(2), 237-255.
- Carter, J. (2015). A call to action: Women, religion, violence, and power. New York: Simon and Schuster.
- Casefire Centre for Civilian Rights. (2019). Beyond the veil: Discrimination against women in Iran. Retrived from https://minorityrights.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/MRG_CFR_Iran_EN_Sept191.pdf
- Cascardi, M., Langhinrichsen, J., & Vivian, D. (1992). Marital aggression: Impact, injury, and health correlate for husbands and wives. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 152(6), 1178-1184.
- Cassidy, E., Reynolds, F., Naylor, S., & De Souza, L. (2011). Using interpretative phenomenological analysis to inform physiotherapy practise: An introduction with reference to the lived experience of cerebellar ataxia. *Physiotherapy Theory and Practice*, 27(4), 263-277.doi: https://doi.org/10.3109/09593985.2010.488278

- Chang, D. F., Shen, B. J., & Takeuchi, D. T. (2009). Prevalence and demographic correlates of intimate partner violence in Asian Americans. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, 32(3), 167-175.
- Chang, J. C., Dado, D., Hawker, L., Cluss, P. A., Buranosky, R., Slagel, L., McNeil., & Scholle, S. H. (2010). Understanding turning points in intimate partner violence: Factors and circumstances leading women victims toward change. *Journal of Women's Health*, 19(2), 251-259. http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2009.1568
- Charlick, S., Pincombe, J., McKellar, L., & Fielder, A. (2016). Making sense of participant experiences: Interpretative phenomenological analysis in midwifery research.

 International Journal of Doctoral Studies, 11(11), 205-216.
- Chauhan, K. (2014). Patriarchal Pakistan: Women's representation, access to resources, and institutional practices. In *Gender Inequality in the Public Sector in Pakistan* (pp. 57-87). Palgrave Macmillan, New York.
- Chaze, F., & Medhekar, A. (2017). The intersectional oppressions of South Asian immigrant women and vulnerability in relation to domestic violence: A case study. Retrieved from https://www.oba.org/Sections/Family-Law/Articles/Articles-2017/March-2017/The-Intersectional-Oppressions-of-South-Asian-Immi
- Christensen, L. B., Johnson, B. R., & Turner, L. A. (2011). *Research methods, design, and analysis* (11th ed.). Boston: Pearson.
- Colucci, E., & Montesinos, A. H. (2013). Violence against women and suicide in the context of migration: A review of the literature and a call for action. Suicidology Online, 4, 81-91.
- Coolican, H. (2009). *Research methods and statistics in psychology*. London: Hodder Education.

- Condino, V., Tanzilli, A., Speranza, A. M., & Lingiardi, V. (2016). Therapeutic interventions in intimate partner violence: An overview. *Research in Psychotherapy:*Psychopathology, Process and Outcome, 19(2). doi:10.4081/ripppo.2016.24
- Cordero, A. (2014). Understanding experiences of female survivors of domestic violence:

 Stories of strength, resilience, and mechanisms that assist in leaving violent

 relationships (Doctoral dissertation, Utah State University, United States). Retrieved

 from https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=3185&context=etd
- Coronel, A. L. C., & Silva, H. T. H. (2018). Interrelation between functional constipation and domestic violence. *Journal of Coloproctology (Rio de Janeiro)*, 38(2), 117-123.
- Cort, L., & Cline, T. (2017). Exploring the impact of domestic abuse on the mother role: how can educational psychologists contribute to this area? *Educational Psychology in Practice*, *33*(2), 167-179.
- Crabtree-Nelson, S. V. (2010). *How counseling helps: An in-depth look at domestic violence counselling* (Doctoral dissertation, Loyola University Chicago, Chicago). Retrieved from https://ecommons.luc.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1262&context=luc_diss
- Crawford, E., Liebling-Kalifani, H., & Hill, V. (2009). Women's understanding of the effects of domestic abuse: The impact on their identity, sense of self and resilience. A grounded theory approach. *Journal of International Women's Studies*, 11(2), 63-82.
- Cromby, J., Harper, D., & Reavey, P. (2013). Psychology, Mental Health, and Distress. UK: Palgrave.
- Crowell, S. (2004). Existentialism. *Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy*. Retrieved from http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/existentialism.
- Danermark B., Ekstrom M., Jakobsen L., & Karlsson J. C. (2002). *Explaining society, critical realism in the social sciences, critical realism interventions*. London: Routledge

- Daoud, N., Urquia, M. L., O'Campo, P., Heaman, M., Janssen, P. A., Smylie, J., & Thiessen, K. (2012). Prevalence of abuse and violence before, during, and after pregnancy in a national sample of Canadian women. *American Journal of Public Health*, 102(10), 1893-1901.
- Darvishpour, M. (2002). Immigrant women challenge the role of men: How the changing power relationship within Iranian families in Sweden intensifies family conflicts after immigration. *Journal of Comparative Family Studies*, 33(2), 271-296.
- Dastjerdi, M., Olson, K., & Ogilvie, L. (2012). A study of Iranian immigrants' experiences of accessing Canadian health care services: A grounded theory. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 11(1), 55.
- Davidsen, A. S. (2013). Phenomenological approaches in psychology and health sciences.

 *Qualitative Research in Psychology, 10(3), 318-339.

 doi: 10.1080/14780887.2011.608466
- Dekel, B., & Andipatin, M. (2016). Abused women's understandings of intimate partner violence and the link to intimate femicide. In *Forum Qualitative*Sozialforschung/Forum: Qualitative Social Research (Vol. 17, No. 1). Retrieved from http://www.qualitative-research.net/index.php/fqs/article/view/2394/3938
- Delara, M. (2016). Social determinants of immigrant women's mental health. *Advances in Public Health*. doi: 10.1155/2016/9730162.
- Denzin, N. K. (2010). Moments, mixed methods, and paradigm dialogues. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 16(6), 419-427.
- DeRose, K. (2009). The case for contextualism. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Derr, A. S. (2016). Mental health service use among immigrants in the United States: A systematic review. *Psychiatric Services*, 67(3), 265-274. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201500004
- Dhairyawan, R., Tariq, S., Scourse, R., & Coyne, K. M. (2013). Intimate partner violence in women living with HIV attending an inner city clinic in the UK: prevalence and associated factors. *HIV Medicine*, *14*(5), 303-310
- Diaz, E., Ortiz-Barreda, G., Ben-Shlomo, Y., Holdsworth, M., Salami, B., Rammohan, A., Chung, R.Y., Padmadas, S., & Krafft, T. (2017). Interventions to improve immigrant health. A scoping review. *European Journal of Public Health*, 27(3), 433-439. doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckx001
- Dillon, G., Hussain, R., Loxton, D., & Rahman, S. (2013). Mental and physical health and intimate partner violence against women: A review of the literature. *International Journal of Family Medicine*, 2013.
- Division of Counselling Psychology (2017). *Practice Guidelines: British Psychological Society*. Retrieved from https://www.bps.org.uk/sites/bps.org.uk/files/Policy%20-%20Files/BPS%20Practice%20Guidelines%20(Third%20Edition).pdf.
- Do, K. N., Weiss, B., & Pollack, A. (2013). Cultural beliefs, intimate partner violence, and mental health functioning among Vietnamese women. *International Perspectives in Psychology: Research, Practice, Consultation*, 2(3), 149.
- Dobash, R. E., Dobash, R. P., Cavanagh, K., & Lewis, R. (2004). Not an ordinary killer—

 Just an ordinary guy: When men murder an intimate woman partner. *Violence Against Women*, 10(6), 577-605.
- Dobash, R. P., Dobash, R. E., Wilson, M., & Daly, M. (1992). The myth of sexual symmetry in marital violence. *Social Problems*, *39*(1), 71-91.

- Dorahy, M. J., Lewis, C., & Wolfe, F. A. (2007). Psychological distress associated with domestic violence in Northern Ireland. *Current Psychology: Developmental Learning Personality Social*, 25(4), 295.
- Dudley, D., McCloskey, K., & Kustron, D. A. (2008). Therapist perceptions of intimate partner violence: A replication of Harway and Hansen's study after more than a decade. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma*, 17(1), 80-102.
- Dutton, M. A., & Goodman, L. A. (2005). Coercion in intimate partner violence: Toward a new conceptualization. *Sex Roles*, 52(11-12), 743-756.
- Eatough, V., & Smith, J. (2006). I was like a wild person: Understanding feelings of anger using interpretative phenomenological analysis. *British Journal of Psychology*, 97(4), 483-498. doi: 10.1348/000712606X97831
- Eatough, V., & Smith J. A. (2017). Interpretative phenomenological analysis. In C. Willig & W. Stainton Rogers (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research in psychology*. London: Sage.
- Echeburúa, E., Sarasua, B., & Zubizarreta, I. (2014). Individual versus individual and group therapy regarding a cognitive-behavioral treatment for battered women in a community setting. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 29(10), 1783-1801. doi: 10.1177/0886260513511703.
- Ellsberg, M., Heise, L., Pena, R., Agurto, S., & Winkvist, A. (2001). Researching domestic violence against women: Methodological and ethical considerations. *Studies in Family Planning*, 32(1), 1-16.
- Ely, G. E., Dulmus, C. N., & Wodarski, J. S. (2004). Domestic violence: A literature review reflecting an international crisis. *Stress, Trauma and Crisis: An International Journal*, 7(2), 77–91. https://doi.org/10.1080/15434610490450860

- Fahmy, E., & Williamson, E. (2018). Poverty and domestic violence and abuse (DVA) in the UK. *Journal of Gender-Based Violence*, 2(3), 481-501.
- Fairfax, C. N. (2014). Social work, marriage, and ethnicity: Policy and practice. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 24(2), 83-91. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2014.848669
- Farrell, M. L. (1996). Healing: A qualitative study of women recovering from abusive relationships with men. *Perspectives in Psychiatric Care*, 32(3), 23-32.
- Farrell, M. (1996). The sense of relationship in women who have encountered abuse. *Journal* of the American Psychiatric Nurses Association, 2(2), 46-53.
- Farsimadan, F. (2011). The effects of a Middle Eastern (Iranian) heritage. In C. Lago (Eds.), *The handbook of transcultural counselling & psychotherapy* (p. 280). England: Open
 University Press.
- Fathi, A., Renner, W., & Juen, B. (2016). A qualitative study of cognitive-behavioral therapy for Iranian migrants with mild/moderate depression in Austria. *Bulletin of the Menninger Clinic*, 80(2), 166-186.
- Femi-Ajao, O., Kendal, S., & Lovell, K. (2018). A qualitative systematic review of published work on disclosure and help-seeking for domestic violence and abuse among women from ethnic minority populations in the UK. *Ethnicity & Health*, 1-15.
- Fessinger, R., & Morrow, S. (2013). Towards best practices in quantitative, qualitative, and mixed-method research, a social justice perspective. *Journal for Social Action in Counselling and Psychology*, 5(2), 69-83.
- Finlay, L. (2002). Outing the researcher: The provenance, process and practice of reflexivity. *Qualitative Health Research*, 12(14), 531-545
- Finlay, L. (2011). *Phenomenology for therapists: Researching the lived world*. Chichester, UK: Wiley-Blackwell.

- Floyd, A., & Sakellariou, D. (2017). Healthcare access for refugee women with limited literacy: Layers of disadvantage. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 16(1), 195.
- Flynn, T. (2011). Jean-Paul Sartre. In E. N. Zalta (Ed.), *The Stanford encyclopedia of philosophy*. Retrieved from http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/sartre
- Fouad, N. A., Gerstein, L. H., & Toporek, R. L. (2006). Social justice and counselling psychology in context. In R. L. Toporek, L. H. Gerstein, N. A. Fouad, G. Roysicar, & T. Israel (Eds.), *Handbook for social justice in counselling psychology: Leadership, vision, and action* (pp. 1-16). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Fox, N. (2009). *Using interview in a research project*. Yorkshire: The NIHR Research Design Service. Retrieved from https://www.rds-yh.nihr.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/05/15_Using-Interviews-2009.pdf.
- Fraga, S. (2016). Methodological and ethical challenges in violence research. *Porto Biomedical Journal*, 1(2), 77-80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbj.2016.04.005
- Franchi, L. (n. d.). *Sartre and freedom*. Retrieved from http://files.

 lfranchi.com/papers/sartre.and.freedom.pdf
- Fuchsel, C. L. M. (2012). The Catholic Church as a support for immigrant Mexican women living with domestic violence. *Social Work and Christianity*, *39*(1), 66.
- Fuchsel, C. L. M., Murphy, S. B., & Dufresne, R. (2012). Domestic violence, culture, and relationship dynamics among immigrant Mexican women. *Affilia*, 27(3), 263-274.
- Fusch, P., & Ness, L. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408-1416.
- Gedik, E. (2015). Trapped in between state, market and family: Experiences of moderately educated divorced and widow women (Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Middle East

- Technical University, Ankara). Retrieved from http://etd.lib.metu.edu.tr/upload/12618652/index.pdf
- Gennari M., Giuliani C., & Accordini M. (2017). Muslim immigrant men's and women's attitudes towards intimate partner violence. *Europe's Journal of Psychology*, *13*(4), 688-707. doi:.10.5964/ejop.v13i4.1411
- George, J., Nair, D., Premkumar, N. R., Saravanan, N., Chinnakali, P., & Roy, G. (2016). The prevalence of domestic violence and its associated factors among married women in a rural area of Puducherry, South India. *Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care*, *5*(3), 672.
- Ghafournia, N., & Easteal, P. (2018). Are immigrant women visible in Australian domestic violence reports that potentially influence policy? *Laws*, 7(4), 32. https://doi.org/10.3390/laws7040032
- Ghaleiha, A. (2018). *Iranian New Zealander men's perception of domestic violence* (Doctoral dissertation, The University of Waikato). Retrieved from https://researchcommons.waikato.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10289/11770/thesis.pdf?sequence=4&isAllowed=y
- Ghazi-Moghadam, S. (2009). A qualitative study of the perceived attitudes toward counseling and effective counseling practices in working with clients of Iranian Origin (Doctoral dissertation, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, United States). Retrieved from https://conservancy.umn.edu/bitstream/handle/11299/57460/GhaziMoghadam_umn_0 130E 10761.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- Ghosh, J. (2009). Migration and gender empowerment: Recent trends and emerging issues.

 *Human Development Research Paper Series, 4, 2009.

- Gilbert, P., & Procter, S. (2006). Compassionate mind training for people with high shame and self-criticism: Overview and pilot study of a group therapy approach. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy: An International Journal of Theory & Practice*, *13*(6), 353-379. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.507
- Gill, P., Stewart, K., Treasure, E., & Chadwick, B. (2008). Methods of data collection in qualitative research: interviews and focus groups. *British Dental Journal*, 204(6), 291-295. doi: 10.1038/bdj.2008.192.
- Giorgi, A. (2005). The phenomenological movement and research in the human sciences.

 Nursing Science Quarterly, 18(1), 75-82.
- Gleason, W. J. (1993). Mental disorders in battered women: An empirical study. *Violence and Victims*, 8(1), 53.
- Godoy-Ruiz, P., Toner, B., Mason, R., Vidal, C., & McKenzie, K. (2015). Intimate partner violence and depression among Latin American women in Toronto. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, *17*(6), 1771-1780.
- Gonçalves, M., & Matos, M. (2016). Prevalence of violence against immigrant women: A systematic review of the literature. *Journal of Family Violence*, *31*(6), 697-710.
- Gondolf, E. W., Heckert, D. A., & Kimmel, C. M. (2002). Nonphysical abuse among batterer program participants. *Journal of Family Violence*, *17*(4), 293-314. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1020304715511
- Gonzalez, J. (2010). The battered woman experience: A Phenomenological study exploring the lives of Latina women and their experience with domestic violence (Doctoral dissertation, University of Nebraska, Lincoln). Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1068&context=cehsdiss

- Graca, S. (2017). Domestic violence policy and legislation in the UK: A discussion of immigrant women's vulnerabilities. *European Journal of Current Legal Issues*, 22(1).
- Greenberg, L. S., & Iwakabe, S. (2011). Emotion-focused therapy and shame. In R. L.

 Dearing & J. P. Tangney (Eds.), *Shame in the therapy hour* (pp. 69–90). American

 Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/12326-003
- Grimmer, A., & Tribe, R. (2001). Counselling psychologists' perceptions of the impact of mandatory personal therapy on professional development: An exploratory study. *Counselling Psychology Quarterly*, *14*(4), 287-301.
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field Methods*, *18*(1), 59-82. doi:10.1177/1525822X05279903.
- Gulliver, P., & Fanslow, J. (2013). Exploring risk factors for suicidal ideation in a population-based sample of New Zealand women who have experienced intimate partner violence. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, *37*(6), 527-533. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/1753-6405.12110
- Gupta, J., Falb, K. L., Carliner, H., Hossain, M., Kpebo, D., & Annan, J. (2014). Associations between exposure to intimate partner violence, armed conflict, and probable PTSD among women in rural Co^{*}te d'Ivoire. *PLoS One*, *9*(5), e96300. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0096300
- Guruge, S., Roche, B., & Catallo, C. (2012). Violence against women: An exploration of the physical and mental health trends among immigrant and refugee women in Canada. *Nursing Research and Practice*, 2012. 434592. doi:10.1155/2012/43459.

- Gusman, S. (2018). To the nothingnesses themselves: Husserl's Influence on Sartre's notion of nothingness. *Journal of the British Society for Phenomenology*, 49(1), 55-70. doi: 10.1080/00071773.2017.1387687
- Hague, G., Mullender, A., & Aris, R. (2003). *Is anyone listening? Accountability and women survivors of domestic violence*. London: Routledge.
- Hajnasiri, H., Gheshlagh, R. G., Sayehmiri, K., Moafi, F., & Farajzadeh, M. (2016). Domestic violence among Iranian women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Iranian Red Crescent Medical Journal*, 18(6).
- Haj-Yahia, M. M. (2005). On the characteristics of patriarchal societies, gender inequality, and wife abuse: The case of Palestinian society. *Adalah's Newsletter*, 20, 1-6.
- Hall, R. J. (2014). Feminist strategies to end violence against women. Retrieved from: http://www.oxfordhandbooks.com/view/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199943494.001.0001/ oxfordhb-9780199943494-e-005
- Hall, R. J. (2015). Feminist strategies to end violence against women. Retrieved from http://www.oxfordhandbooks.com/view/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199943494.001.0001/ oxfordhb-9780199943494-e-005?print=pdf
- Halper, L. (2006). Law, authority, and gender in post-revolutionary Iran. Buff. L. Rev., 54 (4), 1137. Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.law.buffalo.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1120&context=b uffalolawreview
- Hammarberg, K., Kirkman, M., & de Lacey, S. (2016). Qualitative research methods: When to use them and how to judge them. *Human Reproduction*, *31*(3), 498-501. doi:10.1093/humrep/dev334

- Hamzeh, B., Garousi, M., & Laflamme, L. (2008). Opinions about potential causes & triggers of intimate partner violence against women: A population-based study among married men from Kermanshah city, Iran. *International of Injury Control and Safety*, 15(4), 253-263. doi:10.1080/17457300802361523
- Hamzehei, P. (2014). *Iranian women's experience of mandatory hijab: A case study of a campaign on Facebook* (Master's thesis, Stockholm University). Retrieved from http://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:780122/FULLTEXT01.pdf
- Hannan, A. (2015). Over her shoulder: What are women's relationship perceptions when there has been lived experience of domestic violence within that relationship? (Degree thesis, Edith Cowan University Edith, South West Campus, Australia). Retrieved from https://ro.ecu.edu.au/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1238&context=theses_hons
- Harne, L., & Radford, J. (2008). *Tackling domestic violence: theories, policies and practice:*theories, policies and practice. UK: McGraw-Hill Education
- Hashemi, M. (2020). Coming of age in Iran: Poverty and the struggle for dignity (Vol. 6).

 New York: NYU Press.
- Hefferon, K., & Gil-Rodriguez, E. (2011). Interpretative phenomenological analysis. *The Psychologist*. Retrieved from https://thepsychologist.bps.org.uk/volume-24/edition-10/methods-interpretative-phenomenological-analysis
- Heise, L., & Fulu, E. (2014). What works to prevent violence against women and girls. State of the field of violence against women and girls: what do we know and what are the knowledge gaps. Retrieved from https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/57a089b640f0b6497400021a/What_W orks_Inception_Report_June_2014_AnnexD_WG1_paper_State_of_the_field.pdf

- Heise, L., Ellsberg, M., & Gottemoeller, M. (1999). Ending violence against women.

 Population Reports, 27(4), 1-1.
- Heise, L., & Fulu, E. (2014). What works to prevent violence against women and girls. State of the field of violence against women and girls: what do we know and what are the knowledge gaps. Retrieved from https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/57a089b640f0b6497400021a/What_Works_Inception_Report_June_2014_AnnexD_WG1_paper_State_of_the_field.pdf
- Hellemans, S., Loeys, T., Buysse, A., & De Smet, O. (2015). Prevalence and impact of intimate partner violence (IPV) among an ethnic minority population. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 30(19), 3389-3418.
- Herbert, J. D., & Padovani, F. (2015). Contextualism, psychological science, and the question of ontology. *Journal of Contextual Behavioural Science*, 4(4), 225-230.
- Higgins, P. J. (1985). Women in the Islamic Republic of Iran: Legal, social, and ideological changes. *Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society*, *10*(3), 477-494.
- Hinton, C. E. (2020). Unintended consequences: intimate partner violence, military caregivers, and the law. *Journal of veterans studies*, *6*(1). DOI: https://doi.org/10.21061/jvs.v6i1.166.
- Ho, D. Y. F. (1995). Internalised culture, culturocentrism, and transcendence. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 23(1), 4-24.
- Hogan, K. (2016). Men's experiences of female-perpetrated intimate partner violence: A qualitative exploration (Doctoral dissertation, University of the West of England).

 Retrieved from

 http://eprints.uwe.ac.uk/28618/12/Thesis%20Kevin%20Hogan_ProfDoc_final%20ap

 proved%20version.pdf.

- Home Office (2012). New definition of domestic violence and abuse to include 16 and 17-year-olds. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-definition-of-domestic-violence-and-abuse-to-include-16-and-17-year-olds--2.
- Home Office (2013). *Domestic violence and abuse*. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/guidance/domestic-violence-and-abuse
- Home Office (2015). Controlling or coercive behaviour in an intimate or family relationship statutory guidance framework. Retrieved from https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/system/uploads/attachme https://assets.publishing.service.gov.
- Home Office (2017). Country policy and information Note Iran: Women fearing domestic violence. Retrieved from https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme
 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme
 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme
 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme
 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme
 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme
 <a href="https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/upl
- Home Office (2018). Country policy and information note Iran: Background information, including actors of protection and internal relocation. Retrieved from https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme
 nt_data/file/741321/Iran Background CPIN v5.0 September 2018_.pdf
- Home Office (2018). *Honour-based violence and forced marriage*. Retrieved from https://www.cps.gov.uk/legal-guidance/honour-based-violence-and-forced-marriage.
- Home Office (2018). *Homicide, firearms and intimate violence 2006/07 (Home Office Statistical Bulletin 03/08)*. Retrieved from http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/shared/bsp/hi/pdfs/homicides2007.pdf
- Hondagneu-Sotelo, P. (1994). *Gendered transitions: Mexican experiences of immigration*.

 University of California Press.

- Hovsepian-Bearce, Y. (2015). The political ideology of Ayatollah Khamenei: Out of the mouth of the supreme leader of Iran. Routledge.
- Howard, L. M., Trevillion, K., & Agnew-Davies, R. (2010). Domestic violence and mental health. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 22(5), 525-534.
- Humphreys, C., & Thiara, R. (2003). Mental health and domestic violence: 'I call it symptoms of abuse'. *British Journal of Social Work*, *33*(2), 209-226. doi: 10.1080/0964906032000145948
- Hurwitz, E. J. H., Gupta, J., Liu, R., Silverman, J. G., & Raj, A. (2006). Intimate partner violence associated with poor health outcomes in US South Asian women. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 8(3), 251-261.
- Hyman, H. H. (1955). Survey design and analysis: Principles, cases, and procedures.

 New York: Free Press.
- Hyman, H. H. (1991). *Taking society's measure: A personal history of survey research*. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Inman, G. A., & Rao, K. (2018). Asian Indian women: Domestic violence, mental health, and sites of resilience. *Women & Therapy*, 41(1-2), 83-96, doi: 10.1080/02703149.2017.1324189
- Izzidien, S. (2008). "I can't tell people what is happening at home." Domestic abuse within South Asian communities: the specific needs of women, children and young people.

 London: NSPCC.
- Jackson, H., Philp, E., Nuttall, R. L., & Diller, L. (2002). Traumatic brain injury: A hidden consequence for battered women. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 33(1), 39.

- Jahromi, M. K., Jamali, S., Koshkaki, A. R., & Javadpour, S. (2016). Prevalence and risk factors of domestic violence against women by their husbands in Iran. *Global Journal of Health Science*, 8(5), 175.
- Jamal, H. (2017). Explaining spousal physical violence through dimensions of women empowerment: Evidence from Pakistan. Retrieved from https://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/83414/1/MPRA_paper_83414.pdf
- Jamshed, S. (2014). Qualitative research method-interviewing and observation. *Journal of Basic and Clinical Pharmacy*, 5(4), 87.
- Janghorban, R., Latifnejad Roudsari, R., Taghipour, A., Abbasi, M., & Lottes, I. (2015). The shadow of silence on the sexual rights of married Iranian women. *BioMed Research International*, 2015. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/520827
- Janghorban, R., Taghipour, A., Roudsari, R. L., & Abbasi, M. (2014). Women's empowerment in Iran: a review based on the related legislations. *Global journal of health science*, 6(4), 226. doi: 10.5539/gjhs.v6n4p226
- Jani, J. S., Ortiz, L., & Aranda, M. P. (2009). Latino outcome studies in social work: A review of the literature. Research on Social Work Practice, 19(2), 179-194.
- Johnson, H., Ollus, N., & Nevala, S. (2008, April). Eliminating violence against women:

 Forms, strategies and tools. Workshop presented at the Seventeenth Session of the

 United Nations Commission on Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice. Vienna:

 UNICRI (Vol. 14).
- Johnstone, L. & Boyle, M. with Cromby, J., Dillon, J., Harper, D., Kinderman, P., Longden, E., Pilgrim, D. & Read, J. (2018). *The Power Threat Meaning Framework: Towards the identification of patterns in emotional distress, unusual experiences and troubled or troubling behaviour, as an alternative to functional psychiatric diagnosis.* British

- Psychological Society. Retrieved from:

 https://www.bps.org.uk/sites/bps.org.uk/files/Policy%20%20Files/PTM%20Overview.pdf
- Karakurt, G., Smith, D., & Whiting, J. (2014). Impact of intimate partner violence on women's mental health. *Journal of Family Violence*, 29(7), 693-702.
- Karakurt, G., Whiting, K., Van Esch, C., Bolen, S. D., & Calabrese, J. R. (2016). Couples therapy for intimate partner violence: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 42(4), 567-583. doi: 10.1111/jmft.12178
- Kasturirangan, A., & Williams, E. N. (2003). Counseling Latina battered women: A qualitative study of the Latina perspective. *Journal of Multicultural Counseling and Development*, 31(3), 162-178. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1912.2003.tb00541.x
- Kaur, R., & Grag, S. (2008). Addressing domestic violence against women: An unfinished agenda. *India Journal of Community Medicine*, 33(2),73-76.doi: 10.4103/0970-0218.40871
- Kavanaugh, K., Moro, T. T., Savage, T., & Mehendale, R. (2006). Enacting a theory of caring to recruit and retain vulnerable participants for sensitive research. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 29(3), 244-252.
- Kavas, S. (2010). Post divorce experience of highly educated and professional women.
 (Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Middle East Technical University Turkey).
 Retrieved from http://etd.lib.metu.edu.tr/upload/12612159/index.pdf
- Khalid, R. (2011). Changes in perception of gender roles: Returned migrants. *Pakistan Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 9, 16-20.
- Khan, M. (2000). Domestic violence against women and girls. *Innocenti Digest*, 6 1-30.

- Khosravi, S. (2009). Displaced masculinity: gender and ethnicity among Iranian men in Sweden. *Iranian Studies*, 42(4), 591-609.
- Kian, S. F. (2017). In what ways does intimate partner violence (IPV) against women change after they have experienced forced immigrations? (Master's dissertation,
 - Ryerson University, Toronto, Canada). Retrieved from Farid Kian Sima_MRP_MSW_2017.PDF
- Kishor, S., & Johnson, K. (2004). Profiling domestic violence: A multi-country study. *Studies in Family Planning*, 36(3), 259-261.
- Klugman, J. (2017). *Gender-based violence and the law*. Background paper to world development report 2017. Retrieved from https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/26198
- Koopman, O. (2015). Phenomenology as a potential methodology for subjective knowing in science education research. *Indo-Pacific Journal of Phenomenology*, 15(1), 1445-7377. doi:10.1080/20797222.2015.1049898
- Korsgaard, C. (2003). Realism and constructionism in twentieth-century moral philosophy.

 The Journal of Philosophical Research, APA Centennial Supplement, 99-102.
- Kovács, A. B. (2006). Sartre, the philosophy of nothingness, and the modern melodrama. *The Journal of Aesthetics and Art Criticism*, 64(1), 135-145.
- Krantz. G., & Garcia-Moreno, C. (2005). Violence against women. *Journal of Epidemiology Community Health*, 59(10), 818-821. doi: 10.1136/jech.2004.022756.
- Kratochwill, T. R., & Shernoff, E. S. (2003). Evidence-based practice: Promoting evidence-based interventions in school psychology. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 18(4), 389.
- Krohn, M. D., Lizotte, A. J., & Hall, G. P. (Eds.). (2009). *Handbook on crime and deviance*. Dordrecht; Heidelberg; London and New York, NY: Springer.

- Krug, E. G., Mercy, J. A., Dahlberg, L. L., & Zwi, A. B. (2002). The world report on violence and health. *The lancet*, 360(9339), 1083-1088. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(02)11133-0
- Krusenvik, L. (2016). *Using case studies as a scientific method: Advantages and disadvantages*. Retrieved from https://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1054643/FULLTEXT01.pdf
- Küçükşen, K. (2016). Being a divorced woman in a patriarchy society: Example of Konya. *Journal of International Social Research*, 9(44).
- Kulwicki, A., Aswad, B., Carmona, T., & Ballout, S. (2010) Barriers in the utilization of domestic violence services among Arab immigrant women: Perceptions of professional, service providers and community leaders. *Journal of Family Violence* 25(8), 727-735.
- Kwong, D. (2002). Removing barriers for battered immigrant women: A comparison of immigrant protections under VAWA I & (and) II. Retrieved from https://scholarship.law.berkeley.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1180&context=bgli
- Kyriakakis, S., Dawson, B. A., & Edmond, T. (2012). Mexican immigrant survivors of intimate partner violence: Conceptualization and descriptions of abuse. *Violence and Victims*, 27(4), 548-562.
- LaBore, K., Ahmed, T., Rizwan-ur-Rashid, & Ahmed, R. (2019). Prevalence and predictors of violence against women in Pakistan. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260518824652

- Lacey, K. K., & Mouzon, D. M. (2016). Severe physical intimate partner violence and the mental and physical health of US Caribbean Black women. *Journal of Women's Health*, 25(9), 920-929.
- Landenburger, K. (1989). A process of entrapment in and recovery from an abusive relationship. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, *10*(3-4), 209-227.
- Langdridge, D. (2007). *Phenomenological psychology theory, research and method*. UK: Pearson Education.
- Langdridge, D. (2008). Phenomenology and critical social psychology: Directions and debates in theory and research. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 2(3), 1126-1142. doi: 10.1002/9781119975144
- Langford, A. A. (2018). *The Path to Modern Iran: an Examination of Shiite Islam's Influence*(1900-Present) (Honors theses, Portland State University, Portland). Retrieved from https://pdxscholar.library.pdx.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1677&context=honorstheses
- Langford, D. (1998). Social chaos and danger as a context of battered women's lives. *Journal of Family Nursing*, 4(2), 167-181.
- Lapierre, S. (2010). Striving to be 'good' mothers: abused women's experiences of mothering. *Child Abuse Review*, *19*(5), 342-357.
- Larkin, M., Eatough, V., & Osborn, M. (2011). Interpretative phenomenological analysis and embodied, active, situated cognition. *Theory & Psychology*, 21(3), 318-337.
- Larkin, M., & Thompson, A. (2012). Interpretative phenomenological analysis. In D. Harper & A. R. Thompson (Eds.), *Qualitative research methods in mental health and psychotherapy: A guide for students and practitioners*, (pp. 99-116). John Wiley & Sons.

- Larkin, M., Watts, S., & Clifton, E. (2006). Giving voice and making sense in interpretative phenomenological analysis. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 102-120.
- Launikari, M., & Puukari, S. (2005). *Multicultural guidance and counselling: Theoretical foundations and best practices in Europe*. Iyvaskyla: University Press.
- Laverty, S. M. (2003). Hermeneutic phenomenology and phenomenology: A comparison of historical and methodological considerations. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 2(3), 21-35.
- Lehrner, A., & Allen, N. E. (2009). Still a movement after all these years? Current tensions in the domestic violence movement. *Violence Against Women*, *15*(6), 656-677.
- LeVasseur, J. J. (2003). The problem of bracketing in phenomenology. *Qualitative Health Research*, 13(3), 408-420.
- Levendosky, A. A., & Graham-Bermann, S. A. (2001). Parenting in battered women: The effects of domestic violence on women and their children. *Journal of Family Violence*, *16*(2), 171-192.
- Lloyd, M. (2018). Domestic violence and education: Examining the impact of domestic violence on young children, children, and young people and the potential role of schools. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9.
- Lloyd, M., Ramon, S., Vakalopoulou, A., Videmšek, P., Meffan, C., Roszczynska-Michta, J., & Rollé, L. (2017). Women's experiences of domestic violence and mental health: findings from a European empowerment project. *Psychology of Violence* 7(3), 478-487. doi: 10.1037/vio0000111.
- Loke, A. Y., Wan, M. L. E., & Hayter, M. (2012). The lived experience of women victims of intimate partner violence. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 21(15-16), 2336-2346. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2702.2012.04159.x

- Lopez, K. A., & Willis, D. G. (2004). Descriptive versus interpretive phenomenology: Their contributions to nursing knowledge. *Qualitative Health Research*, *14*(5), 726-735. doi: 10.1177/1049732304263638
- Maasoumi, R., Taket, A., & Zarei, F. (2018). How Iranian women conceptualize the role of cultural norms in their sexual lives. *Sexuality & Culture*, 22(4), 1376-1390. doi: 10.1007/s12119-018-9531-5
- Madhani, F. I., Karmaliani, R., Patel, C., Bann, C. M., McClure, E. M., Pasha, O., &
 Goldenberg, R. L. (2017). Women's perceptions and experiences of domestic
 violence: An observational study from Hyderabad, Pakistan. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 32(1), 76-100.
- Mahapatra, N. (2012). South Asian women in the U.S. and their experience of domestic violence. *Journal of Family Violence*, 27, 381-390.
- Mahdi, A. (2001). Perceptions of gender roles among female Iranian immigrants in the United States. In S. Ansari & and V. Martin (Eds.), *Women, Religion and Culture in Iran* (pp. 185-210). London: Curzon Press.
- Mahdi, A. A. (2004). The Iranian women's movement: A century long struggle. *The Muslim World*, 94(4), 427-448. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1478-1913.2004.00067.x.
- Mahmud, S. F. (2018). Origin culture and domestic violence against Bangladeshi immigrant women in Southern California. *Migration and Development*, 7(2), 282-297.
- Mahmoudi, H. (2019). Freedom and the Iranian Women's Movement. *Contexts*, 18(3), 14-19. https://doi.org/10.1177/1536504219864953
- Majid, M. A. A., Othman, M., Mohamad, S. F., Lim, S. A. H., & Yusof, A. (2017). Piloting for interviews in qualitative research: Operationalization and lessons

- learnt. International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences, 7(4), 1073-1080.
- Malley-Morrison, K., & Hines, D. (2004). Family violence in a cultural perspective:

 Defining, understanding, and combating abuse. Sage.
- Manstead, A. S. (2018). The psychology of social class: How socioeconomic status impacts thought, feelings, and behaviour. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, *57*(2), 267-291. DOI:10.1111/bjso.12251
- Mathers, N., Fox, N., & Hunn, A. (2000). *Using interviews in a research project*. NHS

 Executives, Kent. Retrieved from

 http://web.simmons.edu/~tang2/courses/CUAcourses/lsc745/sp06/Interviews.pdf
- Maxwell, J. A. (2012). A realist approach for qualitative research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- McCartney, M., & Finnikin, S. (2019). Evidence and values in the NHS: choosing treatments and interventions well. https://doi.org/10.3399/bjgp19X700313
- McCosker, H., Barnard, A., & Gerber, R. (2001, February). Undertaking Sensitive research:

 Issues and strategies for meeting the safety needs of all participants. In *Forum:*Qualitative Social Research, (Vol. 2, No. 1). Retrieved from http://www.qualitative-research.net/index.php/fgs/article/view/983/2142
- McHattie, L. J. (2011). What helps, what hinders when counselling women who have experienced intimate partner violence (Master's dissertation, Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, BC, Canada). Retrieved from https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/56376215.pdf
- McLeod, J. (2011). Qualitative research in counselling and psychotherapy. London: Sage.

- Mehrotra, M. (1999). The social construction of wife abuse: Experiences of Asian Indian women in the United States. *Violence Against Women*, *5*(6), 619-640.
- Mendoza, J. E., Tolba, M., & Saleh, Y. (2020). Strengthening marriages in Egypt: Impact of divorce on women. *Behavioral Sciences*, *10*(1), 14. doi: 10.3390/bs10010014
- Menjívar, C., & Salcido, O. (2002). Immigrant women and domestic violence: Common experiences in different countries. *Gender & Society*, *16*(6), 898-920.
- Midlarsky, E., Venkataramani-Kothari, A., & Plante, M. (2006). Domestic violence in the Chinese and South Asian immigrant communities. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1087(1), 279-300. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1385.003
- Milani, A., Leschied, A., & Rodger, S. (2018). 'Beyond cultural sensitivity': Service providers' perspectives on Muslim women experiences of intimate partner violence.

 Journal of Muslim Mental Health, 12(1).

 http://dx.doi.org/10.3998/jmmh.10381607.0012.103
- Mitchell, R. E., & Hodson, C. A. (1983). Coping with domestic violence: Social support and psychological health among battered women. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 11(6), 629-654.
- Moazen, B., Salehi, A., Soroush, M., Vardanjani, H. M., & Zarrinhaghighi, A. (2019).

 Domestic violence against women in Shiraz, South-western Iran. *Journal of injury*and violence research, 11(2), 243–254. doi: 10.5249/jivr.v11i2.1238.
- Moghissi, H. (2016). Populism and feminism in Iran: Women's struggle in a male-defined revolutionary movement. Springer.
- Mohammadi, M. (2007). Iranian women and the civil rights movement in Iran: Feminism Interacted. *Journal of International Women's Studies*, 9(1), 1-21.
- Mohanty, J. (1997). *Phenomenology: Between essentialism and transcendental philosophy*.

 Northwestern University Press.

- Momeni, A. R., & Parvizy, S. (2016). Consequences of stigma in the life of people with mental disorders: A qualitative research. *Journal of Client-Centered Nursing Care*, *1*(4), 189-196. http://dx.doi.org/10.15412/J.JCCNC.0
- Monahan, K., & O'Leary, K. D. (1999). Head injury and battered women: An initial inquiry.

 Health & Social Work, 24(4), 269-278.
- Moinifar, H. S. (2011). Participation of women in Iran's polity. *GEMC Journal*. 24-34.Retrieved from http://www.law.tohoku.ac.jp/gcoe/wp-content/uploads/2011/03/gemc_04_cate0_11.pdf#page=24
- Moradian, A. (2009). Domestic violence against single and married women in Iranian

 Society. The Chicago School of Professional Psychology, Los Angeles: California, 1
 7. Retrieved from

https://s3.amazonaws.com/academia.edu.documents/30459081/Domestic Violence.p

df?AWSAccessKeyId=AKIAIWOWYYGZ2Y53UL3A&Expires=1537823203&Sign

ature=aYG4i1I9HUfnqauXa3xhcQw4kPw%3D&response-contentdisposition=inline%3B%20filename%3DDomestic Violence against Single and M

ar.pdf

- Moran, D. (2000). *Introduction to Phenomenology*. London: Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group
- Morash, M., Bui, H. N., & Santiago, A. M. (2000). Cultural-specific gender ideology and wife abuse in Mexican-descent families. *International Review of Victimology*, 7(1-3), 67-91.
- Morgan. A., & Chadwick. H. (2009). *Key issues in domestic violence. Research in practice*.

 Australian Institute of Criminology, 7. Retrieved from

 https://aic.gov.au/publications/rip/rip07

- Morrow, S. L. (2007). Qualitative research in counselling psychology: Conceptual foundations. *The Counseling Psychologist*, *35*(2), 209-235.
- Moss, V., Pitula, C., Campbell, J., & Halstead, L. (1997). The experience of terminating an abusive relationship from an Anglo and African American perspective: A qualitative descriptive study. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, *18*(5), 433-454.
- Mottaghi, S. (2015). The Historical Relationship between Women's Education and Women's Activism in Iran. *Asian Women*, *31*(1). Retrieved from http://www.e-asianwomen.org/xml/03780/03780.pdf.
- Mulvihill, N., Gangoli, G., Gill, A. K., & Hester, M. (2019). The experience of interactional justice for victims of 'honour'-based violence and abuse reporting to the police in England and Wales. *Policing and Society*, 29(6), 640-656.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10439463.2018.1427745
- Naghavi, A., Amani, S., Bagheri, M., & De Mol, J. (2019). A critical analysis of intimate partner sexual violence in Iran. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02729
- Naghizadeh, S., Mirghafourvand, M., & Mohammadirad, R. (2021). Domestic violence and its relationship with quality of life in pregnant women during the outbreak of COVID-19 disease. *BMC pregnancy and childbirth*, 21(1), 1-10.

 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-021-03579-x
- Nascimento, Y. D. A., Filardi, A. F. R., Abath, A. J., Silva, L. D., & Ramalho-de-Oliveira, D. (2018). The phenomenology of Merleau-Ponty in investigations about medication use: constructing a methodological cascade. Retrieved from http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci arttext&pid=S0080-62342017000100602&lng=en&tlng=en

- Nasrabadi, A. N., Abbasi, N. H., & Mehrdad, N. (2015). The prevalence of violence against Iranian women and its related factors. *Global Journal of Health Science*, 7(3), 37-45. doi:10.5539/gjhs.v7n3p37.
- Native American Centre for Excellence (2010). Steps for Conducting Research and Evaluation In Native Communities. Retrieved from https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/nace-steps-conducting-research-evaluation-native-communities.pdf.
- Nelson, J. A., Onwuegbuzie, A. J., Wines, L. A., & Frels, R. K. (2013). The Therapeutic

 Interview Process in Qualitative Research Studies. *Qualitative Report*, 18(79).1-17.

 Retrieved from

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/278403414_The_Therapeutic_Interview_Process_in_Qualitative_Research_Studies
- Nikparvar, F., Stith, S., Myers-Bowman, K., Akbarzadeh, M., & Daneshpour, M. (2017).

 Theorizing the process of leaving a violent marriage and getting a divorce in Tehran. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 1(24). doi: 10.1177/0886260517746184
- Nilsson, J. E., Brown, C., Russell, E. B., & Khamphakdy-Brown, S. (2008). Acculturation, partner violence, and psychological distress in refugee women from Somalia. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 23(11), 1654-1663.
- Nur, N. (2014). Association between domestic violence and miscarriage: a population-based cross-sectional study among women of childbearing ages, Sivas, Turkey. *Women & Health*, *54*(5), 425-438. https://doi.org/10.1080/03630242.2014.897676
- O'Connor, D. L., & O'Neill, B. J. (2004). Toward social justice: Teaching qualitative research. *Journal of Teaching in Social Work*, 24(3/4), 19-33. doi: https://doi.org/10.1300/J067v24n03_02.

- O'Leary, K. D. (1999). Psychological abuse: A variable deserving critical attention in domestic violence. *Violence and Victims*, *14*(1), 3-23.
- O'Loughlin, M. (1995). *Intelligent bodies and ecological subjectivities: Merleau-Ponty's corrective to postmodernism's "subjects" of education*. Retrieved from https://blogs.aalto.fi/researchinart/files/2012/01/OLoughlin.pdf
- O'Neil, T., Fleury, A., & Foresti, M. (2016). Women on the move: Migration, gender, equality and the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. Retrieved from https://www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/resource-documents/10731.pdf
- Office for National Statistics (2015). Domestic abuse in England and Wales: Year ending

 March 2016. Retrieved from

 https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/domesticabuseinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2016.
- Office for National Statistics (2017). Domestic abuse in England and Wales: Year ending

 March 2017. Retrieved from

 https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/domesticabuseinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2017.
- Ogunsiji, O., Wilkes, L., Jackson, D., & Peters, K. (2012). Suffering and smiling: West African immigrant women's experience of intimate partner violence. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 21(11-12), 1659-1665.
- Oliveira, P. P. D., Viegas, S. M. D. F., Santos, W. J. D., Silveira, E. A. A. D., & Elias, S. C. (2015). Women victims of domestic violence: a phenomenological approach. *Texto & Contexto-Enfermagem*, 24(1), 196-203. https://doi.org/10.1590/0104-07072015002900013

- Orlans, V., & Van Scoyoc, S. (2008). A short introduction to counselling psychology.

 London: Sage.
- Orzeck, T. L., Rokach, A., & Chin, J. (2010). The effects of traumatic and abusive relationships. *Journal of Loss and Trauma*, 15(3), 167-192.
- Osborne, S., Lau, I., Britton, A., & Smith, K. (2012). *Homicides, firearm offences and intimate violence 2010/11: Supplementary volume 2 to crime in England and Wales 2010/11.* London: Home Office.
- Overstreet, N. M., & Quinn, D. M. (2013). The intimate partner violence stigmatization model and barriers to help seeking. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, *35*(1), 109-122. doi: 10.1080/01973533.2012.746599.
- Oxtoby, C. (2012). Taking a cultural perspective on intimate partner violence. (Doctoral dissertation, Marquette University, Milwaukee, Wisconsin). Retrieved from https://epublications.marquette.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1215&context=dissertations_mu
- Paat, Y. F. (2014). Risk and resilience of immigrant women in intimate partner violence. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 24(7), 725-740.
- Paidar, P. (1997). Women and the political process in twentieth-century Iran. Cambridge:

 Cambridge University Press.
- Pakseresht, S., Jafarzadeh-Kenarsari, F., & Roushan, Z. A. (2016). Exploring married Iranian women's perception of the meaning of sexual marital activity: A qualitative study. *The Qualitative Report*, 21(10), 1920-1931.
- Paloma, V., García-Ramírez, M., & de la Mata, M. (2010). Acculturative integration, self and citizenship construction: The experience of Amal-Andaluza, a grassroots organisation

- of Moroccan women in Andalusia. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 34(2), 101-113.
- Pan, A., Daley, S., Rivera, L. M., Williams, K., Lingle, D., & Reznik, V. (2006).
 Understanding the role of culture in domestic violence: The Ahimsa Project for Safe
 Families. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 8(1), 35-43. doi: 10.1007/s10903-006-6340-y
- Papadakaki, M., Tzamalouka, G. S., Chatzifotiou, S., & Chliaoutakis, J. (2009). Seeking for risk factors of intimate partner violence (IPV) in a Greek national sample: The role of self-esteem. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 24(5), 732-750.
- Parker, I. (2015). A link in the chain: The role of friends and family in tackling domestic abuse. Retrieved from https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/Global/CitizensAdvice/Crime%20and%20Justice%20Publications/Linkinthechain.pdf
- Pastor-Moreno, G., Ruiz-Pérez, I., Henares-Montiel, J., & Petrova, D. (2020). Intimate partner violence during pregnancy and risk of fetal and neonatal death: a meta-analysis with socioeconomic context indicators. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 222(2), 123-133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2019.07.045
- Paterson, M., & Higgs, J. (2005). Using hermeneutics as a qualitative research approach in professional practice. *The Qualitative Report*, 10(2), 339-357.
- Pedersen, P. B. (1991). Multiculturalism as a generic approach to counselling. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 70(1), 6-12.doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6676.1991.tb01555.x.

- Peek-Asa, C., Zwerling, C., Young, T., Stromquist, A. M., Burmeister, L. F., & Merchant, J. A. (2005). A population based study of reporting patterns and characteristics of men who abuse their female partners. *Injury Prevention*, 11(3), 180-185.
- Pels, T., van Rooij, F. B., & Distelbrink, M. (2015). The impact of intimate partner violence (IPV) on parenting by mothers within an ethnically diverse population in the Netherlands. *Journal of Family Violence*, 30(8), 1055-1067.
- Perilla, J. L. (1999). Domestic violence as a human rights issue: The case of immigrant Latinos. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 21(2), 107-133. Doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/0739986399212001
- Pilgrim, D. (2014). Some implications of critical realism for mental health research. *Social Theory & Health*, *12*(1), 1-21.doi: https://doi.org/10.1057/sth.2013.17.
- Pirak, A., Negarandeh, R., & Khakbazan, Z. (2019). Post-divorce regret among Iranian women: A qualitative study. *International Journal of Community Based Nursing and Midwifery*, 7(1), 75. doi: 10.30476/IJCBNM.2019.40848
- Pirnia, B., Pirnia, F., & Pirnia, K. (2020). Honour killings and violence against women in Iran during the COVID-19 pandemic. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 7(10), doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30359-X.
- Plichta, S. B. (2004). Intimate partner violence and physical health consequences: Policy and practice implications. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *19*(11), 1296-1323.
- Polit, D. F., & Beck, C. T. (2010). Generalization in quantitative and qualitative research:

 Myths and strategies. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 47(11), 1451-1458.
- Porcerelli, J. H., West, P. A., Binienda, J., & Cogan, R. (2006). Physical and psychological symptoms in emotionally abused and non-abused women. *The Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine*, 19(2), 201-204.

- Pournaghash-Tehrani, S. (2010). Domestic violence in Iran: A literature Review. *Journal of Science Direct*. 16(1).1-5. doi:10.1016/j.avb.2010.12.001
- Povey, D., Coleman, K., Kaiza, P., Hoare, J., & Jansson, K. (2008). Homicides, firearm offences and intimate violence 2006/2007. *Home Office Statistical Bulletin, 3*(08). Retrieved form http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/rds/pdfs08/hosb0308.pdf
- Proby, L. Y. (2017). Perceptions of women receiving services from domestic violence

 advocacy and counseling programs (Doctoral dissertation, Walden University).

 Retrieved from

 https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1136&context=shs_pu_bs
- Pynn, G. (2015). *Contextualism in epistemology*. Retrieved from https://www.oxfordhandbooks.com/view/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199935314.001.000

 1/oxfordhb-9780199935314-e-12?print=pdf
- Quast, S. C. (2018). The impact of domestic violence on immigrant women. *DePaul Journal* of Women, Gender and the Law, 7(2), 3.
- Rada, C. (2014). Violence against women by male partners and against children within the family: Prevalence, associated factors, and intergenerational transmission in Romania, a cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health*, *14*(1), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-129.
- Rahbari, L., & Mahmudabadi, Z. (2017). What does it mean to be a woman? An exploratory study of femininities among mazandarani, Azeri and Kurdish female university students in Iran. *Social Sciences*, 6(3), 98. https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci6030098
- Rahmdel, M. (2018). Women and Iranian criminal justice system. *Economic, Law, and Policy, 1*(2018). doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.22158/elp.v1n1p92

- Rahpaymaelizehee, S., Fallahi, B., & Kojouri, R. J. (2015). The national policy of Iran toward violence against women/a política nacional do iran para a violência contra as mulheres. *Espaço Jurídico Journal of Law [ejjl]*, *16*(2), 321-332.
- Raj, A., & Silverman, J. (2002). Violence against immigrant women: The roles of culture, context, and legal immigrant status on intimate partner violence. *Violence Against Women*, 8(3), 367-398.
- Raj, A., & Silverman, J. G. (2007). Domestic violence help-seeking behaviours of South

 Asian battered women residing in the United States. *International Review of*Victimology, 14(1), 143-170.
- Rakovec-Felser, Z. (2014). Domestic violence and abuse in intimate relationship from public health perspective. *Health Psychology Research*, 2(3).
- Rasoulian, M., Habib, S., Bolhari, M., Shooshtari, H., Nojomi, M., & Abedi, S. (2014).

 Risk factors of domestic violence in Iran. *Journal of Environment and Public Health*, 2014. http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2014/352346.
- Read, J., & Harper, D. J. (2020). The Power Threat Meaning Framework: Addressing

 Adversity, Challenging Prejudice and Stigma, and Transforming Services. *Journal of Constructivist Psychology*, 1-14.doi: 10.1080/10720537.2020.1773356
- Reid, K., Flowers, P., & Larkin, M. (2005). Exploring lived experience. *The Psychologist*, 18, 20-23.
- Reina, A. S., Lohman, B. J., & Maldonado, M. M. (2014). "He said they'd deport me": Factors influencing domestic violence help-seeking practices among Latina immigrants. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 29, 593-615.
- Rennie, D. L. (1999). Qualitative research: A matter of hermeneutics and the sociology of knowledge. In M. Kopala & L. A. Suzuki (Eds.), *Using qualitative methods in psychology*, (pp. 3-13). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Richardson, J. O., Coid, J., Petruckevitch, A., Chung, W. S., Moorey, S., & Feder, G. (2002). Identifying domestic violence: cross-sectional study in primary care. *BMJ*, 324(7332), 274. *doi: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.324.7332.274*
- Richie, B. E. (2004). Research on violence against women and family violence: The challenges and the promise. *Violence against women and family violence:*Developments in research, practice, and policy, 1.
- Roberts, J. M. (2014). Critical realism, dialectics, and qualitative research methods. *Journal for the Theory of Social Behaviour, 44*(1), 1-23. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/jtsb.12056
- Rodríguez, M., Valentine, J. M., Son, J. B., & Muhammad, M. (2009). Intimate partner violence and barriers to mental health care for ethnically diverse populations of women. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 10*(4), 358-374.
- Rohwerder, B. (2016). Women and girls in forced and protracted displacement. GSDRC Helpdesk Research Report, 1364). Birmingham, UK: GSDRC, University of Birmingham. Retrieved from http://gsdrc.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/HDQ1364.pdf.
- Rowlands, M. (2011). Jean-Paul Sartre's Being and Nothingness. *Topoi*, *30*(2), 175.

 Rubertsson, C., Hildingsson, I., & Rådestad, I. (2010). Disclosure and police reporting of intimate partner violence postpartum: a pilot study. *Midwifery*, *26*(1), e1-e5.
- Ruiz-Pérez, I., Plazaola-Castaño, J., & del Río-Lozano, M. (2007). Physical health consequences of intimate partner violence in Spanish women. *European Journal of Public Health*, 17(5), 437-443.
- Runner, M., Yoshihama, M., & Novick, S. (2009). *Intimate partner violence in immigrant* and refugee communities. San Francisco, CA: Family Violence Prevention Fund

- Sabri, B., Bhandari, S. S., & Shah, A. (2018). Dangerous abusive relationships and sources of resilience for South Asian immigrant women survivors of intimate partner violence. *Journal of Social Work in the Global Community*, 3.
- Sabri, B., Simonet, M., & Campbell, J. C. (2018). Risk and protective factors of intimate partner violence among South Asian immigrant women and perceived need for services. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 24(3), 442. doi: 10.1037/cdp0000189
- Sedghi, H.(2007). Women and Politics in Iran: Veiling, Unveiling, and Reveiling. England:

 Cambridge University Press.
- Sadeghi, F. S, & Isari, M. (2013). Post-divorce self-redefining and identity building in women. *Journal of Women's Studies*, 4(1), 111-138.
- Sagar, R., & Hans, G. (2018). Domestic violence and mental health. *Journal of Mental Health and Human Behaviour*, 23(1), 2.
- Saidin, K. (2017). Insider researchers: Challenges & opportunities. *Proceedings of the ICECRS*, *I*(1). 849-854. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.21070/picecrs.v1i1.563
- Sanders, C. K. (2015). Economic abuse in the lives of women abused by an intimate partner:

 A qualitative study. *Violence Against Women*, 21(1), 3-29.

 doi:10.1177/1077801214564167
- Sasani, L., Tahrekhani, M., Naji, S., & Salehi, S. (2015). Iranian women's experiences of spousal abuse. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 185, 208-213.
- Sanasarian, E. (1982). The Women's Rights Movement in Iran Mutiny, Appeasement, and Repression from 1900 to Khomeini. New York: Praeger.
- Sayer, A. (2000) Realism and social science. London: Sage Publications

- Schechter, S. (1982). Women and male violence: The visions and struggles of the battered women's movement. Boston: South End.
- Schmied, V., Black, E., Naidoo, N., Dahlen, H. G., & Liamputtong, P. (2017). Migrant women's experiences, meanings and ways of dealing with postnatal depression: A meta-ethnographic study. *PloS one*, *12*(3).

 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0172385
- Schneider, E. M. (2008). Domestic violence law reform in the twenty-first century: Looking back and looking forward. *Family Law Quarterly*, 42(3), 353-363.
- Schumacher, J. A., & Leonard, K. E. (2005). Husbands' and wives' marital adjustment, verbal aggression, and physical aggression as longitudinal predictors of physical aggression in early marriage. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 73(1), 28-37. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.73.1.28
- Seedat, S., Pienaar, W. P., Williams, D., & Stein, D. J. (2004). Ethics of research on survivors of trauma. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 6(4), 262-267.
- Seers, K. (2012). Qualitative data analysis. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 15(1), 2-2. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/ebnurs.2011.100352.
- Semaan, I., Jasinski, J. L., & Bubriski-McKenzie, A. (2013). Subjection, subjectivity, and agency: The power, meaning, and practice of mothering among women experiencing intimate partner abuse. *Violence Against Women*, 19(1), 69-88.
- Semahegn, A., & Mengistie, B. (2015). Domestic violence against women and associated factors in Ethiopia; systematic review. *Reproductive Health*, *12*(1), 78. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12978-015-0072-1

- Sen, P., & Kelly, L. (2007). Violence against women in the UK: Shadow thematic report for the committee on the elimination of all forms of discrimination against women.
 Retrieved from
 https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CEDAW/Shared%20Documents/GBR/INT_CEDAW_NGO_GBR_41_8808_E.pdf
- Shamai, M. (2003). Therapeutic Effects of Qualitative Research: Reconstructing the Experience of Treatment as a By-Product of Qualitative Evaluation. *Social Service Review*, 77(3), 455–467. https://doi.org/10.1086/375789
- Shams, M., Kianfard, L., Parhizkar, S., & Mousavizadeh, A. (2017). Women's views about domestic violence: A qualitative study in Iran. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*. doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260517704959
- Shankar, J., Das, G., & Atwal, S. (2013). Challenging cultural discourses and beliefs that perpetuate domestic violence in South Asian communities: A discourse analysis.

 **Journal of International Women's Studies, 14(1), 248-262*
- Shaw, R. (2010). Embedding reflexivity within experiential qualitative psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 7(3), 233-243.
- Shinebourne, P. (2011). The theoretical underpinnings of interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA). *Existential Analysis: Journal of the Society for Existential Analysis*, 22(1).
- Shirazi, F. (2019). The Veiling Issue in 20th Century Iran in Fashion and Society, Religion, and Government. *Religions*, 10(8), 461. https://doi.org/10.3390/rel10080461
- Shirpak, K. R., Rafaie, K., Maticka-Tyndale, E., & Chinichian, M. (2007). Iranian Immigrants' perceptions of sexuality in Canada: A symbolic interactionist approach. Canadian Journal of Human Sexuality, 16.

- Shishehgar, S., Gholizadeh, L., DiGiacomo, M., & Davidson, P. M. (2015). The impact of migration on the health status of Iranians: an integrative literature review. *BMC International Health and Human Rights*, *15*(1), 20.

 20.doi:https://doi.org/10.1186/s12914-015-0058-7
- Shojaei, S. N., Samsu, K. H. K., & Asayeseh, H. (2010). Women in politics: A case study of Iran. *Jurnal of Politics and Law*, *3*(2).Retrieved from http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.1066.2776&rep=rep1&type =pdf
- Silverman, J. G., Gupta, J., Decker, M. R., Kapur, N., & Raj, A. (2007). Intimate partner violence and unwanted pregnancy, miscarriage, induced abortion, and stillbirth among a national sample of Bangladeshi women. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, 114(10), 1246-1252.
- Simmel, G. (1950). The sociology of George Simmel. New York: Free Press.
- Sinha, M. (2013). Measuring violence against women: Statistical trends. *Juristat: Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics*, 1, 3-120.
- Skea, D., & Cert, P. (2016). Phenomenological enquiry and psychological research in caring and quality of life contexts: Acknowledging the invisible. *International Journal of Caring Sciences*, 9(3), 1134-1146.
- Skinner, T., Hester, M., & Malos, E. (2013). Researching gender violence. Routledge.
- Smith, D. W. (2006). Phenomenology. *Encyclopedia of Cognitive Science*. Retrieved from https://plato.stanford.edu/entries/phenomenology/
- Smith, J. A. (2004). Reflecting on the development of interpretative phenomenological analysis and its contribution to qualitative research in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *I*(1), 39-54

- Smith, J. A. (2007). Hermeneutics, human sciences and health: Linking theory and practice. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-being*, 2(1), 3-11. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/17482620601016120.
- Smith, J. A. (2011). Evaluating the contribution of interpretative phenomenological analysis.

 Health Psychology Review, 5(1), 9-27. doi:

 https://doi.org/10.1080/17437199.2010.510659
- Smith, J. A., & Eatough, V. (2019). Looking forward: Conceptual and methodological developments in interpretative phenomenological analysis: Introduction to the special issue. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2018.1540620
- Smith, J. A., & Osborn, M. (2003). Interpretative phenomenological analysis. In J. A. Smith (Ed.), *Qualitative methods: A practical guide to research methods*. London and Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Smith, J. A., & Osborn, M. (2004). Interpretative phenomenological analysis. *Doing Social Psychology Research*, 229-254.
- Smith, J. A., & Osborn, M. (2007). *Interpretative phenomenological analysis*. Retrieved from http://med-fom-familymed-research.sites.olt.ubc.ca/files/2012/03/IPA_Smith_Osborne21632.pdf
- Smith, J. A., & Osborn, M. (2015). Interpretative phenomenological analysis as a useful methodology for research on the lived experience of pain. *British Journal of Pain*, 9(1), 41-42. doi: 10.1177/2049463714541642
- Smith, J. A., Flowers, P., & Larkin, M. (2009). *Interpretative phenomenological analysis:*Theory, method and research. London: SAGE
- Smith, J. A., Harré, R., & Van Langenhove, L. (1995). Idiography and the case study. In J. A. Smith, R. Harre, & L. Van Langenhove (Eds.), *Rethinking psychology*. London: Sage.

- Sokoloff, N. J., & Dupont, I. (2005). Domestic violence at the intersections of race, class, and gender: Challenges and contribution to understanding violence against marginalized women in diverse communities. *Violence Against Women, 11*(1), 38-64. Doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1077801204271476.
- Somasekhar, S. (2016). "What will people think?" Indian Women and Domestic Violence in

 Aotearoa/New Zealand (Doctoral dissertation, University of Waikato). Retrieved from

 https://researchcommons.waikato.ac.nz/handle/10289/10592
- Souto, R. Q., Guruge, S., Merighi, M. A. B., de Jesus, M. C. P., Egit, S., & Knowles, L. (2016). Intimate partner violence among Portuguese speaking immigrant adult women in Canada. *Revista da Escola de Enfermagem da USP*, 50(6), 905-912.
- Spiegel, D. (2008). Coming apart: Trauma and the fragmentation of the self. *The Dana Foundation*, 31.
- Spinelli, E. (2005). The interpreted world: An introduction to phenomenological psychology.

 London: Sage.
- Stainton, R. W., & Stainton, R. (1997). Does critical psychology mean the end of the world?

 In T. Ibanez & L. Iniguez (Eds.), *Critical social psychology* (pp.67-82). London:

 Sage.
- Stalker, C. A., & Fry, R. (1999). A comparison of short-term group and individual therapy for sexually abused women. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *44*(2), 168-174. https://doi.org/10.1177/070674379904400208
- Stockman, J. K., Hayashi, H., & Campbell, J. C. (2015). Intimate partner violence and its health impact on ethnic minority women. *Journal of Women's Health*, 24(1), 62-79.

- Strawbridge, S., & Woolfe, R. (2010). Counselling psychology: Origins, developments and challenges. In Wolfe, R., Strawbridge, S., Douglas, B., & Dryden, W. (Ed.), *Handbook of counselling psychology* (3rd ed.) (pp. 3-19). London: Sage.
- Strickland, P., & Allen, G. (2017). *Domestic violence in England and Wales*. House of Commons Library.
- Stuckey, H. L. (2013). Three types of interviews: Qualitative research methods in social health. *Journal of Social Health and Diabetes*, *1*(02), 056-059.
- Sue, D. W., Carter, R. T., Cases, J. M., Fouad, N. A., Ivey, A. E., Jenson, M., Laframboise,
 T., Meneses, D. E., Pontterotto, J. G., & Vazquez-Nutall, E. (1998). *Multicultural counselling competencies: Individual and organizational development*. Thousand
 Oaks, California: Sage.
- Sullivan, C. M., & Cain, D. (2004). Ethical and safety considerations when obtaining information from or about battered women for research purposes. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 19(5), 603-618.
- Sweeney, A., Clement, S., Gribble, K., Jackson, E., Carr, S., Catty, J., & Gillard, S. (2019). A systematic review of qualitative studies of adults' experiences of being assessed for psychological therapies. *Health Expectations*, 22(2), 133-148.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.12844
- Taghva, A., Farsi, Z., Javanmard, Y., Atashi, A., Hajebi, A., & Noorbala, A. A. (2017).

 Strategies to reduce the stigma toward people with mental disorders in Iran: stakeholders' perspectives. *BMC Psychiatry*, *17*(1), 17.

 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-016-1169-y
- Tafreshi, P. (2010). The struggle for freedom, justice, and equality: The history of the journey of Iranian women in the last century (Doctoral dissertation, Washington University,

- United States). Retrieved from
- https://openscholarship.wustl.edu/cgi/viewcontentwacgi?article=1928&context=etd
- Taherkhani, S., Negarandeh, R., Simbar, M., & Ahmadi, F. (2014). Iranian women's experiences with intimate partner violence: A qualitative study. *Health Promotion Perspectives*, 4(2), 230.
- Talattof, K. (2004). Breaking taboos in Iranian women's literature. *World Literature Today*, 78(3), 43-46.
- Tamer, Y. (2010). Basic changes in the Iranian education system before and after Islamic Rovolution (Master's thesis, Middle East Technical University). Retrieved from https://etd.lib.metu.edu.tr/upload/12612887/index.pdf.
- Tangney, J. P., & Dearing, R. L. (2011). Working with shame in the therapy hour: Summary and integration. In R. L. Dearing & J. P. Tangney (Eds.), Shame in the therapy hour (pp. 375-404). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/12326-016
- Tartakovsky, E., & Mezhibovsky, S. (2012). Female immigrant victims of domestic violence:

 A comparison between immigrants from the former Soviet Union in Israel and Israeliborn women. *Journal of Family Violence*, 27(6), 561-572. doi: 10.1007/s10896-012-9447-z
- Taylor, T., & Bloch, K. (2018). *Marginalised mothers, mothering from the margins*. Emerald Publishing Limited.
- Tebes, J. K. (2005). Community science, philosophy of science, and the practice of the research. *American Journal of Community Philosophy*, *35*(3-4), 213-230.
- Thiara, R. K., & Gill, A. K. (2012). Domestic violence, child contact and post-separation violence. Experiences of South Asian and African-Caribbean women and children.

 The University of Warwick, NSPCC & University of Roehampton. Retrieved from

- https://letterfromsanta.nspcc.org.uk/globalassets/documents/researchreports/domestic-violence-child-contact-post-separation-violence-report.pdf
- Ting, L., & Panchanadeswaran, S. (2009). Barriers to help-seeking among immigrant African women survivors of partner abuse: Listening to women's own voices. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma*, 18(8), 817-838. doi: 10.1080/10926770903291795
- Tizro, Z. (2011). Domestic violence in Iran: Women, marriage and Islam (Iranian Studies).

 New York: Routledge
- Toadvine, T. (2018). Maurice Merleau-Ponty. In E. N. Zalta (Ed.), *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy* (Spring 2018 ed.). Retrieved from https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/spr2018/entries/merleau-ponty
- Tobin, C. L., Di Napoli, P., & Beck, C. T. (2018). Refugee and immigrant women's experience of postpartum depression: a meta-synthesis. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 29(1), 84-100. https://doi.org/10.1177/1043659616686167
- Tohidi, M. (2016). Women's rights and feminist movements in Iran. *SUR-Int'l J. on Hum Rts*. 24, 75. Retrieved from https://sur.conectas.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/7-sur-24-ing-nayereh-tohidi.pdf
- Tomlinson-Clarke, S. (2013). Multicultural counselling competencies: Extending

 multicultural training paradigms toward globalisation. VISTAS 2013. Retrieved

 from

 https://www.counseling.org/docs/default-source/vistas/multicultural-counseling-competencies.pdf?sfvrsn=7
- Tonsing, J., & Barn, R. (2017). Intimate partner violence in South Asian communities:

 Exploring the notion of 'shame' to promote understandings of migrant women's

experiences. *International Social Work*, 60(3), 628-639. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020872816655868

- Toporek, R. L., & Liu, W. M. (2001). Advocacy in counselling: Addressing race, class, and gender oppression. In D. B. Pope-Davis & H. L. K. Coleman (Eds.), *The intersection of race, class, and gender: Implications for multicultural counselling* (pp. 385-416). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Tracy, S. J. (2010). Qualitative quality: Eight "big-tent" criteria for excellent qualitative research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *16*(10), 837-851.
- Tracy, S. J., & Hinrichs, M. M. (2017). Big tent criteria for qualitative quality. *The Enternational Encyclopedia of Communication Research Methods*, 1-10. doi: 10.1002/9781118901731.iecrm0016.
- Trade Union Congress. (2014). Domestic violence and the workplace: A tuc survey report.

 Retrieved from

 https://www.tuc.org.uk/sites/default/files/Domestic_Violence_And_The_Workplace_0.pdf
- Tran, C. G., & Des Jardins, K. (2000). Domestic violence in Vietnamese refugee and Korean immigrant communities. *Relationships Among Asian American women*, 71-96.
- Tucker, J. E. (2008). Women, family, and gender in Islamic Law (Themes in Islamic law; 3).

 Cambridge University Press
- Tufford, L., & Newman, P. (2012). Bracketing in qualitative research. *Qualitative Social Work*, 11(1), 80-96. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325010368316
- Tuffour, I. (2017). A critical overview of interpretative phenomenological analysis: a contemporary qualitative research approach. *Journal of Healthcare Communications*, 2(4), 52.

- Tukahebwa, J. (2019). African immigrant women survivors of domestic abuse: An interpretative phenomenological analysis of their perceptions and experiences of counselling and support services in the UK (Doctoral dissertation, University of Roehampton). Retrieved from https://pure.roehampton.ac.uk/ws/portalfiles/portal/1350906/African_immigrant_women_survivors_of_domestic_abuse.pdf
- Vameghi, M., Feizzadeh, A., Mirabzadeh, A., & Feizzadeh, G. (2010). Exposure to domestic violence between parents: A perspective from Tehran, Iran. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 25(6), 1006-1021.
- Van Manen, M. (1990). Researching lived experience: Human science for an action sensitive pedagogy. New York: State University of New York Press.
- Van Nes, F., Abma, T., Jonsson, H., & Deeg, D. (2010). Language differences in qualitative research: Is meaning lost in translation? *European Journal of Ageing*, 7(4), 313-316. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10433-010-0168-y
- Ver Steegh, N. (2005). Differentiating types of domestic violence: Implications for child custody. *Louisiana Law Review*, 65, 1379–1431.
- Vera, E. M., & Speight, S. L. (2003). Multicultural competence, social justice, and counselling psychology: Expanding our roles. *The Counseling Psychologist*, *31*(3), 253-272.
- Visaria, L., Mitra, N., Poonacha, V., & Pandey, D. (1999). *Domestic violence in India. a summary report of three studies*. Retrieved from https://www.icrw.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Domestic-Violence-in-India-1-Summary-Report-of-Three-Studies.pdf.

- Walby, S. (2005). Improving the statistics on violence against women. *Statistical Journal of the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe*, 22(3, 4), 193-216.
- Walby, S., & Allen, J. (2004). *Domestic violence, sexual assault and stalking: Finding from British crime survey.* Home Office Research Study, 276. London: Home Office.
- Walby, S., Towers, J., Balderston, S., Corradi, C., Francis, B., Heiskanen, M., Helweg-Larsen, K., Mergaert, L. Olive, P., Palmer, E., Stöckl, H., & Strid, S. (2017). *The* concept and measurement of violence against women and men. Bristol: Policy Press.
- Walker, L. E. A. (1984). The battered woman syndrome. New York: Springer.
- Walklate, S., Fitz-Gibbon, K., & McCulloch, J. (2018). Is more law the answer? Seeking justice for victims of intimate partner violence through the reform of legal categories. *Criminology & Criminal Justice*, 18(1), 115-131.
- Walsh, D., & Evans, K. (2014). Critical realism: an important theoretical perspective for midwifery research. *Midwifery*, 30(1), e1-e6.
- Walter, J. (2006). Domestic violence in the Hispanic immigrant community: Toward an explanatory model. Retrieved from https://kb.osu.edu/bitstream/handle/1811/25144/18JUDITHWALTERPDF..?sequence
- Watson, M. (2009). Beyond barriers: A phenomenological study of women reporting intimate partner violence in college (Doctoral dissertation, University of Nebraska, Lincoln).

 Retrieved from

 https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1042&context=cehsdiss
- Watts, C., & Zimmerman, C. (2002). Violence against women: Global scope and magnitude. *The Lancet*, 359(9313), 1232-1237. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(02)08221-1Medline

- Webber, J. (2006). Sartre's theory of character. *European Journal of Philosophy*, *14*(1), 94-116. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-0378.2006.00245.x
- Williams, N. E., Thornton, A., & Young-DeMarco, L. C. (2014). Migrant values and beliefs:

 How are they different and how do they change? *Journal of Ethnic and Migration*Studies, 40(5), 796-813. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369183X.2013.830501
- Willig, C. (2001). *Introducing qualitative research in psychology: Adventures in theory and method*. Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Willig, C. (2013). *Introducing qualitative research in psychology* (3rd ed.). Berkshire: Open University.
- Winn, M. K. (2016). Women in Higher Education in Iran: How the Islamic revolution contributed to an increase in female enrollment. *Global Tides*, *10*(1), 10.
- Wolcott, H. F. (1994). *Transforming qualitative data: Description, analysis, and interpretation*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Woolfe, R., Strawbridge, S., Douglas, B., & Dryden, W. (2010). *Handbook of Counselling psychology* (3rd ed.). London: Sage.
- World Health Organization (2001). *Putting women first: Ethical and safety recommendations*for research on domestic violence against women. Geneva, Switzerland: World

 Health Organization. Retrieved from

 http://www.who.int/gender/violence/womenfirtseng.pdf.
- World Health Organization (2002). *World report on violence and health*. Geneva: World Health Organization. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/violence/world_report/en/summary_e http://www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/violence/world_report/en/summary_e https://www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/violence/world_report/en/summary_e https://www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/violence/world_report/en/summary_e

- World Health Organization (2005). WHO multi-country study on women's health and domestic violence against women: Initial results on prevalence, health outcomes and women's responses. Retrieved from https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/43309/924159358X_eng.pdf
- World Health Organisation (2009). Violence prevention the evidence: Changing cultural and social norms that support violence. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/violence/norms.pdf
- World Health Organization (2010). Preventing intimate partner and sexual violence against women: Taking action and generating evidence. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/publications/violence/978924156400
 7_eng.pdf
- World Health Organization (2012). *Intimate partner violence: understanding and addressing violence against women*. Retrieved from http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/77432/1/WHO_RHR_12.36_ng.pdf?ua=1.
- World Health Organization (2013). Global and regional estimates of violence against women: Prevalence and health effects of intimate partner violence and non-partner violence. Retrieved from http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/85239/9789241564625 eng.pdf?seque http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/85239/9789241564625 eng.pdf?seque http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/85239/9789241564625 eng.pdf?seque
- Wray, J., Archibong, U., & Walton, S. (2017). Why undertake a pilot in a qualitative PhD study? Lessons learned to promote success. *Nurse Researcher*, 24, 31-35. doi:10.7748/nr.2017.e1416
- Wynn, D., & Williams, C.K. (2012). Principles for conducting critical realist case study research in information systems, *MIS Quarterly*, *36*(3), 787-810

- Yick, A. G. (2000). Domestic violence beliefs and attitudes in the Chinese American community. *Journal of Social Service Research*, 27(1), 29-51.
- Yohannes, K., Abebe, L., Kisi, T., Demeke, W., Yimer, S., Feyiso, M., & Ayano, G. (2019).

 The prevalence and predictors of domestic violence among pregnant women in

 Southeast Oromia, Ethiopia. *Reproductive Health*, 16(1), 37.
- Zakar, R., Zakar, M. Z., Faist, T., & Kraemer, A. (2012). Intimate partner violence against women and its related immigration stressors in Pakistani immigrant families in Germany. *SpringerPlus*, 1(1), 5.
- Zarei, M., Rasolabadi, M., Gharibi, F., & Seidi, J. (2017). The prevalence of violence against women and some related factors in Sanandaj city (Iran) in 2015. *Electronic Physician*, 9(11), 5746.
- Zeman, D. (2017). Contextualist answers to the challenge from disagreement.

 Phenomenology and Mind, (12), 62-73.

Appendices

Appendix A: Summary of thesis

Appendix B: Interview schedule

Appendix C: Participant information sheet

Appendix D: Constent form

Appendix E: Demographic information sheet

Appendix F: Overview of the initial table of themes

Appendix G: Example of theme development

Appendix A: Summary of thesis

Abstract

Domestic violence is a major social health problem. However, there is limited research about female Iranian immigrant survivors of domestic violence or their experiences of counselling services in the UK. This qualitative study was conducted to gain an in-depth understanding of Iranian immigrant women's experiences of domestic violence within their heterosexual relationships. A purposeful sample of six Iranian immigrant women was selected, and data was gathered with semi-structured face-to-face interviews. Interviews were analysed using interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA). The women's perceptions, as well as their experiences of counselling and support services in the UK, were explored. The superordinate theme discussed in this paper is 'Using counselling services in the UK', in which participants discussed their perceived stigma and shame around counselling due to their culture. Participants perceived therapy as helpful on some levels, but deeply unhelpful on others, as they felt blamed or pathologised. Additionally, group therapy was found to be more helpful as it was based on psychoeducation and exploring what healthy relationships are, which made participants feel believed and accepted. The participants felt that group therapy with others from similar cultures might be helpful for this population of women.

Keywords: domestic violence against women, Iranian immigrant women, pathologising, Iranian culture, group therapy

Introduction

Domestic violence against women is a major social issue and a violation of women's human rights (Kaur & Garg, 2008; World Health Organization [WHO], 2013). It is also a major risk factor for mental health problems (Krantaz & Garcia-Moreno, 2005; WHO, 2013). Levendosky and Graham-Bermann (2001) argued that "battered women experience increased levels of depression, lower self-esteem, and higher levels of psychological distress when compared with nonbattered women" (pp. 171-172). Likewise, Sagar and Hans (2018) acknowledge that domestic violence is associated with mental health issues such as depression and suicidal thoughts. Domestic violence can affect all women (WHO, 2010). However, those with lower socioeconomic status and poor educational backgrounds are more likely to become victims of domestic violence (Rasoulian et al., 2014).

Until recently, domestic violence researchers have not focused on immigrant women. This is an important omission as what little research there is indicates that immigrant women are particularly vulnerable (Raj & Silverman, 2002). Developing culturally appropriate, effective interventions for such women requires a detailed understanding of the dynamics of cultural norms and immigration status, as well as the phenomenon of domestic violence (Alvarez, Lameiras-Fernandez, Holliday, Sabri, & Campbell, 2018).

This study is part of a wider qualitative research project examining domestic violence against Iranian immigrant women in the UK. This paper is important as Iranian immigrant women's experiences of existing interventions can help determine effective interventions to meet their needs.

Methods

Qualitative methods are appropriate for answering questions about participants' perspectives, meaning making, and experiences (Hammurberg, Kirkman, & Lacy, 2016;

Morrow, 2007). By employing qualitative methods, the researcher could gather information about Iranian immigrant women's experiences of using UK counselling services.

The qualitative method interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA; Smith, Flowers, & Larkin, 2009) was utilised to explore the lived experiences of six abused Iranian immigrant women. The fundamental aim of IPA is to give a detailed explanation of a person or group's lived experiences of a specific phenomenon, as well as the meanings they attach to their experiences (Christensen, Johnson, & Turner, 2011; Smith et al., 2009). IPA is recognised as one of the most useful methodologies for examining emotionally-laden topics (Finlay, 2002, 2011; Smith & Osborn, 2007, 2015). Therefore, IPA lends itself well to an investigation of Iranian immigrant women's experiences of domestic violence, a highly sensitive topic.

Participants

Smith and Osborn (2007, 2015) argued that qualitative researchers should select samples purposively to offer insight into the experience under study. A purposive sample represents a perspective rather than a population (Smith et al., 2009). Researchers are encouraged to find a homogenous sample for whom the research questions will be meaningful.

Purposive sampling was used here. To be included, participants had to: be older than 18; have been born in Iran; be fluent in English; have had direct experience of domestic violence in Iran; no longer be in an abusive relationship; be in therapy with an organisation which provides counselling for women who have experienced domestic violence. Thus, homogeneity was achieved. Considering that IPA is idiographic, a small sample of six participants was considered appropriate. Such a sample provides the opportunity for in-depth analysis (Brocki & Wearden, 2006).

Data collection methods

According to Gill, Stewart, Treasure, and Chadwick (2008), "interviews are most appropriate when little is already known about a particular phenomenon or where detailed insights are required from individual participants" (p. 292). Gill et al. (2008) added that interviews are particularly appropriate for sensitive issues that participants may not want to discuss within a group. Therefore, the researcher chose to conduct semi-structured interviews.

The interview schedule consisted of open-ended questions and probes, starting with less sensitive and direct questions. Questions were clear and direct to avoid leading participants to a specific answer. The interviews lasted approximately 60-90 minutes.

Ethical considerations

Ethical approval was attained from the University of the West of England, Faculty Research Ethics. This study follows the British Psychological Society (BPS; 2014) Code of Human Ethics. Each participant had access to an information sheet before their interview, meaning they read the aims of the study before being involved in the research. Following the recommendation of WHO (2009), measures including changing all names and identifying references were put in place to maintain confidentiality.

Data analysis

IPA was carried out by following six phases set out by Smith et al. (2009). Each interview was transcribed and analysed line by line. This enabled the researcher to search for the points of descriptive, linguistic, and conceptual importance. Initial notes were written and transformed into emerging themes, capturing the core of participants' experiences. These emerging themes were clustered and changed into a table of themes for each participant. Finally, the researcher compared these emerging themes by searching for convergences and divergences, resulting in a master table theme for all participants.

Credibility in this study was achieved through member checking (Tracy and Hindrichs, 2017). Participants were sent the interview transcripts and asked to read them to ensure they were satisfied with what they had said. All participants confirmed the transcripts refelected what they had said during the interview.

Results

Analysis of semi-structured interviews led to several superordinate and sub-themes. The superordinate theme 'Using counselling services in the UK' will be the focus of this article. While direct quotes from the participants have been included, names have been changed to protect anonymity.

Using counselling services in the UK

All participants perceived a level of stigma around counselling due to their culture, which was internalised to a greater or lesser extent. Participants described that individual therapy was helpful on some levels, but deeply unhelpful on others, as they perceived the therapists as unable or unwilling to see their problems within the wider (Iranian) culture. This meant they felt they were being blamed or pathologised for a cultural issue. In contrast, group therapy was more helpful.

All participants talked about the challenge of overcoming the negative stigma and a sense of shame attached to individual or group therapy sessions. Ziba and Parastoo used pejorative language to describe people who attend counselling sessions. Ziba said:

I was ashamed to go the centre because I was thinking to myself they think I am mad and when they see me they say 'here is the crazy woman' (...) in Iran, you know only mad people go to see therapist.

Ziba's phrase 'only mad people go to see therapist' is meaningful as it reflects how she perceives counselling to be viewed in Iran; she perceived that it was for people who are untouchable ('mad') in some way. This perception might explain the source of Ziba's beliefs when she said, 'here is the crazy woman': her tone suggested a sense of shame attached to the labels 'mad' and 'crazy', making it harder for her to attend counselling sessions. At the same time, Ziba felt that only people with serious mental health issues – those who are 'mad' – go to counselling. This suggests that Ziba had internalised the Iranian stigma as well as a sense of shame around counselling and mental health issues, making it harder for her to be compassionate about herself in this situation.

Like Ziba, Parastoo used pejorative language to talk about the stigma around counselling:

...I started to go to counselling without telling anyone. I used to say I am going shopping making excuses you know, but still cannot say to Iranian friends where I go because (...) they would think there is something seriously wrong with me like I am going mental and cannot be trusted.

Parastoo felt unable to tell others where she went when she attended therapy, suggesting stigma around both counselling and being classified as an individual with mental health needs. She perceived this classification as having consequences which included her friends being unable to trust her. Parastoo used pejorative language when she said, 'like I am going mental'. This suggests that, like Ziba, she had bought into the cultural notion that

counselling is for 'others' who are untouchable ('mad'), making it harder to be compassionate about herself.

In contrast, Hasti saw counselling as undesirable, but used more sympathetic language:

I was thinking that counselling sessions are for very sick or is for people who are sick. That's how people see therapists in Iran. Then, my friend took me (...) and I started to see a counsellor. I still hide it from everyone you know.

This implies that Hasti had also internalised how Iranian culture views individuals who attend counselling. Her use of the word 'sick' is important; she saw people who attend counselling as unwell. Although counselling is undesirable, she had more compassion for the people who need it – and therefore perhaps for herself as well. However, she still felt the need to hide the counselling, demonstrating her ongoing sense of shame and stigma.

Hand in hand with this stigmatisation and shame around attending counselling and mental health issues came a sense of being blamed or pathologised by the counsellor.

Parastoo said:

She [counsellor] helps me a lot to improve my self-confidence and personal issues. I'm a bit disappointed. Sometimes the counsellor seems she doesn't understand that how it feels when people treat you unfairly. I'm not the issue, the problem is outside. How our culture is. I feel sometimes she forgets that.

This implies that while Parastoo viewed sessions as helpful on one level, her expectations were not met by the therapist's approach. In other words, Parastoo perceived that counselling sessions helped her to boost her confidence and self-eateem to manage her emotional difficulties. However, her use of the words 'the problem is outside', 'culture', and 'unfairly' suggest that Parastoo would like to work on her problems in a wider context, considering social justice and the effect of injustice on her as an individual, something that was not happening at that time.

Like Parastoo, Hasti described counselling as helpful on a personal level, but deeply unhelpful on another level:

...Counselling helped me to change my expectations. I know I shouldn't live in fear and should physically feel safe and my needs should not being ignored because I am a woman (...)I have no hope because every counsellor I've seen they just concentrate on me and ask me about why I'm thinking like this, but this isn't about me this is about what's happening outside. The problem isn't me, is outside: the injustice, the different treatment between men and women. How could it be my problem? But they concentrate on me and say: I'm depressed. I'm this. I'm that. I have difficulty with injustice, yes and I've been treated so unfairly because of being a woman a girl. They make me feel like there's something wrong with me (...) Instead of that maybe they can talk about injustice instead of labelling my problem.

The extract implies that Hasti has developed a sense of self-respect as a result of attending counselling sessions. Hasti, like Parastoo, says 'the problem is outside'. Her use of the words 'I am this, I am that' suggest frustration as a result of being labelled by her

counsellors. Equally important, Hasti suggested that her humanity is replaced by the label 'depressed', which would not be the case if her situation was considered in the context of domestic violence. It is the situation, not Hasti, who is sick, but the counsellors have labelled and pathologised her instead of considering Iranian culture. Consequently, Hasti has entirely lost faith in the UK counselling system. She saw her present psychological issues as having been caused by unfair treatment due to her gender. Her tone suggests she was questioning her counsellors' approach as well as expressing frustration over the failure to consider her problems in a wider cultural context. Her use of the words 'every counsellor' suggests that this experience has happened more than once; maybe many times.

Similar to Parastoo and Hasti, Mastaneh found counselling helpful for dealing with her emotional issues, including a sense of sadness or anger towards her abusive husband, but unhelpful for seeing her problems as part of Iranian culture:

I remember I used to talk about physical problems saying to my counsellor 'I've pain in my chest', but she was so patient with me and gradually she encouraged me to talk about my emotions. You see, counselling sessions help me to understand how to deal with my emotions. You see it helps me to deal with my sadness or understand why I am so angry towards my husband (...) that's definitely the case, yes but it doesn't help me to deal with my anger towards so much difference between men and women, or why I'm being treated differently as a woman. I haven't heard once she confirms that: yes, it's Iranian culture you see.

It appears that it was initially easier for Mastaneh to talk about physical than emotional pain. Mastaneh views that counselling sessions has helped her to understand and

manage her emotional difficulty However, her use of the words 'haven't heard once' reflects an unmet expectation that her counsellor should be able to relate her anger over being treated differently within Iranian culture due to her gender.

In contrast, Shahin described her own inability to relate to other Iranian people:

... I had a lot to say, but I didn't know how to say it to a stranger, you know. So, I started to talk about physical pain but after a while I trusted my therapist and started to talk about my problems. (...) it certainly helps me to have a better relationship with myself, with my children, and my new partner, but not with Iranian people. I have difficulty to be with Iranian people. I don't trust them (...) I was so depressed and was under medication but now I don't need them. I have learned skills to manage my negative feelings.

Shahin, like Mastaneh, found that talking about her physical problems was easier than talking about emotional issues; her repetition of the word 'trust' suggests that this is an important factor for her when establishing relationships. Shahin, like others, explained that counselling helped her at a personal level (that is, managing her depression without medication) but not in a wider context (that is, relating to Iranian people).

Along with individual therapy, some participants attended group therapy. This was a way for Ziba to review her perspective on domestic violence:

Group sessions give me understanding about domestic violence and what it really is.

They help me rationally to think about different kind of abuse and help myself and

others if they happen to us, to protect and avoid toxic relationship. They are about awareness you know. I have started to help other survivors and act as a volunteer advocator.

Group sessions were meaningful for Ziba, changing her view of domestic violence.

Additionally, the sessions gave Ziba the strength and motivation to give something back to the community by volunteering.

Parastoo, like Ziba, found group sessions a source of knowledge:

I think coming to the counselling and workshops where we explore self-care and control wheel has helped me a lot to realise what actually violence is. I am still working on it and try to make sure my children have a better understanding as they get older.

Parastoo's reference to the 'control wheel' is interesting as it suggests she has started to use psychological terms which are used to describe types of violence. It seems that Parastoo had started to review which actions or behaviours are considered domestic violence. The extract suggests her motivation to raise awareness about different types of domestic violence as well as to impart her new knowledge to her children.

Mastaneh also talked about the positive aspects of group therapy:

Group sessions help us to put the problem outside of ourselves and have better understanding of our problems we are having here. In group sessions we can talk but

we are from different countries you see. It would be great if the sessions let us to attend for different group of people. I mean a group for Iranian or a group for Indian.

Mastaneh's use of 'us' instead of 'I' suggests that she feels part of the group, mirroring her awareness that she is not the only person who has experienced domestic violence. However, she perceived that being with other Iranian people would help her face her problems more effectively; perhaps Mastaneh would find it easier to discuss her issues with a group of people who share a culture, or perhaps, in contrast with Shahin, she would like to connect with other Iranian women who (crucially) have had the same experience.

Discussion

Six accounts of Iranian immigrant women's experiences of using counselling services in the UK have been presented. To the researcher's knowledge, the only previous qualitative study involving Iranian immigrant women was conducted by Aghtaie (2015), in which the author explored the perspectives of female Iranian students living in Iran and the UK who had experienced violence. This lack of research is surprising given the fact that immigrant women are particularly vulnerable to domestic violence (Shisheghar, Gholizadeh, DiGiacomo, & Davidson, 2015).

Participants talked about the emotional challenges of overcoming the stigma attached to individual and group therapy. Perceptions of being considered "mad", "mental", and "crazy" were commonly feared. This strengthens and adds to the growing picture of shame and stigma around mental health issues and counselling in the context of domestic violence against women (Ovestreet & Quinn, 2013). Hence, counsellors should consider the level of stigma and shame that immigrant abused women may experience when attending counselling.

Most participants experienced positive aspects of counselling. They felt they had more understanding of themselves and more ways to manage their emotional issues following counselling. This highlights the positive aspect of counselling interventions at a personal level; participants felt empowered to manage their psychological difficulties (Proby, 2017).

Other experiences of counselling in the current study included a sense of being pathologised by the counsellor, evidenced by Hasti: "they (counsellors) concentrate on me and say: I'm depressed, I'm, this, I'm that". Other participants (apart from Zohreh) also reported this feeling. Sweeny et al. (2019) conducted a review of 13 qualitative studies with people aged 16 and above who had been assessed for psychological therapy services, including women from minority groups living in the UK. The authors found that some women felt pathologised as a result of being asked about their psychiatric details, or because they felt the therapists focused on their mental health instead of the difficulties they were experiencing. Furthermore, findings from the current study are relevant to the experiences of participants in McHattie's (2011) study, where abused women from different backgrounds placed value on counsellors who named abuse issues. In other words, women perceived their counselling sessions as helpful when their symptoms were normalised with non-pathologising language. In accordance, Taghva et al. (2017) argued that discussion of psychological health is taboo in Iranian society. Through a close engagement with the words of participants from a particular population, the current findings may add to the existing research: the counsellors' lack of understanding about the place of domestic violence in Iranian culture and how deeply entrenched domestic violence is in Iranian culture may lead women to a sense of being pathologised. However, further qualitative research with immigrant abused women who have attempted to use counselling services is warranted to explore the sense of being pathologised in greater detail.

However, while most participants found individual counselling sessions unhelpful at some level, some found group sessions helpful. According to Bunn, Goesel, Kinet, and Ray, "While the literature does provide a compelling conceptual rationale for using group treatment, the empirical literature is in fact very limited at this time, and needs to be strengthened in order to build confidence in outcomes across contexts and survivors" (2015, p. 45). The current study is an attempt to address this gap. Various authors have explored whether individual and group therapy are equally effective (Condino, Tanzilli, Speranza, & Lingiardi, 2016; Echeburua, Sarasua, & Zubizarreta, 2013; Stalker & Fry, 1999) in the context of domestic violence. However, it is not possible to draw any clear conclusion from this earlier research because they are inclusive. According to Farsimadan, "for Iranian clients, adopting a directive therapeutic approach involving problem-solving strategies, rather than 'non-directive or analytical exploratory approaches', has been suggested" (2011, p. 286). It seems that group therapy is one strategy that can be used to support abused Iranian women.

Given that there is limited research on female Iranian immigrant survivors of domestic violence in the UK, the current finding that group therapy was effective for these participants is novel. Participants felt accepted, believed, and validated when they heard that others were suffering from the consequences of domestic violence. Therefore, it would seem beneficial for healthcare professionals to offer group therapy to Iranian immigrant women. This is particularly important as this group may have difficulty talking about psychological issues arising from domestic violence. They may find it unfavourable to be labelled depressed or anxious, which could create resistance (Farsimadan, 2011). As such, they might need, as Mastaneh suggested, to be among a group of Iranian women. This may help such women feel understood without feeling pathologised or judged.

4.6. Implications for counselling psychology

The findings from this study have important implications for counselling psychologists and other mental health practitioners. High levels of stigma around mental health issues were found in these Iranian immigrant women. Bury and Strauss (2006) argued that "counselling psychology privileges respect for the personal, subjective experience of the client over and above notions of diagnosis, assessment and treatment" (p. 113). Hence, it is recommended that practitioners value their clients' subjective experiences. In other words, counselling psychologists and mental health practitioners should avoid psychiatric labels such as depression and anxiety.

Participants felt frustrated, disappointed, blamed, and/or pathologised by their counsellors. They suggested that culturally relevant interventions would help them feel believed and accepted. Thus, counselling psychologists and mental health practitioners must have awareness of the culture of any client group they work with; this awareness will help practitioners to provide a safe environment for their clients to explore experiences of domestic violence without feeling pathologised or blamed.

The high levels of shame within the Iranian women's accounts indicate that this powerful emotion is another factor that needs attention when treating these women.

According to Gilbert and Procter (2006), shame affects our ability to reveal painful information, meaning we adopt defence mechanisms such as denial and avoidance.

Addressing shame is important as it "can act as invisible barriers to the adequate delivery of healthcare" (Gilbert & Procter, 2006, p. 259). The women's sense of shame was related to various areas: attending counselling sessions, mental health issues, and talking about deep emotional difficulties

Survivors of abuse are especially prone to feel ashamed as they might hold themselves responsible for the abuse (Parker, 2015). In such cases, clients may benefit from externalising the blame onto the abuser (Greenberg & Iwakabe, 2011). Therefore, counselling

psychologists and mental health practitioners must be sensitive to this level of shame among Iranian women and should consider how to support women to externalise the blame, empowering them to manage their self-critical behaviour.

Several participants had difficulty engaging in individual therapy sessions to explore their mental health issues. Therefore, counselling psychologists and mental health practitioners should consider delivering group sessions. Given that several participants found it easier to talk about physical pain than emotional stress, it is recommened that therapists should be aware that reports of physical pain are a way for immigrant women to test the safety of the counselling sessions so that they can move onto discussions of psychological pains. It is further recommended that group sessions should include individuals who share or have some understanding of the cultures which differ from that of the host country.

According to Tangney and Dearing (2011), group therapy can be viewed as a powerful way for mental health practitioners to address and resolve shame arising from domestic violence; group sessions can help women to normalise their shame, as they see other women facing the same issues.

Conclusion

This study was conducted with six Iranian immigrant women survivors of domestic violence. The aim was to gain an insight into these women's experiences of using UK counselling services. As discussed, findings from the current study may be used to promote counselling interventions which address domestic violence within the specific socio-cultural context of abused Iranian women.

Findings from this study give a voice to Iranian women who have experienced domestic violence. These women's perceptions and experiences of counselling interventions have not been investigated in the UK. Respect was given to women's experiences by

providing a non-judgmental environment for them to talk and break their silence on domestic violence. Considering that disclosing the domestic violence is taboo in Iranian culture, it is hoped that revealing these women's experiences may help to break the shame and stigma around disclosing this phenomenon.

It is also hoped that further in-depth research studies will be conducted into issues related to domestic violence among Iranian immigrant women in the UK, as this topic remains understudied. Women's experiences of counselling and other support services designed for domestic violence survivors have been highlighted here. Thus, the cultural complexities that shape Iranian immigrant women's experiences of domestic violence have been illuminated. To promote and enhance counselling and support services, we need to hear and understand the lived experiences of abused women themselves. Such an understanding has begun to be developed through analysing the women's subjective narratives of their experiences of counselling and support services.

References

- Aghtaie, N. (2015). Iranian women's perspectives on violence against women in Iran and the UK. *Journal of Iranian Studies*, 48(5), 1-19. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/00210862.2015.1017970
- Alvarez, G., Lameiraz-Fernandez, M., Holiday, C. N., Sabri, B., & Campbell, J. (2018).

 Latina and Caribbean immigrant women's experiences with intimate partner violence:

 A story of ambivalent sexism. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*. doi: https://doiorg.ezproxy.uwe.ac.uk/10.1177%2F0886260518777006
- Brocki, J. M., & Wearden, A. J. (2006). A critical evaluation of the use of interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA) in health psychology. *Psychology and Health*, 21(1), 87-108.
- Bunn, M., Goesel, C., Kinet, M., & Ray, F. (2015). Group treatment for survivors of torture and severe violence: A literature review. *Torture Journal*, 26(1), 23-23. https://doi.org/10.7146/torture.v26i1.108062
- Bury, B., & Strauss, S. M. (2006). The scientist-practitioner in a counselling psychology setting. In D. A. Lane & S. Corrie (Eds.), *The modern scientist-practitioner: A guide to practice in psychology* (pp. 112-126). London: Routledge
- Christensen, L. B., Johnson, B. R., & Turner, L. A. (2011). *Research methods, design, and analysis* (11th ed.). Boston: Pearson.
- Condino, V., Tanzilli, A., Speranza, A. M., & Lingiardi, V. (2016). Therapeutic interventions in intimate partner violence: An overview. *Research in Psychotherapy:*Psychopathology, Process and Outcome, 19(2). doi:10.4081/ripppo.2016.24

- Echeburúa, E., Sarasua, B., & Zubizarreta, I. (2014). Individual versus individual and group therapy regarding a cognitive-behavioral treatment for battered women in a community setting. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 29(10), 1783-1801. doi: 10.1177/0886260513511703.
- Farsimadan, F. (2011). The effects of a Middle Eastern (Iranian) heritage. In C. Lago (Eds.),

 The handbook of transcultural counselling & psychotherapy (p. 280). England: Open
 University Press.
- Finlay, L. (2002). Outing the researcher: The provenance, process and practice of reflexivity. *Qualitative Health Research*, 12(14), 531-545
- Finlay, L. (2011). *Phenomenology for therapists: Researching the lived world*. Chichester, UK: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Gilbert, P., & Procter, S. (2006). Compassionate mind training for people with high shame and self-criticism: Overview and pilot study of a group therapy approach. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy: An International Journal of Theory & Practice*, *13*(6), 353-379. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.507
- Gill, P., Stewart, K., Treasure, E., & Chadwick, B. (2008). Methods of data collection in qualitative research: interviews and focus groups. *British Dental Journal*, 204(6), 291-295. doi: 10.1038/bdj.2008.192.
- Greenberg, L. S., & Iwakabe, S. (2011). Emotion-focused therapy and shame. In R. L.

 Dearing & J. P. Tangney (Eds.), *Shame in the therapy hour* (pp. 69–90). American

 Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/12326-003
- Hammarberg, K., Kirkman, M., & de Lacey, S. (2016). Qualitative research methods: When to use them and how to judge them. *Human Reproduction*, *31*(3), 498-501. doi:10.1093/humrep/dev334

- Kaur, R., & Grag, S. (2008). Addressing domestic violence against women: An unfinished agenda. *India Journal of Community Medicine*, 33(2),73-76.doi: 10.4103/0970-0218.40871
- Krantz. G., & Garcia-Moreno, C. (2005). Violence against women. *Journal of Epidemiology Community Health*, 59(10), 818-821. doi: 10.1136/jech.2004.022756.
- Levendosky, A. A., & Graham-Bermann, S. A. (2001). Parenting in battered women: The effects of domestic violence on women and their children. *Journal of Family Violence*, 16(2), 171-192.
- McHattie, L. J. (2011). What helps, what hinders when counselling women who have experienced intimate partner violence (Master's dissertation, Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, BC, Canada). Retrieved from https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/56376215.pdf
- Morrow, S. L. (2007). Qualitative research in counselling psychology: Conceptual foundations. *The Counseling Psychologist*, *35*(2), 209-235.
- Overstreet, N. M., & Quinn, D. M. (2013). The intimate partner violence stigmatization model and barriers to help seeking. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, *35*(1), 109-122. doi: 10.1080/01973533.2012.746599
- Parker, I. (2015). A link in the chain: The role of friends and family in tackling domestic abuse. Retrieved from https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/Global/CitizensAdvice/Crime%20and%20Justice%20Publications/Linkinthechain.pdf
- Proby, L. Y. (2017). Perceptions of women receiving services from domestic violence advocacy and counseling programs (Doctoral dissertation, Walden University).

 Retrieved from

- https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1136&context=shs_pu bs
- Raj, A., & Silverman, J. G. (2007). Domestic violence help-seeking behaviours of South Asian battered women residing in the United States. *International Review of Victimology*, *14*(1), 143-170.
- Rasoulian, M., Habib, S., Bolhari, M., Shooshtari, H., Nojomi, M., & Abedi, S. (2014).

 Risk factors of domestic violence in Iran. *Journal of Environment and Public Health*, 2014. http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2014/352346
- Sagar, R., & Hans, G. (2018). Domestic violence and mental health. *Journal of Mental Health and Human Behaviour*, 23(1), 2.
- Shishehgar, S., Gholizadeh, L., DiGiacomo, M., & Davidson, P. M. (2015). The impact of migration on the health status of Iranians: an integrative literature review. *BMC International Health and Human Rights*, 15(1), 20.
 20.doi:https://doi.org/10.1186/s12914-015-0058-7
- Smith, J. A., & Osborn, M. (2007). *Interpretative phenomenological analysis*. Retrieved from http://med-fom-familymed-research.sites.olt.ubc.ca/files/2012/03/IPA_Smith_Osborne21632.pdf
- Smith, J. A., & Osborn, M. (2015). Interpretative phenomenological analysis as a useful methodology for research on the lived experience of pain. *British Journal of Pain*, 9(1), 41-42. doi: 10.1177/2049463714541642
- Smith, J. A., Flowers, P., & Larkin, M. (2009). *Interpretative phenomenological analysis:*Theory, method and research. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage.

- Stalker, C. A., & Fry, R. (1999). A comparison of short-term group and individual therapy for sexually abused women. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *44*(2), 168-174. https://doi.org/10.1177/070674379904400208
- Sweeney, A., Clement, S., Gribble, K., Jackson, E., Carr, S., Catty, J., & Gillard, S. (2019). A systematic review of qualitative studies of adults' experiences of being assessed for psychological therapies. *Health Expectations*, 22(2), 133-148.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.12844
- Taghva, A., Farsi, Z., Javanmard, Y., Atashi, A., Hajebi, A., & Noorbala, A. A. (2017).

 Strategies to reduce the stigma toward people with mental disorders in Iran: stakeholders' perspectives. *BMC Psychiatry*, *17*(1), 17.

 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-016-1169-y
- Tangney, J. P., & Dearing, R. L. (2011). Working with shame in the therapy hour: Summary and integration. In R. L. Dearing & J. P. Tangney (Eds.), Shame in the therapy hour (pp. 375-404). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/12326-016
- Tracy, S. J., & Hinrichs, M. M. (2017). Big tent criteria for qualitative quality. *The Enternational Encyclopedia of Communication Research Methods*, 1-10. doi: 10.1002/9781118901731.iecrm0016.
- Underwood, M., Satterthwait, L. D., & Bartlett, H. P. (2010). Reflexivity and minimization of the impact of age-cohort differences between researcher and research participants.

 Oualitative Health Research, 20(11), 1585-1595.
- World Health Organization (2010). Preventing intimate partner and sexual violence against women: Taking action and generating evidence. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/publications/violence/978924156400
 7 eng.pdf

World Health Organization (2013). Global and regional estimates of violence against

women: Prevalence and health effects of intimate partner violence and non-partner

violence. Retrieved from

 $\frac{http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/85239/9789241564625_eng.pdf?seque}{nce=1}$

Appendix B

Interview schedule

1) Can you tell me how you feel/felt about coming to the UK?

Possible prompt: How is it different from Iran?

2) Can you tell me about your experience relevant to domestic violence in the UK?

Possible prompt: How do you feel about the legal system in the UK? How about health care professionals? Are there any differences between how they react to domestic violence in Iran and the UK? If yes, in what way? And how it affects you?

3) Can you tell me about your experience/s of using the legal system in Iran?

Possible prompt: How about family, friends? Did you try to get help from the police? How did they react? How do you feel about the custody procedure? Was there any legal support available to you during this procedure?

4) Can you tell me how you came to leave Iran?

Possible prompt: What prompted this? What happened? How did you feel? How did you feel as a woman in Iran? Did you leave with/without your husband? Was the violence you were experiencing in your relationship/s factor in the decision to leave?

5) Can you tell me about growing up in Iran?

Possible prompt: Did you witness any violence in the relationships around you? How did you feel as a child? Did you experience any differences between boys and girls? Did you speak to anyone about what was happening to you?

6) Can you tell me about your marriage?

Possible prompt: How did you come to marry? When did the violence/abuse start? How did you feel the first time it happened? How did things continue? Did you speak to anyone about what was happening to you? If yes, how did they react? What did they say? If no, why did you not speak to anyone?

7) Can you tell me about your general experience in Iran, with reference to domestic violence as a grown woman?

Possible prompt: How did you cope? How did feel about yourself? How about your children? Did you go through custody? Were you concerned about its impact on your children? How did your child/ children react to domestic violence if you have any? How is your relationship with them now?

8) Can you tell about your experiences of seeking counselling and support?

Possible prompt: How did you feel about seeking help? Has this been helpful? In what way? Does counselling help you to have a better understanding of the problems you are facing at the moment? If not, how it can be improved?

9) If you have a new partner, can you tell me how you feel about that relationship?

Possible prompt: what are your expectations? Are there any differences in your expectations since you have moved to the UK? What about your expectations of relationships in general?

10) How would you describe yourself as a person now?

Possible prompt: How do you feel about yourself as a woman? In relation to your child/children?

11) Can you tell me how other people see you?

Possible prompt: family, friends, Iranian communities in the UK? How does this make you feel as a person/as a woman?

12) How do you see yourself in the future?

Possible prompt: How can you relate to them? Do you see yourself as part of the Iranian community? How will be your relationship with them? How about your children?

Appendix C

Participant information sheet



AN INVITATION TO PARTICIPATE IN A RESEARCH STUDY

Project Title: Iranian Immigrant Women's Experiences of Domestic Violence

You are invited to participate in a research study.

Who is the researcher?

This study is conducted by Nahid Karamali, a trainee Counselling Psychologist in the Department of Health and Social Science at University of the West of England, Bristol. Nahid is conducting this research for her doctoral thesis. Nahid's research is supervised by Dr Victoria Clarke, an Associate Professor in the Department of Health and Social Sciences.

What is this research about?

The study involves talking about your experience and views of domestic violence. The present research aims to raise awareness of Iranian immigrant women's experiences of domestic violence amongst professionals including counselling psychologists to support clients more effectively.

Who can participate?

Participants should:

- Be adult women (aged 18 and older)
- Have experienced domestic violence within a heterosexual relationship in Iran
- Be born in Iran and now living in the UK
- Have attended an organisation which provides counselling for domestic violence
- Not be in an abusive relationship any more
- Be fluent in English



What does participation involve?

You will participate in a face-to-face interview with me, Nahid, which will take approximately 60-90 minutes of your time. The interview will be audio-recorded for data analysis and reporting the results. The interview will be conducted on the premises of the charity where you attend your counselling sessions or, if you prefer, in a quiet room in the UWE Frenchay Campus. This will allow for maximum privacy. The interview will be like a conversation, in which I will help you to talk about your experiences of domestic violence in Iran. I will ask questions about what happened to you and what your feelings and thoughts have been. Before the interview I will ask you to sign a consent form, to show that you agree to take part as well as to complete a demographic form, which contains some questions about your age and so on to help me understand something about the range of women taking part in the research. The interviews will be conducted in English.

What are the benefits of taking part?

The interview will provide an opportunity for you to share your experiences of domestic violence in a safe and non-judgmental environment. It is also hoped the interviews will have a wider benefit. This is because health and social care professionals, especially counsellors and therapists, might learn from your experiences to improve the care they provide.

What if I decide to withdraw?

You have the right to withdraw at any time without providing a reason. You may stop the recording of the interview or ask for the recording to be deleted during the interview, and this will be done. If you decide to withdraw after the interview has taken place, the audio recording and transcripts (written records of the interview) would be destroyed. Please note that there are certain limits on retrospective withdrawal; for example, I will give presentations of the research and eventually submit my thesis. For this reason, if you decide you wish to withdraw after the interview, you are encouraged to do so within a month of the date of the interview.

What about the cost of travelling to the interview?

You will receive £20 in cash or gift card, based on charity policies, to compensate you for your time and the cost of travelling to the interview. You will still receive the compensation if you decide to end your participation at any point of the interview. You will receive your compensation/travel costs at the end of the interview.



How will the data be used?

The audio-recording of the interview will be typed up into a written record (transcript) and interview data will be anonymised (that is, any information that can identify you will be removed or changed) and analysed for my research project. This means that anonymised extracts from your interview may be quoted in my dissertation and any publications and presentations arising from the research. In addition, anonymised extracts might be read by my supervisors. The demographic data (i.e. personal information such as your age) for all of the participants will be compiled into a table and included in my dissertation and any publications or presentations arising from the research. The information you provide will be treated confidentially, and personally identifiable details will be stored separately from the data. The personal information collected in this research project (that is, the interview audio recording, transcripts and demographic form) will be processed by the University in accordance with the terms and conditions of the 1998 Data Protection Act. We will hold your data securely and will not make it available to any third party unless permitted or required to do so by law. Your personal information will be used/processed as described on this participant information sheet.

Contact for further information

Nahid is hoping this information sheet is useful in helping you decide whether or not to take part in this study. If you have any queries about this study please telephone Nahid on this safe mobile number: 07950 911384. You may also email her at nahid2-karamali@live.uwe.ac.uk and she will be happy to answer any questions you might have.

Are there any risks involved?

There are no particular risks anticipated with participating in this study. However, it is possible that you could be upset by the interview questions. You may ask to skip or decline to answer any particular question that upsets you. You may also stop your participation at any point of interview. If you experience any emotional difficulty as a result of the interview questions and need assistance, you may ask Nahid to arrange a scheduled visit with your counsellor at the charity you attend for counselling. The charity has agreed to this arrangement. We have also provided information about some of the resources which are available to you.



These are the organisations that are available to support you if you feel distress during or after the interview:

1) Women's Aid, which works with survivors of domestic abuse and provides a Freephone 24-hour National Domestic Violence Helpline in partnership with Refuge.

Tel: 0808 2000 247

You can also email: helpline@womensaid.org.uk

Website: www.womensaid.org.uk

2) Refuge supports women, children and men to access a range of services, including refuges, independent advocacy, community outreach and culturally specific services.

Tel: 0808 2000 247

You can also email: helpline@refuge.org.uk

Website: http://www.refuge.org.uk/

3) Iranian and Kurdish Women's Rights Organisation (IKRWO) provides direct services including counselling for women and girls, especially Middle Eastern and Afghan women and girls.

Tel: 0207 920 6460, Mondays to Fridays, 9.30am to 5.30pm

In emergencies only, these numbers can also be used: 07846 275 246 (Arabic/Kurdish) or

07846 310 157 (Farsi/Dari/Turkish). Website: http://www.ikwro.org.uk



4) Iranian Association, which promotes mental health well-being, particularly for those who might have experienced trauma.

Tel: 020 8741 2304/020 8748 6682

Monday from **9.30am** to 1 pm and from **2 pm** to **5 pm**. Thursday from **9.30am** to **1 pm**. **Except** Christmas, New Year and Easter Holidays.

You can also email: info.iranianassociation.org.uk Website: http://www.iranianassociation.org.uk

5) Farsophone Association is piloted in partnership with NHS Barnet at Edgware Community Hospital. It is designed to offer an integrative counselling and psychotherapy service to Farsi (Persian) speaking individuals, families, couples, children and young people.

Tel: 0208 9512004 Mobile: 07914 965 511

You can also email: counselling@farsophone.org.uk

Website: http://www.farsophone.org.uk.

If you have any questions about this research or wish to complain about any issues including the way you have been approached or treated during this study, you may contact my Director of Studies in the first instance. Her contact details are Dr Victoria Clarke, Department of Health and Social Sciences, University of the West of England, Frenchay Campus, Coldharbour Lane, Bristol, BS16 1QY. Tel: 01173282176.

Email: Victoria.Clarke@uwe.ac.uk

This research has been approved by the Health and Applied Sciences Faculty Research Ethics Committee (FREC)/psychology ethics

Appendix D

Consent form



Iranian Immigrant Women's Experiences of Domestic Violence

Consent form

Thank you for agreeing to take part in this research on domestic violence.

My name is Nahid Karamali and I am a trainee Counselling Psychologist in the Department of Health and Social Sciences, University of the West of England, Bristol. I am collecting this data for my doctoral dissertation. My research is supervised by Dr Victoria Clarke, an Associate Professor in the Department of Health and Social Sciences. She can be contacted at the Department of Health and Social Sciences, University of the West of England, Frenchay Campus, Coldharbour Lane, Bristol BS16 1QY [Tel: 44(0)117 3282176; Email: Victoria.Clarke@uwe.ac.uk] if you have any queries about the research.

Before we begin I would like to emphasise that:

- your participation is entirely voluntary
- you are free to refuse to answer any question
- you are free to withdraw at any time [within the limits specified on the information sheet].

You are the expert in this area. There are no right or wrong answers and I am interested in everything you have to say.

Please sign to show that you have read the contents of this form and of the participant information sheet and that you consent to participate in the research:

n I have signed.

This research has been approved by the Health and Applied Sciences Faculty Research Ethics

Committee (FREC)

Appendix E

Demographic information sheet



IRANIAN IMMIGRANT WOMEN'S EXPERIENCES OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE: AN INTERPRETATIVE PHENOMENOLOGICAL ANALYSIS

Some personal information about you

I would be very grateful if you answer these questions. The information you provide helps me to learn more about the characteristics of the people who take part in the research. All information is treated as confidential and anonymous.

Please either circle the answer or write your answer in the space provided.

- 1) How old are you?2) How would you describe your current relationship status?- Married/Civil Partnership-Single
- -Separated

-Partnered

- -Other
- 3) Do you have any children?

Yes No
If yes, how many children do you have?
4) How would you describe your social class?
-Working Class
-Middle Class
-Upper Class
-Other?
5) Are you currently?
-Unemployed
-Employed
If employed, what is your current occupation?

Appendix F

Overview of the initial table of super-ordinate and sub-ordinate themes

Super-Ordinate and Sub-Themes

Super-Ordinate Theme 3.1: Types of violence women experienced

- 3.1.1. Physical violence
- 3.1.2. Psychological and emotional violence
- 3.1.3. Other forms of domestic violence

Super-Ordinate Theme 3.2: Impact of domestic violence on women

- 3.2.1. Impact on psychological wellbeing
- 3.2.2. Impact on women's identity and sense of self

Super-Ordinate Theme 3.3: Impact of domestic violence on women's relationships

- 3.3.1. Relationship with family
- 3.3.2. Relationship with the Iranian community

Super-Ordinate Theme 3.4: The cultural experience of being a female victim of domestic violence

- 3.4.1. Cultural pressure to keep the family together
- 3.4.2. Human rights and self-acceptance as a woman in Iran and the UK
- 3.4.3. Living with 'new' self in a new cultural context

Super-Ordinate Theme 3.5. Using the legal system and counselling services before and after immigration

- 3.5.1. Using the criminal justice system in Iran and the UK
- 3.5.2. Using counselling services in the UK

 $\label{eq:continuous} \mbox{Appendix G}$ Example of development of themes from transcript extract

	DEVELOPING EMERGENT THEMES	
Emergent themes	Original Transcript	Exploratory comments
, 0	Int: Can you tell me about your marriage?	, ,
	Ziba: When I was eighteen, I had enough of my family ((coughs)) mm-hm one of my brother's friends wanted to marry me (.) ((laughs)) without even thinking I accepted because because I thought I can move on and be free of my family and start a new	Manipulation and financial dependency
	life how stupid of me ((Pause)) em-hm I was so stupid I still think how naive and stupid I was I feel	Linguistic Comments: Recognition of a social
	Int: Can you tell me why do you feel that way? Ziba: Because he was worse than	norm?) marriage helps women to move on in life. Commenting on her own intellectual ability (stupid) – internal thinking about
	my family mm-hm he started to making accusations telling me I had relationship with other men calling me a bitch telling mm-hm me that nobody likes me and I must be thankful he has married	herself. Emphasising the enormity of the experience (being slapped) with mentioning her thoughts and reactions when the first time it
Feeling of inadequacy Being invisible	me because I am worthless the sad thing is I believed him I was thankful he was with me mm-hm because nobody wanted to spend	happened. Conceptual Comments:
	time with me I had no value no character he started to tell me what to wear sometimes he used to call me ugly I started to hide from people again I started to think 'I am ugly I am worthless people don't want to see me' umm I had to tell him where I was	Ziba tells a story of her abuse as part of her daily routine, justifying it as a norm between couples. The violence included physical, emotional, and financial abuse. Ziba clearly expressed that she believed she cannot

all the time ohm and and before I

Feeling of loneliness Feeling of being neglected Feeling of being rejected

Shame

Self-hatred Self-doubt

Struggle to accept 'self' and identity-unwanted gender

Lack of self esteem

Humiliation

Worthlessness

Feeling of abandonment because of gender

Feeling of being neglected

know I had to ask for permission to go out ask for money ask for everything he started to slap me on the day we got married do you believe that ((pause)) um-hm when he did it I was so in shock as if as if it was happening to someone else but but erm gradually I started to numb myself so I could not feel the pain my mum and brothers used to hurt me sometimes (.) but he used to do it every day ((pause)) everyday makes me feel small hating myself blaming myself for what he was doing ((pause)) he changed my clothes and the way I was doing things the way he wanted but he wasn't never pleased exactly like my mum mm I used to think there is something wrong with me mm I used to pay for our bills but but he made me to believe that I cannot survive without him (.) ((cough)) I believed him for twelve years that I couldn't live without him I thought I thought I couldn't manage financially (.) yes he used to hit me physically gradually I started to watch myself like it wasn't me (.) um-hm I thought I was going crazy I had no idea who I was (.) I couldn't believe it was happening again you know ((pause)) he used to say 'you are useless' and I really believed him I couldn't even go shopping myself because I really thought I cannot choose good food for the family ((pause)) I couldn't decide about what to wear because he used to

hopeless for years. Ziba talks about its impact on her: gradually eroding her confidence and sense of reality by confusing, misdirecting, deceiving, and persuading her-leading her to extreme self-doubt.

'...gradually all of these
...suggests a lot to deal with (
a lot happening that pushed
her towards felling of being
out of her body.

Descriptive comments: Ziba was blamed for the abuse

Expectation of not being supported
Sense of loneliness
Avoiding painful emotions by being emotionally numb
Revelation of attempting suicide
Partner wanted her alive to make her suffer
Not knowing any other relationship
Giving in to her partner's demand: protection mechanism

Anger

Feeling of loss and abandonment Loss of a caring relationshipunwanted gender

Struggle to accept 'self' and identity-Being touch inappropriately

Worthlessness

make fun of me in front of others criticising me all the time mm-hm I was frightened he was never sorry for what he was doing umhm it was always my fault

Int: Did you talk about this to anyone?

Ziba: I talked about it with my mother erm but she she said 'you shouldn't make him angry he is your husband' (.) ohm I should have expected that from her but after this I stopped talking about this erm with anyone I was so lonely so numb ((pause)) I mean emotionally I attempted to kill myself three times but every time he took me to hospital I guess he wanted me to be alive (.) to make me suffer (.) I thought that was a normal relationship you know and after a while I started to to do whatever he asks me to do to make sure ((pause)) he would not get angry I was living in fear all the time he told me he is going to divorce me and get the children and never let me to see them umhm that was too much I did everything he wanted me to do (.) in Iran men can do this they can get the children so even when I didn't want to sleep with him I did but but I think it is natural for men to have sexual needs and it was one of my duty to do that (.)

Int: How about if it was him who did not want a sexual relationship and you wanted to have it?

Ziba: Ohm no it never happened but but if he didn't want it I

Linguistic comments:
.'..Natural ...sexual needs'
Ziba's narrative reinforce the
duty of women to satisfy her
partner's sexual needs but

he has no duty to do the same for her because of his gender.

Conceptual comments: Ziba talks about her experiences within marriage-her experience of holding herself responsible for her partner's satisfaction, especially sexual satisfaction is real and true to her. She makes external attribution around this and blames 'her family' or 'society' which holds women responsible to hold the family together.

wouldn't (.) I couldn't expect him to go against his wishes

Int: Can you tell me why that is?

Being heard as part of the healing process

Ziba: Because he's a man and women have a duty to meet their husband's needs (.) that is what I think or or what I have learnt I don't know but but in Iran they teach girls that a good woman doesn't ask for sex first and just do it when when the husband wants it (.) and I have believed it he used to have sex with me when I didn't want but I couldn't say no because it was one of my jobs (.) but I never enjoyed it I mean how can you when they insult you ohm

Int: Can you tell me who are they who teach girls how to be a good woman?

Ziba: Ohm when they are little their parents ohm when they go to school teachers they keep telling them how to be a good women and (.) they teach girl to be nobody I remember I used to go to school and my mother told me one day 'you are going to cook and look after children why do you go to school' ((pause))

Int: Can you tell me how did you feel?

Ziba: Ohm I really believed that ohm yes I believed there is no point to study (.) my marks weren't good after this I really believed her ohm she was my mum I had no one else in this world ohm I believed her and I

Descriptive comments:

Being respected in the UK for who you are No difference between women and men Being falsely accused of having didn't study hard enough to go to Having different roles as a an affair woman; being a mum and university until I came here (.) working outside. Int: Can you tell me what made Being slapped you go to university here? Ziba: Here is different people respect you for who are not because um-hm you are a man or woman when I came here I made friends (.) and I noticed they are all mothers but study and work Financial control too you see and they were good Linguistic comments: Ziba's valuing of having a mums they could help their role outside is evident 'I am children with their homework but Loss of self someone outside'. I couldn't (.) I started to go to English classes staying at home Loss of self-confidence was not healthy for me and my Conceptual comments: children ohm I just don't believe By emphasising the negative that any more I am just good for effect of discouraging girls to cooking (.) cooking cleaning is Dissociation study in Iran, especially by part of my job at home yes but parents, Ziba's narratives part of it I am someone outside I reinforce the desirability of can do something for myself having different roles herself and her children in the that's changed inside me ohm I future. enjoy doing things at home but but I enjoy going out and work I am a mum and and [work] here Giving in to partner's sexual women work they are with demands-keeping the family together partners and enjoy everything together ohm I want that for my children enjoy life ((pause)) they can have both study and have a **Emotional numbness** family ohm I am still confused why they say these things in Iran to girls ohm ((pause)) especially parents ohm they supposed to wish the best for their children yes (.) I cannot understand how mm-hm how a parent can do it no I really don't understand it Int: Can you tell me about your general experience in Iran with

reference to domestic violence? Ziba: Um-hm I think being a girl is Descriptive comments: a crime in Iran girls have no right Being a girl is the cause of not having any rights in Iran: in Iran (.) as a girl and women I Having no valuse felt like I have no values I used to be humiliated as a child as a Lack of freedom grown woman but I couldn't even know why (.) I had no right to go out without him or talk to my friends I had to talk to him first to Attempting suicide to help 'self' get permission mm to be honest I didn't know what is happening to me is called abuse mm-hm I used Abuse as a normal life: part to think it was normal but I knew of family life I wasn't happy and always used Blamed for being abused Sadness to feel trapped and (.) when I was anger eighteen I used to be very angry and sad at the same time ((pause)) shame Domestic violence as a norm feeling unwanted because of Int: How did you feel about between couples gender vourself? Ziba: I felt ashamed I felt there is something wrong with me and Ioneliness that is why all of these is happening ((pause)) I felt unwanted I never enjoyed what I Living in fear was doing and used to go to my room spending too much time by Being laughed at myself mm-hm I couldn't trust myself to remember things I had Linguistic comments: difficulty to make simple Commenting on being the decisions mm even what clothes central of attention is to choose because I was scared I powerful language-it is was going to laughed at all the associated with something time I still hate to be the centre bad: Being humiliated Traditional gender roles: of attention because I think Self-hate as a powerful Unwanted sex as part of emotion associated with something bad is going to happen humiliation women's duty (.) somebody will say something nasty to make me feel bad about myself you know I never feel safe Feeling guilty for no specific and still is the same I can't relax. reason.